

SCIENTIFIC COOPERATION AND ASSISTANCE

## SCIENTIFIC REPORT OF EFSA

## Review of the potential health impact of β-casomorphins and related peptides <sup>1</sup>

## Report of the DATEX Working Group on β-casomorphins

(Question N° EFSA-Q-2008-379)

Issued on 29 January 2009

#### WORKING GROUP MEMBERS

Ivano De Noni, Richard J. FitzGerald, Hannu J. T. Korhonen, Yves Le Roux, Chris T. Livesey, Inga Thorsdottir, Daniel Tomé, Renger Witkamp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For citation purposes: Scientific Report of EFSA prepared by a DATEX Working Group on the potential health impact of  $\beta$ -casomorphins and related peptides. *EFSA Scientific Report* (2009) 231, 1-107

<sup>©</sup> European Food Safety Authority, 2009



#### SUMMARY

Proteins are a very diverse family of large organic compounds involved in many important biological processes. Following their enzymatic hydrolysis during food processing or digestion, proteins may release fragments from their primary amino acid sequence. These fragments are called peptides, and many of them are known to be physiologically active. The possible beneficial effects of bioactive peptides have attracted increasing interest in recent years. On the other hand, there are also reports suggesting that some food-derived peptides might adversely affect human health. Among these,  $\beta$ -casomorphin-7 (BCM7), a peptide sequence present in the milk protein  $\beta$ -casein, has been suggested to contribute to an increased risk for certain non-communicable diseases, such as autism, cardiovascular diseases and type I diabetes. Some literature reports have proposed possible mechanistic explanations for such associations

Recognising the alleged negative effect of BCM7 on human health, EFSA deemed it necessary to perform a comprehensive review of the published scientific literature in order to assess the relationship of this peptide and related peptides with non-communicable diseases.

The review covers the following aspects: possible sources of  $\beta$ -casomorphins (BCMs) and related peptides, polymorphism of  $\beta$ -casein, presence of BCMs and related peptides in food before digestion, formation of BCM7 and related peptides during human digestion and the possible molecular interactions of these peptides with the host environment. Furthermore, it covers the absorption and fate of these peptides, including their possible transfer mechanisms across the intestinal epithelium, transport in the blood stream and transfer across the blood-brain barrier. Finally, possible and suggested organ- and system-specific effects are reviewed, with specific emphasis on the gastrointestinal, central nervous and cardiovascular systems and the suggested link with type 1 diabetes mellitus.

This review recognises that proteins, including those present in the diet, are a potential source of a wide range of biologically active peptides, including some with affinity to opioid receptors. The latter are also known as opioid peptides. Opioid peptide sequences have been characterised in animal and plant proteins. To date much work has focused on characterising opioid peptides derived from milk proteins, in particular the caseins. Beta-casomorphins are a group of opioid peptides which can be released from  $\beta$ -casein. The  $\beta$ -casein derived peptide with the sequence Tyr<sup>60</sup>-Pro<sup>61</sup>-Phe<sup>62</sup>-Pro<sup>63</sup>-Gly<sup>64</sup>-Pro<sup>65</sup>-Ile<sup>66</sup> is known as  $\beta$ -casomorphin-7.

The release of BCM7 through enzymatic digestion of bovine  $\beta$ -casein is dictated by different amino acid sequences of this protein. The sequences vary genetically between cow breeds. The amino acid present in position 67 of the sequence in  $\beta$ -casein appears to be critical for the release of BCM7. In the A<sup>2</sup> variant of  $\beta$ -casein a Proline residue occurs at position 67, whereas the A<sup>1</sup> and B variants of  $\beta$ -casein have a Histidine residue at this position. In the case of the variants containing Proline the enzymatic hydrolysis of the Ile<sup>66</sup>-Pro<sup>67</sup> bond does not occur or occurs at a very low rate.

The proportion of the different protein variants expressed in the milk, including those of  $\beta$ casein, is related to their allele distributions in the various cattle breeds and populations. Changing selection targets in the last decades has resulted in changes in bovine breed composition in most European countries. While no detailed information is available, it is likely that these changes in breed composition have had an impact on milk composition, including protein variants. Taking into account the lack of detailed knowledge in milk protein variant composition and the diverse geographical origin of dairy products and ingredients across Europe, insufficient information is currently available on the exposure of individual consumers to different  $\beta$ -casein variants.

It would appear that fresh raw/unprocessed milk obtained from healthy cows does not contain BCM7 or related peptides. By contrast, there is a substantial body of evidence indicating that different proteolytic systems involved in fermented milk or cheese manufacture can potentially hydrolyze  $\beta$ -casein to BCM7 or other BCMs and further degrade these peptides to shorter-chain peptides and even amino acids. However, little or no information is currently available about the actual BCM levels which different proteolytic systems may generate in fermented or enzyme-treated milk products. Furthermore, the stability of these peptides in the food products, once generated, is variable. Technological conditions, such as heat treatments, applied in industrial dairy processing do not seem to influence the occurrence of BCMs in final products or influence their formation during subsequent digestion. Moreover, limited information is available on the occurrence of BCMs in commercial infant formulas.

The role of proteolytic systems in the release of BCMs during simulated gastrointestinal digestion (SGID) or *in vivo* digestion, has not been fully clarified. No current studies report quantitative values for the formation of BCMs during *in vivo* digestion of dairy products. However, there are indications that the sequential action of several digestive enzymes may be involved and the formation of certain BCMs after SGID (with multiple enzyme activities) has been demonstrated.

Animal data clearly indicate that BCMs, including BCM7, can act as opioid receptor agonists, probably acting via  $\mu$ -type opioid receptors. However, in most if not all animal studies to date, *in vivo* opioid effects for BCM7 and related milk-derived peptides have only been observed following intra-peritoneal (i.p.) or intra-cerebro-ventricular (i.c.v.) administration. In comparison to medicinal and endogenous opioids, bovine BCM7 does not seem to be a very potent opioid ligand.

A prerequisite for opioid activity after oral ingestion is that the peptides must pass the intestinal epithelial barrier. In addition, subsequent biotransformation in the liver and stability in plasma may be factors determining the ultimate biological activity. Finally, passage through the blood-brain-barrier is in principle needed for an activity in the central nervous system. Relatively little is known on the mechanisms of transfer of intact peptides longer than 3 amino acids across the intestinal barrier. If this transport occurs, then the extent is very low and passive diffusion is the most likely transfer mechanism. The presence of  $\beta$ -casomorphin immunoreactive material has been reported in blood in two studies with neonatal dogs and calves. However, the presence of intact  $\beta$ -casomorphin molecules in blood after intake of milk or casein has not been established in *in vivo* studies. Opioid peptides, including  $\beta$ -casomorphin 4, -5 and -7 are highly sensitive to hydrolysis by dipeptidyl peptidase IV thereby strongly limiting or preventing the transfer of these peptides in an intact form across the intestinal mucosa and the blood-brain barrier. Available data suggest that in principle,

transport of food-derived peptides and proteins across the human intestinal mucosa is possible. However, quantitative data on this phenomenon are lacking. In certain cases such as in neonates and adults with specific diseases, intestinal permeability has been reported to be significantly increased. In general, the review did not find any quantitative data on the absorption of intact bioactive peptides for adults, except in the case for di- and tripeptides with reported antihypertensive properties.

Food-derived peptides, including casomorphins, can have different effects in the intestinal lumen and the intestinal mucosa, such as regulatory effects on gastro-intestinal motility and on gastric and pancreatic secretions. Many studies report effects of  $\beta$ -casomorphins on the central nervous system (CNS) following i.p. or i.c.v. administration in animals. A possible link between BCM intake and sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) has been suggested in some publications. However, no clear evidence for such a relationship was found during the review. The mechanisms proposed were considered rather speculative and partly contradictory. Similarly, a link between casein-derived peptides and autism in subjects with increased intestinal permeability has been suggested. However, recent data do not provide any support for such a relationship.

It has been suggested that BCM7 might be atherogenic through an oxidative action on LDL. This mechanism was originally proposed in a single report; however, it has not been confirmed by later studies. By contrast, numerous in vitro studies indicate that many food derived peptides/hydrolysates display antioxidant activity. The possibility that BCM7 could contribute to an increased risk for atherosclerosis has also been suggested from a study in a rabbit model. This study concluded that  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> would be atherogenic, in contrast to  $\beta$ case  $A^2$ . However, during the review the validity of the experimental model and the extrapolation to atherosclerosis in humans were not regarded as convincing. Further speculations for an association between BCM7 intake and cardiovascular disease mortality have been raised as a result of ecological studies. However, these ecological studies did not account for several confounding factors. In addition, recent large cohort studies led to opposite conclusions. Two human intervention studies comparing diets containing  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  and  $A^2$  did not show a correlation between the estimated  $\beta$ -case  $A^1$  consumption and development of certain biomarkers for cardiovascular disease (CVD). A limitation of these studies was the small number of subjects and the short intervention period. Overall, this review process did not find any strong evidence for a link between the consumption of  $\beta$ case in A<sup>1</sup> and an increased risk for CVD in humans.

Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) is recognised as a multifactorial autoimmune disease; however, its pathogenesis is unclear. Autoantibodies have been found in IDDM patients, but the role of autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes is currently not known. These autoantibodies have not been proven to be directly involved in either tissue destruction or disease progression. The development of IDDM is the result of a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental risk factors where genetic predisposition is a necessary condition.

Many dietary risk factors of IDDM have been indicated, including short duration of breast feeding, as well as administration of gluten, soy, cow's milk and solid foods at young age.



Several different milk proteins or peptides derived from these proteins have been proposed as possible diabetogenic factors. The mechanism most often suggested is immunological. The diabetogenicity of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and B has been evaluated in animal studies and ecological studies on humans. Animal studies have presented contradictory results.

Some ecological studies have linked the intake of BCM7 with IDDM. Ecological studies have the shortcoming of being unable to establish a cause-effect association and they cannot adjust for possible confounding factors. They are at best indicating a hypothesis but cannot provide a proper base to demonstrate a cause-effect relationship.

The correlations suggested by such studies may become very weak when taking into account the uncertainties in individual consumption, in the  $\beta$ -casein variant composition, and in some countries also the IDDM incidence rate.

Moreover, the difference in content of  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1+B$  in milk produced in countries with high or low prevalence of IDDM appears relatively small and does not explain, from an immunological point of view, the difference in incidence of IDDM across countries.

Based on the present review of available scientific literature, a cause-effect relationship between the oral intake of BCM7 or related peptides and aetiology or course of any suggested non-communicable diseases cannot be established. Consequently, a formal EFSA risk assessment of food-derived peptides is not recommended.

Key Words: food-derived peptides, opioid peptides,  $\beta$ -casein,  $\beta$ -casomorphin,  $\beta$ -casomorphin-7, IDDM, CVD, SIDS, autism

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	2
Table of Contents	6
Background	8
Terms of Reference	8
Acknowledgements	9
Assessment	10
1 Introduction	10
2 Bioactive peptides and source proteins	11
2.1 Protein precursors for bioactive peptides	11
2.2 Food protein sources of opioid peptides	12
2.2.1 Bioinformatic screening	16
2.3 Significance of genetic polymorphism to the release of opioid peptides from $\beta$ -	casein
2.4 Variation in $\beta$ -case in variant frequency distribution as a function of time	18
2.5 Polymorphism in human milk	23
3 Opioid peptides in food and their formation during digestion	23
3.1 Peptides presence in food	24
3.1.1 Human milk	24
3.1.2 Bovine milk	25
3.1.2.1 Fermented milk	25
3.1.2.2 Cheese	27
3.1.2.3 Infant formulas	29
3.1.3 Effect of milk processing on the release opioid peptides	29
3.2 Peptide formation during <i>in vitro</i> simulated gastro-intestinal digestion (SGID)	30
3.2.1 Milk derived opioids released in SGID	30
3.2.2 Non-milk derived opioids released in SGID	32
4 Possible Molecular interactions, general biological effects and fate of food-de	erived
peptides	33
4.1 Overview	33
4.2 Interactions of food-derived peptides with opioid receptors	34
4.2.1 The opioid system	34
4.2.2 Endogenous opioids	35
4.2.3 Exogenous opioids	35
4.3 Non opioid receptor-mediated action of milk-derived peptides	37
4.3.1 Milk protein-derived immunomodulatory peptides	37
4.3.2 Other activities of food-derived opioid peptides	37
4.4 Absorption and fate of peptides	38
4.4.1 Factors affecting absorption of opioid peptides from the GI tract	38
4.4.2 Transfer mechanisms across the intestinal epithelium	38
4.4.3 Absorption of opioid peptides	39
4.4.4 Transport in the blood stream	41
4.4.5 Transfer across the blood-brain barrier (BBB)	41



4.5 Organ and system-specific action of food-derived peptides	
4.5.1 Effects of food-derived peptides on gastrointestinal function	42
4.5.2 Effects of food-derived peptides on the central nervous system	43
4.5.2.1 Opioid receptors in the CNS	
4.5.2.2 Actions of food - derived peptides on CNS functions: data from	animal
studies	
4.5.2.3 Possible links of $\beta$ -casomorphins with CNS-associated disorders or c	liseases
in humans	
4.5.2.4 Ventilation disorders, sudden infant death, sleep (and sleep apnea)	45
4.5.2.5 Autism	
4.5.3 Effect of milk- derived peptides on cardiovascular health	
4.5.3.1 Oxidation of LDL	47
4.5.3.2 Effects of BCM7 in a rabbit model for atherosclerosis	
4.5.3.3 Human studies	49
4.5.4 Food-derived peptides and type 1 diabetes mellitus	51
4.5.4.1 Pathogenesis and incidence of type 1 diabetes	51
4.5.4.2 Genetic and environmental factors and involvement of milk in	type 1
diabetes	52
4.5.4.3 Specific immune response to cows' milk protein in type 1 diabetes	55
4.5.4.4 β-casein variants, BCM7 and type 1 diabetes	57
Conclusions	59
Conclusions on bioactive peptides and source proteins	59
Conclusions on opioid peptides in food and their formation during digestion	60
Conclusions on molecular interactions, general biological effects and fate o	f food-
derived peptides	60
Conclusions on organ and system specific actions	61
Recommendations	62
References	62
Appendix Disease related Studies	102
Glossary/ Abbreviations	107



#### BACKGROUND

Proteins are a broad family of large organic compounds playing a central role in the structure and functionality of all living organisms. Besides their structural and functional roles proteins are also a fundamental component of animal and human diets providing a source of energy, nitrogen and essential amino acids. In addition, dietary proteins may also provide a source of biologically active peptides. Such peptides are inactive within the sequence of the precursor protein but may be released from their respective animal, plant or microbial proteins by hydrolysis during food processing or digestion. Food-derived bioactive peptides may influence regulatory functions in the human system beyond normal nutrition. A range of food protein derived peptides have been found to be potentially physiologically active, i.e., bioactive. These bioactivities include modulation of gut secretion and motility, blood pressure-lowering, antithrombotic, antioxidant, antimicrobial and immunomodulatory activities. Some of these effects are mediated by interaction with the opioid system (Mine and Shahidi, 2006).

On the one hand the discovery of bioactive peptides with potential health benefits has been the subject of growing commercial interest in the context of health-promoting functional foods. To date milk proteins have been most extensively studied as a source of these peptides. The opioid receptor system is of particular interest since it has been proposed as one of several possible links between physiological effects and the intake of food protein derived peptides. Food derived peptides which bind to opioid receptors are known as exogenous opioid peptides. Some evidence exists, for example, to indicate that these peptides may beneficially modulate several gastrointestinal functions (Teschemacher, 2003). Milk proteins, including both caseins and whey proteins are a source of many peptides with opioid activities, including casomorphins and lactorphins. The *in vivo* physiological effects of many of these peptides, however, remain to be fully elucidated.

On the other hand, there are reports of potential adverse health effects of food-derived opioid peptides. Some ecological studies have suggested that the milk derived peptide BCM7 (BCM7) or related compounds may be involved in the development of a diverse range of serious human diseases, such as juvenile diabetes type I, ischemic heart disease, autism and schizophrenia (Elliott *et al.*, 1999; McLachlan, 2001). A number of different biological mechanisms have been suggested for the adverse effects of BCM7 and related compounds, based on their opioid, lipid oxidation (Torreilles *et al.*, 1995), histamine release (Kurek *et al.*, 1992) and immunological activities (Padberg, 1999; Pozzilli, 1999). The possible release of BCM7 during protein digestion is generally reported to be dependent on the presence of specific genetic variants of  $\beta$ -casein, specifically variants A<sup>1</sup> and B of bovine  $\beta$ -casein (Hartwig, 1997; Jimsmaa *et al.*, 1999).

#### **TERMS OF REFERENCE**

To collect and review the available scientific evidence related to BCM7 and analogous peptides with similar characteristics, with the purpose to assess the existence and robustness of an association between such bioactive peptides originating from food and non-communicable diseases. The detailed objectives include:



- Possible occurrence of BCM7 or related peptides as a function of genetic variability of the food source;
- Factors leading to their formation, absorption in the intestinal tract and metabolic pathways;
- Identification of possible specific vulnerability of particular sub-populations;
- Mechanisms of action of these peptides in the body, including immunological effects;
- A critical assessment of epidemiological evidence of adverse health effects in humans;
- A critical evaluation of experimental evidence in animals fed with diets leading to high levels of BCM7 or analogous peptides.

Following this review and depending on its outcome EFSA will decide whether there are sufficient indications to justify a full risk assessment of the consumption of food that can potentially produce such bioactive peptides during digestion. Should the review identify a lack of information on which to base a reasonable decision the need for any further research will be highlighted.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This Scientific Report was prepared by DATEX with the cooperation of AMU. The European Food Safety Authority wishes to thank the members of the DATEX Working Group on  $\beta$ -casomorphins for the preparation of this Review:

Ivano De Noni, Richard J. FitzGerald, Hannu J. T. Korhonen, Yves Le Roux, Chris T. Livesey, Inga Thorsdottir, Daniel Tomé, Renger Witkamp.



#### ASSESSMENT

Different approaches are possible to assess the robustness of an alleged association between consumption of a substance and non-communicable diseases. Nevertheless, some common criteria may be identified to test a cause-effect hypothesis (WHO, 2008; US-FJC, 2000). These include

- *temporal relationship;*
- *strength of the association;*
- *dose–response relationship;*
- substantial convergence of the studies (replication of the findings);
- biological plausibility (including mechanisms of transport and mechanisms of action);
- consideration of alternative explanations;
- effects on cessation of exposure;
- specificity of response
- *consistency with other knowledge.*

The present review takes into account these suggestions, focusing on different relevant aspects:

- Possible sources of β-casomorphins and related peptides
- Polymorphism of β-casein
- Presence of β-casomorphins and related peptides in food before digestion
- Formation of β-casomorphins and related peptides during human digestion
- Possible molecular interactions of these peptides
- Absorption and fate of these peptides, including transfer mechanisms across the intestinal epithelium, transport in the blood stream and transfer across the blood-brain barrier
- Organ and system-specific suggested action of food-derived peptides, focusing on the gastrointestinal system, the central nervous system, the cardiovascular system and type 1 diabetes mellitus

#### **1** INTRODUCTION

Proteins are a very broad family of large organic compounds playing a central functional and structural role in living organisms. Chemically proteins are linear polymers built from different L- $\alpha$ -amino acids. All 20 amino acids possess common structural features, including a  $\alpha$  carbon to which an amino group, a carboxyl group, and a variable side chain are bonded. Only proline differs from this basic structure as it contains an unusual ring to the N-end amine group, which forces the CO–NH amide moiety into a fixed conformation. The side chains of the standard amino acids have different chemical properties that produce a three-dimensional protein structure and different activities. The amino acid sequence is therefore of critical importance for the protein functionality/biofunctionality.



The amino acids in a polypeptide chain are linked by peptide bonds. Once linked in the protein chain, an individual amino acid is called a residue, and the linked series of carbon, nitrogen, and oxygen atoms are known as the main chain or protein backbone. The peptide bond has two resonance forms that contribute some double-bond character and inhibit rotation around its axis, so that the  $\alpha$ -carbons are roughly coplanar. The other two dihedral angles in the peptide bond determine the local shape assumed by the protein backbone.

Due to the chemical structure of the individual amino acids, the protein chain has directionality. The end of the protein with a free carboxyl group is known as the C-terminus or carboxy terminus, whereas the end with a free amino group is known as the N-terminus or amino terminus. Amino acids in a polypeptide chain are numbered starting from the N-terminus.

The sequence of amino acids in a protein is crucial to the role it plays in a living organism, and each protein is defined by a gene and encoded in the genetic code.

Different terms are used to define linear sequences of amino acids, such as protein, polypeptide, and peptide. The meaning of these terms can sometimes overlap, however, protein is generally used to refer to the complete biological molecule in a stable conformation, whereas peptide is generally reserved for short amino acid oligomers. The boundary between the two terms is not well defined and is usually considered at about 20–30 residues. Polypeptide is a general term for any single linear chain of amino acids, usually regardless of length.

Besides their roles in the structure and functionality of the organism, proteins are also a fundamental component of animal and human diet providing a source of energy, nitrogen and essential amino acids. To this purpose dietary proteins need to undergo a breakdown process known as digestion, which is carried out by many different hydrolytic enzymes that progressively lead to the formation of peptides and free amino acids. Enzymes are site-specific in their cleavage action on the polypeptide chain, some being more selective than others. Depending on the enzymes involved, digestion of a single dietary protein may involve formation of different patterns of intermediate peptides.

#### 2 BIOACTIVE PEPTIDES AND SOURCE PROTEINS

## 2.1 Protein precursors for bioactive peptides

Globally, public health professionals in particular, but also consumers, food producers and food processors, are becoming increasingly aware of the rapidly expanding body of epidemiological evidence linking the prevalence of diseases, such as cardiovascular disease, obesity, hypertension, diabetes and even cancer to dietary factors. This has led to an increased interest in the potential health effects of food derived bioactive components. Food proteins contain various peptide sequences encrypted within their primary structures which possess potential biological activity. These proteins originate from a range of different sources including animals, fish, plants and bacteria (Mine and Shahidi, 2006). These bioactive peptides may be released from their parent protein molecule either during food processing and/or during gastrointestinal digestion.



Depending on their site of action, these peptide sequences may or may not be required to be transported across the intestinal mucosa in order to mediate a physiological response. Such bioactive peptides range in size from 2 to 50 amino acid residues and may have numerous physiological functions within the body. Peptides, for example, having hypotensive, immunomodulatory, antibacterial, mineral binding, antithrombotic along with opioid agonist and antagonist activities have been reported. The literature on milk protein derived bioactive peptides has been extensively reviewed (Clare and Swaisgood, 2000; FitzGerald and Meisel, 2003; Korhonen and Pihlanto, 2003; Pihlanto and Korhonen, 2003; Meisel, 2004; Walsh and FitzGerald, 2004; Korhonen and Pihlanto, 2006; Gobbetti *et al.*, 2007; Hartmann and Meisel, 2007; Korhonen and Pihlanto, 2007; Murray and FitzGerald, 2007; Morris and FitzGerald, 2008). The literature indicates that these peptides potentially impact the cardiovascular, nervous, digestive and immune systems (Figure 1).



**Figure 1:** Potential physiological functionality of food-derived bioactive peptides (adapted from Korhonen and Pihlanto, 2007)

In order to become active in the body it is considered very critical that a bioactive peptide first reaches its molecular target. This subject will be further discussed in chapter 4.4.

## 2.2 Food protein sources of opioid peptides

Many different food protein molecules contain peptide sequences which behave as opioid receptor ligands (Henschen *et al.*, 1979, Zioudrou *et al.*, 1979, Brantl *et al.*, 1986a, Paroli 1988, Teschemacher 2003, Kostyra *et al.*, 2004, Guesdon *et al.*, 2006). It has been reported that opioid peptides can be formed from milk, cereal, vegetable and meat/poultry proteins (Table 1). Furthermore, various blood proteins, including albumin and  $\gamma$ -globulins (Zioudrou *et al.*, 1979) and haemoglobin (Brantl *et al.*, 1986b) may act as a source of opioid peptides. In addition, the egg protein, ovalbumin also appears to contain opioid peptide sequences (Zioudrou *et al.*, 1979).



Food Group	Foodstuff	Protein precursor	Reference
Dairy	Milk and milk products	α-Casein	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
		β-Casein	(Brantl <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
		к-Casein	(Chiba <i>et al</i> ., 1989)
		α-Lactalbumin	(Yoshikawa <i>et al</i> ., 1986)
		β –Lactoglobulin	(Yoshikawa <i>et al</i> ., 1986)
		Lactoferrin	(Tani <i>et al</i> ., 1990)
Cereals	Wheat	Gluten	(Fukudome and Yoshikawa, 1992)
		Gliadin	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
	Barley	Hordein	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
		Avenin	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
		Secalin	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
		Zein	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
	Rice	Albumin	(Takahashi <i>et al</i> ., 1994)
Vegetable	Soy	α-Protein	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
	Spinach	Rubisco	(Yang et al., 2003)
Meat/poultry	Blood	Albumin	(Zioudrou <i>et al.</i> , 1979)
		Haemoglobin	(Brantl <i>et al.,</i> 1986b )
		γ-Globulin	(Zioudrou <i>et al</i> ., 1979)
	Egg	Ovalbumin	(Zioudrou <i>et al.</i> , 1979)

 Table 1: Food protein sources of opioid receptor ligands/peptides (adapted from Teschemacher, 2003)

Food protein derived opioid peptides are classified as exogenous opioids in that while they possess a Tyr residue within their sequence, usually at the N-terminus or in the N-terminal region, they differ from the endogenous opioid peptides which often have Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe as the N-terminal sequence (Teschemacher, 2003). In most cases these exogenous peptides have been isolated and subsequently identified from enzymatic digests of their parent protein molecules. However, in some cases, synthetic peptides corresponding to specific regions within intact food protein molecules have been shown to act as opioid receptor ligands.

Milk proteins are the most studied with respect to the presence of opioid peptide sequences and have been extensively reviewed in the literature (Meisel, 1997; Teschemacher *et al.*, 1997; Meisel and FitzGerald, 2000; Pihlanto-Leppälä, 2000; Guesdon *et al.*, 2006). Most studies have been performed with bovine milk proteins, but there are a limited number of studies on opioid peptides from water buffalo (Petrilli *et al.*, 1984) and from human milk (Brantl, 1984; Koch *et al.*, 1985; Ferranti *et al.*, 2004).

As can be seen from Table 1, all the major milk proteins contain opioid receptor ligands. These have been specifically termed exorphins and casoxin D when derived from  $\alpha$ -casein,  $\beta$ -casomorphins and  $\beta$ -casorphins when derived from  $\beta$ -casein, casoxins (A, B, C) when derived from  $\kappa$ -casein,  $\alpha$ -lactorphins when derived from  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin,  $\beta$ -lactorphins when derived from  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin and lactoferroxins when derived from lactoferrin. The majority of the

milk peptides identified to date behave as opioid agonists while the casoxins and lactoferroxins behave as opioid antagonists.

Table 2 provides specific details of opioid peptide sequences from different food protein sources.



**Table 2:** Parent protein precursors and associated opioid peptide sequences from different food protein sources.

Origin	Structure
Bovine Milk	
α-lactorphin, α -la f(50-53)	Tyr-Gly-Leu-Phe (YGLF)
β-lactorphin, β-lg f(102-105)	Tyr-Leu-Leu-Phe (YLLF)
$\alpha_{S1}$ -casein-exorphin, $\alpha$ s1-cn f(90-96)	Arg-Tyr-Leu-Gly-Tyr-Leu-Glu (RYLGYLE)
β-casomorphin 4, β-cn f(60-63)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Pro (YPFP)
β-casomorphin 5, β-cn f(60-64)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Pro-Gly (YPFPG)
β-casomorphin 7, β-cn f(60-66)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Pro-Gly-Pro-Ile (YPFPGPI)
β-casomorphin 8, β-cn f(60-67)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Pro-Gly-Pro-Ile-Pro/His (YPFPGPIP/H)
Casoxin A, κ-cn f(35-42)	Tyr-Pro-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Leu-Asn-Tyr (YPSYGLNY)
Casoxin B, κ-cn f(58-61)	Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Tyr (YPYY)
Casoxin C, κ-cn f(25-34)	Tyr-Ile-Pro-Ile-GIn-Tyr-Val-Leu-Ser-Arg (YIPIQYVLSR)
serorphin, BSA f(399-404)	Tyr-Gly-Phe-Asn-Ala (YGFNA)
Bovine Blood	
hemorphin-4, $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(34-37)	Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr (YPWT)
hemorphin-5, $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(34-38)	Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr-Gln (YPWTQ)
hemorphin-7, $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(34-40)	Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr-GIn-Arg-Phe (YPWTQRF)
LVV-hemorphin-7, $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(31-40)	Leu-Val-Val-Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr-Gln-Arg-Phe (LVVYPWTQRF)
V-hemorphin-5 hemorphin-7, β-chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(34-40)	Val-Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr-Gln (VYPWTQ)
VV-hemorphin-7, $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin, f(32-40)	Val-Val-Tyr-Pro-Trp-Thr-Gln-Arg-Phe (VVYPWTQRF)
Human milk	
Casoxin D, α <sub>S1</sub> -cn f(158-164)	Tyr-Val-Pro-Phe-Pro-Phe (YVPFPPF)
β-casomorphin (1–4), β-cn f(51-54)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val (YPFV)
β-casomorphin (1–5), β-cn f(51-55)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val-Glu (YPFVE)
$\beta$ -casomorphin (1–7), $\beta$ -cn f(51-57)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val-Glu-Pro-Ile (YPFVEPI)
β-casomorphin (1–8), β-cn f(51-58)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val-Glu-Pro-Ile-Pro (YPFVEPIP)
β-casorphin (1–4), β-cn f(41-44)	Tyr-Pro-Ser-Phe (YPSF)
Goat milk	
α <sub>S1</sub> -cn f(90-95) variant B	Arg-Tyr-Leu-Gly- Tyr-Leu (RYLGYL)
α <sub>s1</sub> -cn f(90-96) variant B	Arg-Tyr-Leu-Gly- Tyr-Leu-Glu (RYLGYLE)
α <sub>s1</sub> -cn f(91-96) variant B	Arg-Tyr-Leu-Gly- Tyr-Leu-Glu (YLGYLE)
κ-cn f(25-34)	Tyr-Ile-Pro-Ile-GIn-Tyr-Val-Leu-Ser-Arg (YIPIQYVLSR)
κ-cn f(33-38)	Ser-Arg-Tyr-Pro-Ser-Tyr (SRYPSY)
κ-cn f(35-38)	Tyr-Pro-Ser-Tyr (YPSY)
κ-cn f(35-41)	Tyr-Pro-Ser-Tyr-Gly-Leu-Asn (YPSYGLN)
κ-cn f(56-61)	Leu-Pro-Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Tyr (LPYPYY)
κ-cn f(58-61)	Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Tyr (YPYY)
κ-cn f(56-61) variant J	Leu-Pro-Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Cys (LPYPYC)
κ-cn f(58-61) variant J	Tyr-Pro-Tyr-Cys (YPYC)
Sheep milk	



Origin	Structure
β-casomorphin 8, β-cn f(60-67)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Thr-Gly-Pro-Ile-Pro (YPFTGPIP)
Buffalo milk	
β-casomorphin 7, β-cn f(60-66)	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Pro-Gly-Pro-Ile (YPFPGPI)
Cereal	
Gluten exorphin A4	Gly-Tyr-Tyr-Pro (GYYP)
Gluten exorphin B4	Tyr-Gly-Gly-Trp (YGGW)
Gluten exorphin A5	Gly-Tyr-Tyr-Pro-Thr (GYYPT)
Gluten exorphin B5	Tyr-Gly-Gly-Trp-Leu (YGGWL)
Gliadorphin 7 (also known as gluteomorphin)	Tyr-Pro-GIn-Pro-GIn-Pro-Phe (YPQPQPF)
Gluten exorphin C5	Tyr-Pro-Ile-Ser-Leu (YPISL)
Vegetable	
Rubiscolin-5	Tyr-Pro-Leu-Asp-Leu (YPLDL)
Rubiscolin-6	Tyr-Pro-Leu-Asp -Leu-Phe (YPLDLF)
Soymorphin 5	Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val-Val (YPFVV)

Adapted from Meisel and FitzGerald, 2000; Yang et al., 2001; Teschemacher, 2003; Chessa et al. 2008.

#### 2.2.1 Bioinformatic screening

Using a bioinformatics approach it is possible to identify other potential biological precursors for opioid peptides. For this review the NCBI RefSeq (<u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u> accessed October 2008) and the Swiss-Prot (<u>http://www.ebi.ac.uk/swissprot/</u> accessed October 2008) databases were searched for protein precursors which contain the following exogenous opioid peptides sequences:

- YPFPG: β-casomorphin 5
- YPFP:  $\beta$ -casomorphin 4
- YPFVV: Soymorphin 5
- YGGWL: Gluten exorphin B5
- YPLDLF: Rubiscolin 6

The results of this bioinformatic search are presented in Table 3. This table does not include the well known food proteins summarized in Table 2.

**Table 3:** Summary of bioinformatic search for less common parent protein precursors containing selected opioid peptide sequences.

Organism	nism Function or Name Sequence		Reference			
YPFPG (β-casomorphin 5)						
Synechococcus	Enzyme	(173)-YPFPG-(177)	Swissprot, Q2JK10, Q2JY06			
Mus musculus Homo sapiens (Human)		(452)-YPFPG-(455)	Swissprot Q8K243, Q6AZZ1			
E. coli	Oxido-reductase	(398)-YPFPG-(402)	Swissprot			



P37906						
Canis familiaris (Dog).	Glycogen-	(50)-YPFPG-(54)	Swissprot			
Homo sapiens (Human).	debranching enzyme		P35573, Q2PQH8			
Oryctolagus cuniculus (Rabbit).	Glycosyltransferase	(73)-YPFPG-(77)	Swissprot P35574			
Homo sapiens (Human).	Protein Kinase	(100)-YPFPG-(104)	Swissprot P49842			
	YPFP (β-c	asomorphin 4)	•			
Saccharomyces cerevisiae	Putative uncharacterized protein	(76)-YPFP-(79)	Swissprot P87283			
	oligosaccharyl transferase	(338)-YPFP-(341)	P48439			
Homo sapiens (Human).	Transmembrane protein	(143)-YPFP-(146)	Swissprot Q5BJD5			
Gallus gallus (Chicken)	Transmembrane protein	(121)-YPFP-(124)	Swissprot Q5ZIL6			
Homo sapiens (Human) Mus musculus	Tenascin	(1978)-YPFP-(1981) (1887)- YPFP- (1890)	Swissprot P24821, Q80YX1			
Drosophila melanogaster	Protein split ends	(1708)-YPFP-(1711)	Swissprot Q8SX83			
Salmo salar (Atlantic salmon)	Probable signal peptidase complex subunit 2	(80)-YPFP-(83)	NCBI ACI69108			
Homo sapiens (Human).	rna exonuclease	(944)-YPFP-(947)	Swissprot Q8N1G1			
Bos taurus (Bovine).	Lipid transport	(105)-YPFP-(108)	Swissprot P02720			
	YPFVV (	Soymorphin)				
Homo sapiens (Human). Mus musculus	Mismatch repair endonuclease	(318)-YPFVV-(322)	Swissprot P54278, P54279			
Gibberella zeae	FACT complex subunit POB3	(305)-YPFVV-(309)	Swissprot Q4IJU0			
Arabidopsis thaliana	Serine/threonine- protein kinase	(1872)-YPFVV- (1876)	Swissprot Q9FKS4			
Gallus gallus (Chicken)	Aprataxin	(59)-YPFVV-(63)	Swissprot P61798			
YGGWL (Gluten exorphin B5)						
Homo sapiens (Human). Mus musculus Rattus norvegicus	Myosin phosphatase Rho-interacting protein	(46)-YGGWL-(50)	Swissprot Q6WCQ1, P97434, Q9ERE6			
Arabidopsis thaliana	Sugar transport protein	(461)-YGGWL-(465)	Swissprot Q8L7R8			
YPLDLF (Rubiscolin 6)						



Vitis vinifera	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase large chain	(103)-YPLDLF-(108)	Swissprot P56648
Synechococcus sp. Spinacia Oleracea	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase large chain	(95)-YPLDLF-(100) (103)-YPLDLF-(108)	Swissprot Q0I8Q2, P00875
Solanum tuberosum	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase large chain	(103)-YPLDLF-(108)	Swissprot P25079

As can be seen from Table 3, sequences corresponding to opioid peptides were found in diverse proteomes from animals, humans, microbes and plants. The significance of the presence of opioid peptides in these proteomes is unclear. However, given the right hydrolytic conditions the human proteome itself could act as a source of peptides which interact with the opioid system. For opioid sequences detected in proteomes other than the human proteome, it is necessary to take into account the presence of these proteins in food derived from these organisms (e.g. salmon, chicken, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) and the proteolytic system involved in their breakdown.

# 2.3 Significance of genetic polymorphism to the release of opioid peptides from $\beta\text{-}casein$

The primary sequence of all food proteins is subject to genetic variation. This is true also in the case of bovine milk proteins. Furthermore, genetic polymorphism may dictate the type of bioactive peptides released from milk proteins. For example, in  $\beta$ -casein an amino acid substitution occurs at position 67 in different variants

...-Tyr<sup>60</sup>-Pro<sup>61</sup>-Phe<sup>62</sup>-Pro<sup>63</sup>-Gly<sup>64</sup>-Pro<sup>65</sup>-Ile<sup>66</sup>-(His<sup>67</sup>)-...  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and B variants

 $\dots$ -Tyr<sup>60</sup>-Pro<sup>61</sup>-Phe<sup>62</sup>-Pro<sup>63</sup>-Gly<sup>64</sup>-Pro<sup>65</sup>-Ile<sup>66</sup>-(Pro<sup>67</sup>)- $\dots$   $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup> variant

In  $\beta$ -case in A<sup>1</sup> and B variants histidine occurs in position 67, whereas in  $\beta$ -case in A<sup>2</sup> proline is present in the same position.

This genetic substitution of histidine with proline has been reported to prevent the enzymatic hydrolysis of the peptide bond between residues 66 and 67 in  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup> thereby preventing the release of BCM7 ( $\beta$ -casein f(60-66)) from  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup>. (Hartwig, 1997; Jinsmaa *et al.*, 1999)

Since genetic polymorphism is breed related, much interest has focused on characterising  $\beta$ -casein variability in bovine populations, particularly when looking at possible health effects of BCMs.

The first evidence of genetic polymorphism in  $\beta$ -casein came from Aschaffenburg (1961) while studying milk from Jersey and Guernsey cows. Using paper electrophoresis in the presence of 6.0 M urea in citrate-phosphate buffer pH 7.5, he reported that  $\beta$ -casein existed as three polymorphs, designated in order of decreasing mobility as  $\beta$ -casein A, B and C.



Subsequently, Peterson and Kopfler (1966), using acid urea polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis discovered that  $\beta$ -casein A could be separated into three additional variants, now known as  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and A<sup>3</sup>. These variants differ from each other by the number of positively charged His residues in the primary sequence, i.e., 6, 5 and 4, respectively. More recently, the application of chromatographic separation, isoelectric focusing and DNA-based techniques has led to the discovery of a range of other  $\beta$ -casein polymorphs. The specific amino acid substitutions which distinguish some of the different  $\beta$ -casein variants are summarised in Table 4.

Variant	Amino acid position, amino acid substitution
$A^1 \rightarrow A^2$	$^{67}$ His $\rightarrow$ Pro
$A^2 \rightarrow A^3$	$^{106}$ His $\rightarrow$ GIn
$A^1 \rightarrow B$	$^{122}$ Ser $\rightarrow$ Arg
$A^1 \rightarrow C$	$^{37}$ Glu $\rightarrow$ Lys $^{35}$ SerP $\rightarrow$ Ser
$A^2 \rightarrow D$	<sup>18</sup> SerP $\rightarrow$ Lys
$A^2 \rightarrow E$	$^{36}$ Glu $\rightarrow$ Lys

**Table 4:** Amino acid substitutions in some genetic polymorphs of bovine  $\beta$ -casein (adapted from Ng-Kwai-Hang and Grosclaude, 2003).

Numerous studies have been performed on the allele frequency distributions of the three main species of the genus *Bos*, i.e. *Bos taurus* (taurines), *Bos indicus* (zebu) and *Bos grunniens* (yak). However, to date most studies have been performed on taurines as they are the main milk producing cattle breed in the Western world. A non-exhaustive summary of the reported breed and country related frequency distributions for taurine  $\beta$ -caseins is outlined in Table 5.



Breed	No. Animals	β-Casein Allele Frequency		ency	Reference		
		<b>A</b> <sup>1</sup>	A <sup>2</sup>	В	Other		
Angus	77 (USA)	0.95		0.05		Caldwell et al., 1971	
Ayrshire	45 (USA)	0.72	0.28			Kiddy <i>et al.</i> , 1966	
Ayrshire	29 (UK)	0.60	0.40			Aschaffenburg, 1968	
Ayrshire	? (Canada)	0.60	0.40			Ng-Kwai-Hang and Kim, 1994	
Ayrshire	37 (N. Zealand)	0.432	0.527			Winkelman and Wickham, 1997	
Ayrshire	20,990(Finland)	0.509	0.490	0.001		Ikonen <i>et al.</i> , 1996	
Ayrshire	46 (Finland)	0.50	0.50			Lien <i>et al.</i> , 1999	
Black Pied	140 (Estonia)	0.97*		0.03		Pupkova, 1980	
Braham	59 (USA)	0.99*		0.01		Caldwell et al., 1971	
Brown Italian	298 (Italy)	0.11	0.69	0.18	0.02	Boettcher et al., 2004	
Brown Swiss	? (Canada)	0.32	0.52	0.16		Ng-Kwai-Hang and Kim, 1994	
Brown Swiss	22 (USA)	0.14	0.66	0.18	C: 0.02	Kiddy <i>et al.</i> , 1966	
Brown Swiss	50 (USA)	0.18	0.66	0.16		Van Eenennaam and Medrano, 1991	
Canadienne	? (Canada)	0.58	0.34	0.08		Ng-Kwai-Hang and Kim, 1994	
Dutch-Fr	10151 (Holland)	0.766	0.147	0.014	B:0.073	Bovenhuis and van Arendonk, 1991	
Finncattle (EFC)	31 (Finland)	0.274	0.710	0.016		Lien <i>et al.</i> 1999	
Finncattle (NFC)	26 (Finland)	0.385	0.615			Lien <i>et al.</i> 1999	
Finncattle (WFC)	41 (Finland)	0.293	0.671	0.037		Lien <i>et al.</i> 1999	
Friesian(Fr)	3761 (N. Zealand)	0.465	0.510			Winkelman and Wickham, 1997	
Friesian(Fr)	347 (Italy)	0.38	0.55	0.07		Boettcher et al., 2004	
Grey	120 (Hungary)	0.23	0.76	0.01		Baranyi <i>et al.</i> , 1993	
Guernsey	196 (USA)	0.01	0.98	0.02		Aschaffenburg, 1963	
Guernsey	40 (USA)		0.96		C:0.04	Van Eenennaam and Medrano, 1991	
Hereford	48 (USA)	0.75*		0.25		Caldwell et al., 1971	
Holstein	260 (Australia)	0.63	0.35	0.02		McLean <i>et al.</i> , 1984	
Holstein	1383 (Italy)	0.58	0.40	0.02		Aleandri <i>et al.</i> , 1997	
Holstein	1152 (USA)	0.43	0.55	0.02		Van Eenennaam and Medrano, 1991	
Holstein-Fr	85 (UK)	0.66	0.24	0.06	A <sup>3</sup> :0.04	Aschaffenburg et al., 1968	
Holstein-Fr	87 (Germany)		0.960	0.040		Aschaffenburg et al., 1968	
Holstein-Fr	6460 (Canada)	0.54	0.44	0.01	A <sup>3</sup> :0.01	Hines <i>et al.</i> , 1977	
Holstein-Fr	6575 (USA)	0.42	0.53	0.02	A <sup>3</sup> :0.03	Hines <i>et al.</i> , 1977	
Holstein-Fr	260 (USA)	0.624	0.347	0.025	A <sup>3</sup> :0.004	McLean <i>et al.</i> , 1984	

### **Table 5:** Summary of $\beta$ -case in allele frequency distribution in selected Western cattle breeds.



Breed	No. Animals	β-Casein Allele Frequency		ency	Reference	
		<b>A</b> <sup>1</sup>	A <sup>2</sup>	В	Other	
Holstein-Fr	920 (Canada)	0.363	0.632	0.001	A <sup>3</sup> :0.004	Lin <i>et al.</i> , 1986
Holstein-Fr	696 (Ireland)	0.72	0.25	0.03		O' Hara, 1995
Holstein-Fr	43 (Finland)	0.430	0.523	0.047		Lien <i>et al.</i> 1999
Holstein-Fr	143 (Poland)	0.402	0.598			Kaminski <i>et al.</i> , 2007
Icelandic	44 (Iceland)	0.326	0.674			Lien <i>et al.</i> , 1999
Jersey	37 (USA)	0.22	0.49	0.29		Kiddy <i>et al.</i> , 1966
Jersey	47 (UK)	0.09	0.63	0.28		Aschaffenburg, 1968
Jersey	308 (Australia)	0.07	0.57	0.36		McLean <i>et al.</i> , 1984
Jersey	157 (Denmark)	0.07	0.58	0.35		Bech and Kristiansen, 1990
Jersey	172(USA)	0.17	0.50	0.33		Van Eenennaam and Medrano, 1991
Jersey	? (Canada)	0.19	0.50	0.31		Ng-Kwai-Hang and Kim, 1994
Jersey	116 (Ireland)	0.30	0.41	0.28	A <sup>3</sup> : 0.01	O' Hara, 1995
Jersey	1328 (N. Zealand)	0.123	0.591			Winkelman and Wickham, 1997
Kerry	123 (Ireland)	1.00*				Murphy and Downey, 1969
Kerry	41 (Ireland)	0.24	0.76			O' Hara, 1995
Normande	155 (France)	0.21	0.32	0.45	A <sup>3</sup> : 0.02	Aschaffenburg, 1968
Norwegian	38(Norway)	0.513	0.487			Lien <i>et al.</i> , 1999
Red Danish	169 (Denmark)	0.71	0.23	0.06		Bech and Kristiansen, 1990
Shorthorn	40(USA)	0.49	0.49	0.02		Van Eenennaam and Medrano, 1991
Simmental	2626 (Denmark)	0.231	0.673	0.082	C : 0.013	Baranyi <i>et al.</i> , 1993
Simmental	621(Croatia)	0.190	0.630	0.150		Curik <i>et al.</i> , 1997
SLB	43(Sweden)	0.407	0.593			Lien <i>et al.</i> , 1999
SLB	42 (Sweden)	0.34	0.60	0.06		Hallén <i>et al.</i> 2008
Spotted	101 (Hungary)	0.21	0.715	0.06	C : 0.015	Baranyi <i>et al.</i> , 1993
SRB	394(Sweden)	0.460	0.531	0.008		Lunden et al., 1997
SRB	39(Sweden)	0.397	0.603			Lien <i>et al.</i> , 1999
SRBH	39 (Sweden)	0.44	0.55	0.01		Hallén <i>et al.</i> 2008
SRBL	35 (Sweden)	0.36	0.63	0.01		Hallén <i>et al.</i> 2008
White Danish	223 (Denmark)	0.55	0.39	0.03	A <sup>3</sup> : 0.03	Bech and Kristiansen, 1990

\* the  $\beta$ -case in A genetic variants were not distinguished into  $A^1$ ,  $A^2$  and  $A^3$  variants

? number of animals in study not given; EFC – Eastern Finncattle; NFC – Northern Finncattle; WFC – Western Finncattle

As can be seen from Table 5, the most commonly occurring  $\beta$ -casein variants in Western cattle breeds are A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and B. Country related differences in the  $\beta$ -casein allele frequencies are observed which may be reflective of local breeding policies, some cross-breeding and most importantly targeted breeding for increased milk production traits. Some interesting trends arise from the data. For example, Jersey, Normande and Simmental breeds appear to consistently have a relatively low frequency of occurrence of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>. In comparison with the other breeds listed in this table Jersey, Normande and Hereford have a relatively high frequency of occurrence of the B variant of  $\beta$ -casein. On the other hand, Guernsey cattle almost exclusively appear to have the  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup> genotype. The Brown Swiss, Brown Italian, Hungarian Spotted and Gray breeds had a relatively higher occurrence of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup> compared to A<sup>1</sup> alleles. The relative distribution of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and A<sup>2</sup> alleles in Holstein and Friesian breeds appears to be region/country specific with certain regions having a high level of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>, others having high level of A<sup>2</sup> and others again having roughly similar allele frequency distributions for A<sup>1</sup> and A<sup>2</sup> (Table 5).

However, it is important to take sample size into account, as in Table 5 where population sizes tested range from approximately 20 to 21,000 animals.

# 2.4 Variation in $\beta$ -casein variant frequency distribution as a function of time

Data in Table 5 cover a 40-year period and give us a general view of the allele frequency distribution in different cattle breeds only at the respective time of analysis. It is thus difficult to draw definitive conclusions on the relative distribution of  $\beta$ -casein variant proteins in milk for a given consumer population at any given time.

Breeding of bovine cattle has been ongoing in Europe for centuries with the objective to increase both carcass weight and milk yield. As an example, in the Nordic countries milk yield has increased significantly between 1985 and 1997 (van Arendonk and Liinamo, 2003) and correspondingly a significant change in the breed composition of national herds has taken place. Comparative data are available for Finland, where before the 1960's milk production was largely based on Finncattle (Northern, Eastern and Western) while nowadays it is mainly from Finnish Ayrshire and Finnish Holstein-Friesian (Liinamo, 2000). Similarly, the breed composition of the milk-producing cattle in other European countries has changed during the same time period.

Therefore, given the  $\beta$ -case allele frequency distribution differences between breeds (Table 5) it may be assumed that in countries where herd composition has changed over the years there have been corresponding changes in the  $\beta$ -case variant composition in the milk.

However, in certain countries such as Iceland, where the importation of foreign cattle breeds has not been allowed, it may be assumed that the breed composition of the milk producing cattle has not changed significantly in the same way. Genetic variation in such cases is also possible, though expectably slower, due to the selection practices employed within the breed to maintain or improve its traits. However, to our knowledge no direct data is available about changes in the  $\beta$ -casein variant composition of milk in Icelandic cattle over time.

In addition, apart from some studies in selected Nordic countries in the late 1990's (Lien *et al.*, 1999; Elliott *et al.*, 1997, Thorsdottir *et al.*, 2000, Iggman, 2003) we do not have any specific Europe wide information on the  $\beta$ -casein variant composition of bulk milk currently produced in Europe.

With globalisation in the marketplace we have little direct information or indeed control over the origin of the milk proteins in market milk, in fermented dairy products or in formulated foods incorporating milk protein ingredients. Therefore, the protein variant composition of milk and milk ingredients, and the overall level of intake of specific milk protein variants by different populations is currently unknown.

## 2.5 Polymorphism in human milk

Human milk varies in protein content ranging from 1.4 - 1.6 g/100 ml during early lactation and declining to about 0.7 - 0.8 g/100 ml at 6 months of lactation (Lönnerdal *et al.*, 1976; Kunz *et al.*, 1992). The proportion of casein to total protein in human milk ranges from 10% at early lactation to approximately 40% in mature milk (Kunz and Lönnerdal, 1990; 1992). The overall composition of human milk is dependent on the stage of lactation along with specific variations in the mother's genotype.  $\beta$ -casein is the major casein component in human milk (Greenberg *et al.*, 1984) however,  $\kappa$ - (Brignon *et al.*, 1985) and  $\alpha_{s1}$ -casein are also present in low amounts (Cavaletto *et al.*, 1994; Rasmussen *et al.*, 1995). Very little appears to be known about genetic variation in human milk caseins. However, the results of Dev *et al.* (1994) as interpreted by Steinerova *et al.* (2004) seem to indicate that human milk does not contain  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$ .

#### 3 OPIOID PEPTIDES IN FOOD AND THEIR FORMATION DURING DIGESTION

In the scientific literature many papers deal with the occurrence of opioid peptides in dairy foods prior to or after simulated gastrointestinal digestion (SGID). The data reported has been obtained using analytical techniques, including liquid chromatography (LC) as a peptide separation technique with UV detection and/or mass spectrometry (MS) for identification and quantification of BCMs. Different digestion protocols employing one or more gastric and intestinal proteinases have been used for the release of BCMs. It is evident that the approach used for isolation, identification and quantification of BCMs impacts on the reliability and the usefulness of results. Furthermore, additional uncertainty arises from the published data depending on whether real or model dairy food systems were used.

The theoretical yield of different opioid peptides per gram of precursor protein is summarised in Table 6.

Bioactive peptide	Sequence	Precursor Protein	Maximum theoretical yield (mg/g protein)
Opioid agonists			
BCM7	YPFPGPI f(60-66)	β-cn	33.0
BCM5	YPFPG f(60-64)	β-cn	24.2
$\alpha_{s1}$ -Casein exorphin	RYLGYLE f(90-96)	α <sub>s1</sub> -cn	38.7
α-Lactorphin	YGLF f(50-53)	α -la	35.2
β-Lactorphin	YLLF f(102-105)	β-lg	30.2
Serorphin	YGFNA f(399-404)	BSA	10.5
Opioid antagonists			
Casoxin A	YPSYGLNY f(35-42)	K-CN	51.4
Casoxin B	YPYY f(58-61)	K-CN	31.8
Casoxin C	YIPIQYVLSR f(25-34)	K-CN	65.8

**Table 6:** Precursor proteins and theoretical yield for some opioid agonist and antagonist peptides derived from cow milk proteins (adapted from Meisel and FitzGerald, 2000)

## 3.1 Peptides presence in food

#### 3.1.1 Human milk

There are a limited number of reports on opioid peptides identified in human milk. These peptides were initially studied by Brantl *et al.* (1984) and Koch *et al.* (1985) and more recently by Ferranti *et al.* (2004). Using MALDI/TOF/MS and ESI/MS Ferranti *et al.* (2004) reported that human milk casein was more susceptible to proteolysis than bovine milk casein. Most of the low and medium molecular weight peptides in human milk collected during the first week of lactation originated from the endogenous hydrolysis of  $\beta$ -casein. Two opioid peptides corresponding to  $\beta$ -casomorphin (1–8) and  $\beta$ -casorphin (1–4) were identified. These authors further reported that the size of the peptides decreased as a function of increasing gestation and lactation period. In fact, while larger precursors fragments of BCMs (51–73, 48–73 and 35–73) were present both in preterm and normal term milk, the shorter sequences (including  $\beta$ -casomorphin 1–8) were only detected in milk from women delivering after the normal gestation period (39 and 40 weeks).

Using an HPLC/UV methodology, Jarmolowska *et al.* (2007a) determined the content of endogenous BCM5 and BCM7 in human milk during different stages of lactation. They reported that the BCM content decreased during the progression of lactation. They also reported that the BCM content of colostrum was five times higher for BCM5 and eight times higher for BCM7 compared to the content of these peptides in mature milk. The BCM5 and BCM7 levels in colostrum were in the range from 0.00 to 19.77  $\mu$ g/mL and 0.00 to 26.78  $\mu$ g/mL, respectively. In mature milks (2 and 4 months after delivery) the levels ranged from zero to 10.56  $\mu$ g/mL and 0.00 to 2.84  $\mu$ g/mL for BCM5 and BCM7, respectively.



### 3.1.2 Bovine milk

One study reports the presence of BCM7 in unprocessed bovine milk (Cieslinska et al., 2007). Other studies confirming these findings are not available in the literature. The identification was performed using HPLC/UV methodology, and the health status of the animals from which the milk was derived was not reported. Somatic cells in milk are a normal phenomenon and their count increases dramatically during clinical and also sub-clinical mastitis. Increasing somatic cell count (SCC) is associated with increasing proteolysis of caseins. Therefore, the enhanced proteolytic activity in animals having a high SCC may contribute to the release of BCMs or their precursors. The specificity and activity of cathepsins and elastase derived from SCCs have been studied in model systems but the actual levels of secretion of these enzymes in milk itself have not been reported. The activity of cathepsin B found in lysosomes of somatic cells is significantly correlated with the SCC of milk and it has been shown that it partially survives conventional pasteurisation (O'Driscoll et al., 1999). Considine *et al.* (2004), studied *in vitro* digestion of  $\beta$ -casein and found that the activity of cathepsin B was similar to or identical to that of plasmin and cell envelope proteinases (CEP) produced by a number of *Lactococcus lactis* strains. Furthermore, cathepsin B was reported to be able to release BCM10 (f60-69). Wedholm et al. (2008) studied the activities of enzymes released from somatic cells in a milk sample containing > 500.000 cells/mL corresponding to sub-clinical Streptococcus uberis mastitis. The results indicated that cathepsins and elastase were associated with  $\beta$ -casein proteolysis, however, release of BCMs was not observed.

Using MALDI MS and MS/MS, Napoli *et al.* (2007) studied the activity of the endogenous proteinases during 24- to 216-h incubation at 37 °C at both physiological and acid pH values in unprocessed milk produced from each quarter of the mammary gland of a healthy cow (SCC=0.6-1.3 x  $10^3$ ) and a mastitic cow (SCC=0.4-11.6 x  $10^6$ ). They identified  $\beta$ -casein derived peptides indicating cleavage sites located toward the C-terminus of the protein but no hydrolysis appeared to occur in the BCM region. Proteinases of somatic cells may also be involved in proteolysis of  $\beta$ -casein during storage of UHT milk, since no study to date has demonstrated thermal inactivation of these enzymes during industrial UHT processing of milk.

According to Gaucher *et al.* (2008),  $\beta$ -casein appeared to be hydrolyzed in UHT (140 °C for 4 sec) treated milk following storage at 20 °C for 6 months. Using LC-MS/MS, they identified different pro-BCMs (f54–68, f54–69, f55–65, f55–68, f57–68) resulting from the hydrolytic action of cathepsin B, cathepsin G and elastase on  $\beta$ -casein.

#### 3.1.2.1 Fermented milk

A number of studies have reported on the formation and fate of BCM7 in fermented dairy products, including cheese, fermented milk and yoghurt. However, only a few detail the actual level of BCM7 in these dairy products. The lack of quantifiable data arises from the difficulty in identifying and quantifying BCMs in such complex food matrices which are comprised of many peptides as a result of milk protein hydrolysis. The formation/degradation of BCM7 has been mainly studied using purified caseins or synthetic BCMs as substrates and single bacterial strains or their associated proteinase/peptidase systems.



Hamel *et al.* (1985) were the first to identify  $\beta$ -casomorphin immunoreactive material in cow's milk following incubation with various bacterial species, including lactic acid bacteria (LAB). The proteolytic systems in LAB involve both CEP and intracellular peptidases; the former being responsible for releasing different oligopeptides from intact milk protein molecules which are further hydrolysed by the peptidases into shorter fragments and free amino acids. Recent studies with 21 *Lactobacillus* strains isolated from fermented milks have demonstrated that these LAB were able to degrade 80–90% of the  $\beta$ -casein following 72-96 h *in vitro* incubation of a sodium caseinate solution (Tzvetkova *et al.*, 2007). Similar findings were recorded for LAB proteinases from *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* Wg2 which hydrolysed approximately 40% of the peptide bonds in  $\beta$ -casein resulting in more than 100 oligopeptides (Mierau *et al.*, 1997; Juillard *et al.*, 1995).

In general, the formation of casomorphins in dairy products fermented with LAB has been considered unlikely given that these bacteria have a high intracellular X-prolyldipeptidyl aminopeptidase (PepX) activity (Gobbetti et al., 2002). PepX is the best characterized prolinespecific enzyme produced by LAB and it releases x-Pro dipeptides from the N-terminus of peptides. Hydrolysis with PepX would remove the X-Pro sequence which is central for the bioactivity of BCM7. According to Matar and Goulet (1996), the cell-free extracts of the wild type or PepX-deficient mutant strains of *Lactobacillus helveticus* L89 totally or partially hydrolyse synthetic BCM7 into BCM4 after incubation at 37°C for 120 min. Using LC/MS, the authors also reported the formation of BCM4 but not BCM7 in a pasteurized (65 °C for 30 min) milk fermented with a PepX-deficient mutant of Lactobacillus helveticus L89. According to Stepaniak et al. (1995), BCM7 inhibits the in vitro activity of peptidases (PepO and PepN) from *Lactococcus lactis* ssp. *lactis* MG1363. However, the PepX activity of the same microorganism was not inhibited by this peptide and PepX was actually reported to hydrolyse BCM7. Muehlenkamp et al. (1996) evaluated the susceptibility of synthetic BCM3. -5 and -7 to the proteolytic system of a commercial strain of *Lactococcus cremoris*. They reported after 6-15 weeks of incubation that BCM7 was more resistant to proteolysis than BCM3 and BCM5.

The type of starter used seems to affect the nature of the bioactive peptides released in fermented milks. It is well known that *Lb. delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* and *S. thermophilus*, which are used in combination as a starter in yoghurt manufacture, release peptides that promote the growth of the mixed culture. In general, due to the short fermentation time, lysis of cells of LAB is unlikely and intracellular peptidase activity is unlikely to significantly contribute to proteolysis during yoghurt manufacture (Meisel and Bockelmann, 1999). As reported by Donkor *et al.* (2007), most of the proteolytic activity in yoghurt containing *L. delbruekii* ssp. *bulgaricus* Lb1466 and *S. thermophilus* St1342 occurs during the first 24 h following manufacture and subsequently continues to increase at a slower rate during storage (28 d) at 4 °C. However, according to Schieber and Brückner (2000), storage at 4 °C for 3 weeks resulted in extensive proteolysis of milk proteins in yoghurt made from skimmed milk heated to 90 °C and fermented (44 °C for 3 h) using the above two LAB strains. In this product, the majority of the peptides arose from  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> breakdown but only peptides, including BCM containing sequences (i.e.  $\beta$ -casein 57-68 and  $\beta$ -casein 57-72), were identified by means of HPLC-MS and peptide sequencing. Kahala *et al.* (1993) investigated the peptides

released from several Finnish fermented milk products, including two yoghurts, produced with a mixed starter culture of *L. bulgaricus* and *S. thermophilus*. Most of the peptides identified originated from either the N- or C-terminal region of  $\beta$ -casein, however no BCMs were found.

According to Donkor *et al.* (2007), proteolysis in fermented milk containing both yoghurt starter culture and probiotic organisms (*L. acidophilus* L10, *L. casei* L26 and *B. lactis* B94) was significantly higher as compared to the milk fermented with the yoghurt culture only. Using *in vitro* tests, Shihata and Shah (2000) reported that extracts containing proteolytic systems of yoghurt bacteria (*S. thermophilus* and *L. delbrueckii* ssp. *bulgaricus*) were highly proteolytic compared to those from probiotic bacteria (*L. acidophilus* and *Bifidobacterium* spp.). It appears that the use of probiotic strains for production of fermented milk influences the peptide profile in the final product. Furthermore, the potential release of BCMs during gastrointestinal digestion may also be affected by the peptide profile. In this regard, a UHT (142 °C for 3-4 sec) milk fermented with the probiotic Lactobacillus GG strain which milk was subsequently digested with pepsin and trypsin was found to contain peptide sequences similar to BCM11 (derived from  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup>) and BCM4 (Rokka *et al.*, 1997). These peptides were not present in the fermented milk prior to pepsin and trypsin digestion.

#### 3.1.2.2 Cheese

The formation and fate of BCM7 have been studied in different cheese varieties which are considered a very complex food system. The extent and the pattern of proteolysis in cheese varies as a function of heat treatment of milk (unprocessed or pasteurized), type of coagulant (animal or vegetable), curd handling (cooking, salting, pH at draining), starter culture and ripening conditions (pH, time, temperature, humidity, secondary microflora). Most of the proteolysis occurs during ripening and as a result caseins are hydrolysed by endogenous proteinases, coagulant, and starter and non-starter proteinases. Moreover, as previously mentioned, BCM7 or related sequences produced by either endo- or exogenous enzymes may exert an inhibitory effect on intracellular peptidases of LAB (Stepaniak *et al.*, 1995). All the above factors influence BCM7 release/degradation which therefore must be quantified under real cheesemaking conditions. In this regard, the action of the retained chymosin itself is not expected to release BCMs in cheese, irrespective of the pH value and salt concentration of cheese (McSweeney, 2004).

Furthermore, proteolysis induced by plasmin does not lead to formation of known bioactive peptides (McSweeney, 2004). As already mentioned, both starter and non starter LAB proteinases/peptidases may hydrolyse proline-rich peptides, such as BCMs, which may be formed upon the action of proteolytic systems present in the cheese milk/curd. As peptidase activity is intracellular in LAB, it is likely that LAB peptidases contribute to protein hydrolysis only after cell lysis which generally occurs during cheese ripening (Meisel and Bockelmann, 1999). Additional proteolysis may be brought about by the action of fungal enzymes involved in the ripening of certain cheese varieties. Despite the fact that the mechanisms of action of most of the proteinases present in cheese. Only very few studies report on the presence and levels of BCM7 in cheese. Jarmolowska *et al.* (1999), using

amino acid composition analysis reported BCM7 as being most likely present in extracts from Brie cheese samples. This peptide occurred in amounts ranging from 5 to 15 mg/kg cheese following different (not specified) maturation times. Previously, Muehlenkamp *et al.* (1996) reported no detectable amounts of BCM7 in the same cheese variety. HPLC separation coupled to UV detection was used for identification and quantitation of BCM7. In addition, BCM7 was not detected in other cheese varieties having different extents of proteolysis: Cheddar, Swiss type (60 day ripened), Blue and Limburger. Therefore, to date no data concerning the actual amounts of BCM7 in cheeses can be obtained from the literature.

Muehlenkamp et al. (1996) reported that BCM7 was almost resistant to degradation by the proteolytic system of Lactococcus cremoris. This was particularly the case at pH 5.0-5.2 and high sodium chloride concentration (5%) as employed in the in vitro enzymatic tests. At lower salt concentration (1.5%), BCM7 was partially (50%) or totally degraded after 15 weeks at pH 5.0 or pH 5.2, respectively. Taking the pH value (5.0-5.1) and salt concentration (1.8-2.0%) of Cheddar cheese into consideration, BCM7 is expected to be degraded to some extent by the starter culture used in Cheddar cheese manufacture. Information is available about the formation of peptides in enzyme-modified Cheddar cheese. Using LC-MS/MS, Haileselassie et al. (1999) identified several potentially bioactive peptides, including BCM7, from an enzyme-modified Cheddar cheese (EMC) prepared using Neutrase®, a neutral protease produced from Bacillus subtilis. However, the actual level of BCM7 in the EMC was not reported. The same authors did not find BCM7 when the enzyme-modified cheese was prepared using a crude extract of L. casei isolated from a mild Cheddar cheese. The findings of Haileselassie et al. (1999) suggest the destructive action exerted by proline specific peptidases from LAB on BCM7 present in cheese. As discussed later, other studies report cheeses to contain peptides including the BCM7 sequence. According to Singh et al. (1997), the persistence of peptides such as BCM9 (β-casein 60-68) in Cheddar suggests that PepX from LAB has no or little activity in cheese, perhaps because it is unstable.

Several studies indicate that different cheeses contain peptides incorporating the BCM7 sequence. These peptides could act as BCM7 precursors during further digestion processes. Addeo et al. (1992) revealed the presence of long peptides (e.g. 20-21 residues) containing the BCM7 sequence in ripened (up to 15 months) Parmigiano Reggiano cheese. According to the authors, the presence of such peptides demonstrates the resistance of this  $\beta$ -casein region to further enzymatic degradation. It is noteworthy that in this type of cheese extensive casein breakdown occurs during ripening at the end of which about 20% of protein nitrogen is represented by free amino acids. Stepaniak et al. (1995) isolated the  $\beta$ -casein (58-72) peptide (from genetic variant A<sup>1</sup>) from the water-soluble extract of Cheddar and Jarlsberg cheeses. Both the 57-58 and 56-57 bonds of  $\beta$ -casein have been reported to be easily hydrolyzed by proteinases from LAB (Visser *et al.*, 1991). The  $\beta$ -casein (58-72) peptide was also released during Crescenza ripening (Smacchi and Gobbetti, 1998). This peptide was apparently resistant to further degradation by enzymes present in cheese and it was not hydrolysed by PepO and PepN activities. As already mentioned, β-casein (58-72) is reported to selectively inhibit endopeptidase (PepO), general aminopeptidase (PepN), and PepX from Lc. Lactis ssp. *lactis* MG1363 (Stepaniak *et al.*, 1995). BCM9 (from variant  $A^1$  of  $\beta$ -casein) and several peptides including the BCM7 sequence were found in Cheddar cheese by Singh et al. (1995

and 1997). BCM9 was also found in Gouda (8 months aged) by Saito *et al.* (2000). Using LC-MS-TOF and LC-MS/MS, Toelstede *et al.* (2008) found BCM9 and BCM10 in the watersoluble extract of a matured Gouda cheese. BCM9 was released from the A<sup>1</sup> and A<sup>2</sup> variants of  $\beta$ -casein whereas BCM10 was derived from the A<sup>1</sup> variant. Pro-BCM9 and pro-BCM10 peptides were liberated from both variants by cleavage of Gln<sup>56</sup>– Ser<sup>57</sup>, Ser<sup>57</sup>-Leu<sup>58</sup> and Leu<sup>58</sup>-Val<sup>59</sup> bonds.

The proteolytic systems potentially involved during manufacture and ripening of Emmental cheese were investigated by Gagnaire *et al.* (2001). Due to inactivation of coagulant by the high curd cooking temperature, CEP from thermophilic lactobacilli, chatepsin D and plasmin were mainly thought to be responsible for the hydrolysis of  $\beta$ -casein from which neither BCMs nor pro-BCMs were released. The role of bifidobacteria in releasing BCM3 and BCM5 during ripening of Edam cheese was studied by Sabikhi *et al.* (2001) using HPLC/UV detection. Both Edam and probiotic Edam cheeses contained BCM3 whereas BCM5 was not present. Using LC-MS, Rizzello *et al.* (2005) analyzed the water-soluble extracts of Caprino del Piemonte, an Italian goat cheese. A peptide corresponding to  $\beta$ -CN f60–68 (YPFTGPIPN) was identified in the cheese extract.

#### 3.1.2.3 Infant formulas

The potential occurrence of BCMs in commercial infant formulas has not been extensively studied. In the only study published to date, Jarmolowska (2007b) assayed for opioid activity in samples of "Humana" formula available on the Polish market. Four opioid peptides with agonistic or antagonistic activity were found in the peptide extract of this formula and its pepsin–trypsin hydrolysate. These peptides were identified as BCM5, casoxin C and 6 and lactoferroxin A. The opioid activity of the peptide extracts was determined by examining their influence on the motor activity of isolated rabbit intestine. The reported amounts ( $\mu$ g/mL) of these peptides in the peptide extract of Humana and its pepsin hydrolysate were as follows: BCM5 (0.39, 43.11), casoxin 6 (0.22, 6.21), casoxin C (0.075, 23.33) and lactoferroxin A (0.16, 11.40). Generally, the amounts of opioid peptides in the pepsin hydrolysate of "Humana" were significantly higher than in the non-pepsin treated sample. A recent paper using LC/MS reports no BCM5 or BCM7 in milk-based infant formulas (De Noni, 2008).

#### **3.1.3 Effect of milk processing on the release opioid peptides**

To our knowledge, no study has considered the effect of milk processing conditions on the release of BCMs during subsequent fermentation. It is well recognised that intense heat treatments (90-95 °C for 5-20 min) applied in yoghurt manufacturing can induce thermal modifications of protein contributing to the desired properties of the final product (i.e. viscosity, lack of syneresis). Heating causes unfolding of protein molecules and hence modifies their secondary and tertiary structure. In this regard, caseins are not as susceptible to severe heat denaturation compared to the globular whey proteins. Native  $\beta$ -casein appears to form only short lengths of  $\alpha$ -helixes and has a less pronounced tertiary structure. For this reason,  $\beta$ -casein cannot or can hardly be denatured and its conformation is not expected to change much upon thermal treatment.

Schmelzer *et al.* (2007) studied the proteolysis of  $\beta$ -casein during peptic digestion under simulated gastro-intestinal digestion (SGID). No preferred pepsin cleavage sites were found on the basis of predicted secondary structure. This finding supports the hypothesis that pepsin would most likely act in a similar manner on either the native or the heated forms of  $\beta$ -casein. Severe heat treatment of milk strongly enhances formation of  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin/ $\kappa$ -CN stable complexes on the surface of casein micelles. These complexes are believed to reduce casein proteolysis as they make the access of proteinases more difficult (Enright *et al.*, 1999). The results obtained by Almaas *et al.* (2006) from digestion of both cows' and goats' milk with human gastric and duodenal juices showed that heated milk in general was more resistant to hydrolysis than unprocessed milk.

Covalent interactions occurring upon heating involve both lactosylation and crosslinking within or between casein chains. These reactions can result in the formation of xenobiotic molecules some of which may be responsible for aggregation/polymerisation of  $\beta$ -casein molecules (Pellegrino *et al.*, 1999). Deamidation and dephosphorylation of  $\beta$ -casein can occur when processing milk during yoghurt manufacturing (Van Boekel, 1999). The effect of these modifications of  $\beta$ -casein on its susceptibility to proteolysis during milk fermentation cannot be speculated. The role of thermal treatments in hindering or promoting BCM release from this protein molecule has not been elucidated, so far.

To date, no study has been published concerning the effect of UHT treatment or in-bottle sterilisation on potential release of BCMs during digestion of heat-treated milk. Milk-based infant formulas are submitted to intense heat treatment during manufacture. Moreover, they contain dairy ingredients that in turn are usually obtained by industrial processing, including severe heat treatments. Therefore, heat damage can occur in the final infant formula and a diverse degree of protein modification could be expected. In the recent study of De Noni (2008), industrial indirect UHT treatments (156 °C for 6–9 sec) were not found to modify the release of BCM7 and, during SGID comparable amounts of peptides were formed from both raw formulations and heat-treated infant formulas.

## **3.2** Peptide formation during *in vitro* simulated gastro-intestinal digestion (SGID)

#### 3.2.1 Milk derived opioids released in SGID

The potential release of BCMs during gastrointestinal digestion of dairy products has been investigated in a number of studies. For this purpose, different protocols based on SGID have been adopted. The usefulness and reliability of these protocols depends on both enzymatic system and physiological factors adopted. Digestion process parameters, including the rate of gastric emptying and the changes in gastric pH value, are particularly relevant, especially in infants. In general, the use of hydrolytic enzyme preparations containing several amino and carboxyl peptidase formulations should lead to more reliable and comparable results as to what may happen during GI transit. Irrespective of the difference in protocols, it seems that an initial hydrolysis by pepsin plays a key role during SGID of  $\beta$ -casein as has been clearly elucidated by Jinsmaa *et al.* (1999). In this study, BCM9, -13 and -21 or (Val<sup>59</sup>)-BCMs were released after initial cleavage by pepsin of the Leu<sup>58</sup>-Val<sup>59</sup> bond in  $\beta$ -casein followed by

further degradation with intestinal proteinases. Very low levels of BCM7 (17 mmol BCM7/mol  $\beta$ -casein) were found in the elastase-leucine aminopeptidase digest of  $\beta$ -casein when the preliminary pepsin treatment at pH 2.0 was omitted. The role of pancreatic enzymes was also studied and no BCM7 was released when chymotrypsin or trypsin were used in place of pancreatin for  $\beta$ -casein digestion following pepsin treatment. Incubation with pepsin alone does not appear to release BCM7.

Macaud *et al.* (1999) using second-order derivative spectra and UV-spectra comparison detected BCM3 but not BCM7 in a pepsin hydrolysate of casein. According to Schmelzer *et al.* (2007), the release of known bioactive peptides from the  $A^1$  or  $A^2$  variants of  $\beta$ -casein following peptic digestion under SGID is unlikely. They reported no formation of BCM7 following 10-60 min digestion with pepsin at pH 2.0.  $\beta$ -casein degradation was monitored using LC-MS and the proteolysis seemed to be determined mainly by the amino acid sequence of  $\beta$ -casein.

Using LC-MS/MS, De Noni (2008) investigated the release of BCM5 and BCM7 during SGID of bovine  $\beta$ -casein variants (A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and B) using pepsin digestion at pH 2.0, 3.0 and 4.0 followed by hydrolysis with Corolase PP<sup>TM</sup>.  $\beta$ -CN variants were extracted from unprocessed milks and digested after dispersion in bovine milk UF permeate. BCM7 was not released during initial peptic digestion of any of the  $\beta$ -CN variants studied. Regardless of the pH value, B variants of  $\beta$ -casein released during SGID the highest amount of BCM7 (5–176 mmol/mol casein), followed by the A<sup>1</sup> variant. BCM7 was not released from variant A<sup>2</sup> during any steps of SGID process. Furthermore, BCM5 was not formed in hydrolysates irrespective of the genetic variant of the original  $\beta$ -casein or the pH value employed during SGID.

The study of Cieslinska *et al.* (2007) reported the release of BCM7 from a homozygous  $A^2$  milk following digestion (24 h at pH 2.0) with pepsin. Recognition/quantification of BCM7 was done by means of HPLC/UV and the reported release of BCM7 was four times lower from homozygous  $A^2$  milk than from homozygous  $A^1$  milk. However, the exact levels of BCM7 in these milk samples are unknown since the reported data referred to milk extracts only.

Very little information is available on the release of BCMs during digestion of  $\beta$ -casein from goat, sheep or buffalo milk. Petrilli *et al.* (1984) digested  $\beta$ -casein from buffalo milk using pepsin, trypsin, chymotrypsin, elastase, carboxypeptidase A, carboxypeptidase B and leucine amino peptidase (LAP). The digests were analysed chromatographically by HPLC. Neither gastric nor pancreatic enzymes were found to release BCM7. The digests contained a pro-BCM7 with amino acid sequence corresponding to residues 59-68 of buffalo  $\beta$ -casein. However, incubation of this peptide with rabbit small intestinal brush border enzymes did not release BCM7. Petrilli *et al.* (1987) investigated the degradation of a  $\beta$ -casomorphin-containing fragment (tryptic peptide corresponding to residues 49-68 of buffalo  $\beta$ -casein) using pig pancreatic juice. Using fast atom bombardment MS to identify the fragments produced, it was reported that incubation with pancreatic juice was not capable of releasing  $\beta$ -casomorphin or morphiceptin from the tryptic peptide.

Recently, De Noni (2008) did not find BCM5 or BCM7 in the peptic (pH 2.0 or 3.5) digests of milk-based infant formulas following SGID. These products contained both  $A^1$  and  $A^2$ 

variants of  $\beta$ -casein and it was only upon further digestion with Corolase PP<sup>TM</sup> that BCM7 levels ranging from 0.02 to 0.37 nmol/mL were detectable.

BCM7 was recovered but not quantified in the UF permeate of a reconstituted infant formula subjected to peptic hydrolysis at pH 3.5 followed by digestion with Corolase PP<sup>TM</sup> (Hernandez-Ledesma *et al.* 2004). In another study, the same authors did not find the presence of this peptide in an infant formula digested with pepsin (pH 3.5) and porcine pancreatin (Hernandez-Ledesma *et al.*, 2007). However, the peptide (Val<sup>59</sup>)-BCM9 was recovered in the same infant formula. Using HPLC separation and UV detection, Jarmolowska *et al.* (2007b) reported the presence of BCM5 in peptide extracts of an infant formula and in its pepsin–trypsin hydrolysate. The amounts of BCM5 in the infant formula extracts and its hydrolysate were 0.39 and 43.11 µg/mL (0.67 and 74.46 nmol/mL), respectively. No BCM7 was found in the extracts either prior to or after SGID.

#### 3.2.2 Non-milk derived opioids released in SGID

Dietary opioid peptides are present in a variety of protein sources, such as wheat, barley, soy, spinach (rubisco protein) and blood (Table 2). Fukudome and Yoshikawa (1992) found gluten exorphins A5, A4, B4 and B5 in an *in vitro* digest of wheat gluten with pepsin and thermolysin. The same peptides were not released after pepsin digestion alone or in pepsin/trypsin/chymotrypsin digests. However, gluten exorphins were found after further hydrolysis of the peptic digest with microbial neutral proteinases derived from *Aspergillus oryzae* or *Bacillus subtilis*. These results suggested that the *in vivo* release of gluten exorphins A and B from wheat gluten might be accomplished by the concerted actions of pepsin and enterobacterial proteinases. Fukudome and Yoshikawa (1993) isolated the opioid peptide exorphin C from a pepsin-trypsin-chymotrypsin digest of wheat gluten. A subsequent study by Fukudome *et al.* (1997) reported the release of gluten exorphins A and B by the action of pepsin and pancreatic elastase. These exorphins could therefore potentially be released *in vivo* by the action of gastrointestinal proteinases following the ingestion of wheat gluten.

Opioid peptides can also be derived from soy proteins. Agui *et al.* (2006) reported the release of soymorphin-5 after digestion of soy  $\beta$ -conglycinin with pancreatic elastase and LAP. The  $\beta$ -subunit of soy  $\beta$ -conglycinin also contains the sequence (YPWT), similar to human BCM4. Ohinata *et al.* (2007) reported the release of human BCM4 and soymorphin-5 during digestion of a model peptide corresponding to the  $\beta$ -subunit of soy  $\beta$ -conglycinin with pancreatic elastase and LAP.

Bioactive peptides can be generated in the course of catabolic degradation of technofunctional proteins, as reported for hemorphins, a specific group of peptides derived from blood haemoglobin. Hemorphins consist of a family of opioid receptor-binding peptides from 4 to 10 amino acids that are released by proteolytic processing of haemoglobin  $\beta$ -chain (Fruitier-Arnaudin *et al.*, 2005). The first two haemoglobin-derived peptides identified *in vitro* and termed hemorphin-4 and hemorphin-5 were obtained by incubation of bovine blood with gastrointestinal enzymes (Brantl *et al.*, 1986b). These amino acid sequences corresponded to the 34-37 and 34-38 fragments of the  $\beta$ -chain of bovine haemoglobin. Two other hemorphins corresponding to fragments 31-40 (LVV-hemorphin-7) and 32-40 (VV-hemorphin-7) of the  $\beta$ -chain of bovine

haemoglobin have been isolated *in vivo* from tissues and from fluids. These two opioid peptides were also generated during *in vitro* pepsin digestion of bovine haemoglobin (Garreau *et al.*, 1995). Jinsmaa and Yoshikawa (2002) isolated hemorphin-5 from human haemoglobin digested with pancreatic elastase. V-hemorphin-5 was also released under the same conditions.

4 POSSIBLE MOLECULAR INTERACTIONS, GENERAL BIOLOGICAL EFFECTS AND FATE OF FOOD-DERIVED PEPTIDES

## 4.1 Overview

As has become clear from the previous sections, proteins in food products contain peptides which may provoke responses that go beyond typical nutritional or metabolic functions. In some of these cases, direct interaction with an enzyme or with one or more receptors may be involved. Examples include the inhibition of Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) or the binding to opioid- or other receptors. In other situations, peptides may act in a more indirect way, for example via the immune system or by binding of reactive intermediates formed in biological processes. This chapter discusses some of the actions and mechanisms that have been reported for food-derived peptides, in particular those from milk protein. Some of these peptides have been called exomorphins, due to their interaction with opioid receptors. Exomorphins can be formed from plant- or animal derived proteins, including milk. It is important to note that the fact that these peptides are called exomorphins does not imply that their reported effects can always be explained from interactions with opioid receptors. As will also become clear from this chapter, particular pharmacological or toxicological mechanisms need solid experimental evidence. Moreover, data from *in vitro* studies or studies performed in specific animal models still need to be carefully confirmed by observations in humans, since food derived peptides showing activity *in vitro* might not reach the site of action in the organism when administered via the GI tract and results obtained in animal models might not be transferable to humans.

In order to act systemically, peptides should be absorbed from the GI tract into the circulation in an active form. This implies that the molecules must first resist hydrolysis by brush border peptidases and then be absorbed across the intestinal epithelium. Further degradation can occur by peptidases in the liver, in the bloodstream and in other tissues. A prerequisite to act in the CNS is their ability to pass the blood brain barrier (BBB). Peptidases in the brushborder membrane are actively involved in limiting the absorption of small peptides across the intestinal mucosa. Brush-border peptidases are mainly active against tri-, tetra-, and higher peptides (up to ten amino acid residues), while intracellular peptidases are active predominantly against dipeptides (Pauletti *et al.*, 1996). The amount of peptide which is available to pass into the brain depends on the distribution of the peptide within the blood compartments and its elimination half-life. The presence of peptidases and proteinases in the blood has been shown to affect the bioavailability of many peptides. These enzymes include dipeptidyl(amino) peptidase IV, aminopeptidase A and N, ACE and carboxypeptidase (Egleton and Davis, 1997). In order to act in the CNS, (food derived) peptides must cross the BBB. The BBB will in principle limit the delivery of peptides to the brain. The endothelial cells that form the BBB are interconnected by tight cellular junctions which provide a high transendothelial electrical resistance. Moreover, the BBB acts as a metabolic barrier equipped with a number of proteolytic enzymes, such as aminopeptidase A, aminopeptidase M, and ACE which are known to degrade peptides (Egleton and Davis, 2005).

### 4.2 Interactions of food-derived peptides with opioid receptors

#### 4.2.1 The opioid system

Opioid receptors derive their name from the classical effects of the active ingredients of opium, in particular morphine and its derivatives. Following the discovery of the first opioid receptor in 1973 (Pert and Snyder, 1973; Simon et al., 1973; Terenius, 1973) the first two endogenous ligands were quickly identified in bovine brain (Hughes et al., 1975). Since then, several other opioid receptor subtypes have been found, as well as a number of endogenous and exogenous ligands. Opioid receptors belong to the large family of transmembranespanning G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs). Different cellular processes can be linked to opioid receptor activation, including adenyl cyclase, Ca<sup>2+</sup>-channels, K<sup>+</sup>-channels, or phospholipase C turnover (Waldhoer et al., 2004). Opioid receptors are most abundant in the central nervous system, but can also be found in peripheral nervous, endocrine and immune tissues, including the intestinal tract (Wittert et al., 1996; IUPHAR, 2008). Opioid receptors are now divided into three different sub-classes. The most current (IUPHAR) recommended nomenclature is to denote these as  $\mu$  (also called MOP),  $\kappa$  (also called KOP) and  $\delta$  (also called DOP). There is also a fourth opioid-like receptor, which is now called N/OFQ (nociceptin/orphanin FQ). This receptor is considered 'opioid-related' rather than opioid. It exhibits a high degree of structural homology with the conventional opioid receptors but displays a distinct pharmacology (Alexander et al., 2008) All four receptor groups are about 65% identical to each other with a common three-dimensional structure that spans the cell membrane seven times, forming three extracellular loops and three intracellular loops. The seven helical domains have common features defining an opioid-binding pocket and more divergent aspects that delineate high affinity and selectivity for receptor sub-type specific ligands (Quock et al., 1999). Opioid receptor activation by endogenous and exogenous ligands can result in a multitude of effects which include analgesia, respiratory depression, euphoria, feeding, the release of hormones, inhibition of gastrointestinal transit, and effects on anxiety. In general, agonists selective for  $\mu$ - and  $\delta$ -receptors are analgesic and rewarding, whereas agonists for  $\kappa$  are dysphoric (Waldhoer *et al.*, 2004).

Tolerance to opioid ligands is a well-known phenomenon that occurs after chronic exposure to such compounds. On theoretical grounds this could become relevant if food-derived opioid peptides would be present in significant amounts at the receptor binding site during prolonged periods. However, such phenomena have never been described in relation to food-derived opioid peptides. Surprisingly, the mechanism (or mechanisms) underlying the development of for example morphine tolerance has not been completely elucidated (Waldhoer *et al.*, 2004; Bailey *et al.*, 2006; Christie, 2008). Available data suggest that it is unlikely that receptor down regulation is solely responsible for the development of morphine tolerance. Other processes, including desensitization or uncoupling are probably also involved.



#### 4.2.2 Endogenous opioids

Several endogenous ligands for opioid receptors have been discovered. So far, all of these were found to possess a peptide structure. The endogenous ligands are often divided into three groups: endorphins, enkephalins, and dynorphins (Waldhoer et al., 2004; Foord et al., 2005; Fichna et al., 2007; IUPHAR, 2008). Many endogenous opioid peptides are derived from inactive precursor polypeptides, including proopiomelanocortin, proenkephalin, and prodynorphin, respectively (Waldhoer et al., 2004). Several endogenous ligands contain a similar pentapeptide sequence Tyr-Gly-Gly-Phe-Met/Leu (YGGFM/L). Nociceptin/orphanin FQ, however, contains a phenylalanine (F) instead of the N-terminal tyrosine. Endomorphin-1 (Tvr-Pro-Trp-Phe-NH2) and endomorphin-2 (Tvr-Pro-Phe-Phe-NH2) are two endogenous tetrapeptides with high affinity and remarkable selectivity for the  $\mu$ -opioid receptor. See Waldhoer et al. (2004) and Balázs (2007) for recent reviews. Other peptides also show some selectivity. Enkephalins act in particular on  $\delta$ -receptors, dynorphins on  $\kappa$ -receptors, but  $\beta$ endorphin act both on  $\mu$ - and  $\delta$ -receptors with low to moderate affinity only. Endogenous opioid peptides function as inhibitory neurotransmitters and neurohormones. They are released from nerve cells to act on other cells that bear opioid receptors and thus dampen the activity of those cells. They can all modulate the intensity of pain despite the fact that they act through different classes of opiate receptors. Opioids are also involved in complex behaviours, such as sexual attraction, aggressive/submissive behaviours and eating behaviour. They have also been implicated in psychiatric disorders, such as schizophrenia and autism, although the evidence for this is debated. Endomorphins have been detected in significant levels in immune cells and there is persuasive evidence emerging that they can also exert potent anti-inflammatory effects in both acute and chronic peripheral inflammation (Jessop, 2006).

#### 4.2.3 Exogenous opioids

Following the discovery of the medicinal compound morphine several compounds have subsequently been synthesized for medical use. These include very potent drugs like fentanyl, methadone and pentazocine. Among the medically used opioids, there are, so far, no peptides or related compounds. However, it has already been known for almost 30 years that several proteins present in our diet contain sequences that, after being released, can at least theoretically interact with opioid receptors. The discovery of such exogenous opioid ligands was first reported around 1979 (Zioudrou et al., 1979). Since then, several food-derived opioid peptides have been described (see Chapter 2.2). The first pharmacological descriptions of milk-derived peptides that where later called  $\beta$ -casomorphins date back to the late 1970's (Brantl et al., 1979; Zioudrou et al., 1979; Brantl et al., 1981; Brantl et al., 1982; Koch et al., 1985). Using standard pharmacological bioassays, including the guinea-pig ileum longitudinal muscle myenteric plexus preparation (GPI) and the mouse vas deferens (MVD) as well as ligand-binding assays, it was concluded that both bovine and human BCMs predominantly bind to the  $\mu$ -type receptor. In addition, there seems to be some affinity for the  $\delta$ -receptors, in particular of human BCM4 and BCM5 (Koch et al., 1985). In the GPI assay, human BCMs (Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val-Glu-Pro-Ile) were found to be 3 to 30 times less potent than the bovine BCMs (Tvr-Pro-Phe-Pro-Gly-Pro-Ile) and 300-600 times less potent than normorphin (Koch et al., 1985). The rank order of potencies for human  $\beta$ -casomorphins was the same as for the

bovine  $\beta$ -casomorphins (BCM5 > BCM4 > BCM8 > BCM7). Brantl *et al.* (1981) estimated that the affinities of the (bovine)  $\beta$ -casomorphins for opiate receptors from rat brain, as indicated by their IC50 values, where a factor > 300 lower than that of morphine. BCM5 was found to be the most potent and BCM7 the least potent.

Compared to milk-derived opioid peptides, the pharmacology of dietary exorphins from other food sources has been studied less well. However, quite a few examples exist. Oryzatensin, a peptide from rice albumin, was shown to possess ileum contracting and immunomodulatory activities (Takahashi et al. 1994) along with C3a agonist activity leading to anti-analgesic and anti-amnesic effects after intra-cerebro-ventricular (i.c.v.) administration (Jinsmaa et al. 2001, Takahashi et al. 1996). Rubiscolin-6 is a peptide formed from the enzyme Rubisco, widely present in green leaves. It was shown to have analgesic activity (Yang et al. 2001), to exert stimulated memory consolidation (Yang et al. 2003) and to have anxiolytic activities in the elevated plus maze test in mice (Hirata et al. 2007). Various blood proteins, including albumin and  $\gamma$ -globulins (Zioudrou *et al.* 1979), and haemoglobin (Brantl *et al.* 1986) can release peptides that act as opioid receptor ligands. Peptides from human haemoglobin βchain have been related to many *in vivo* physiological effects (coronaro-constrictory, antitumor, immunoregulatory activities) and several of the hemorphins interact at various levels of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) by inhibiting ACE, aminopeptidase N and dipeptidyl peptidase IV activities (Fruitier-Arnaudin et al., 2005). In addition, some hemorphins and in particular LVV-Hemorphin-7 (LVVYPWTQRF), binds with high affinity to the brain (IC50 = 4.15nm) and renal AT4 angiotensin receptor subtype and is possibly the main endogenous ligand from this receptor. A peptide with opioid activity can also be formed from egg albumin (Zioudrou et al. 1979). Other studies concerned the presence of opioid peptides in enzymatic digests of wheat gluten. Zioudrou et al. (1979) found opioid activity in the peptic digest of wheat gluten. This activity related to both the inhibition of the contraction of the electrically stimulated mouse vas deferens and the inhibition of adenylate cyclase of neuroblastoma X-glioma hybrid cells. Gluten exorphin B5 has been shown to stimulate prolactin secretion in rat (Fanciulli et al. 2005). Gliadin peptides were shown to block leucocytes migration which was inhibited in the presence of naloxone (Graf et al. 1987). Takahashi et al. (2000) studied the effects of gluten exorphin A5 on the pain-inhibitory system, emotionality and learning/memory processes in ddY mice. Thus, exorphin A5 has been found to produce various effects in both the peripheral and central nervous system. According to Sun and Cade (2003), following administration, gliadorphin-7 gains access to brain cells of normal rats by diffusion through circumventricular organs. A sequence identical to human BCM4 (Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val) can be released from the  $\beta$ -conglycinin fraction of soy. Recently, Ohinata et al. (2007) described the actions of what they call soymorphins-4,-5,-6 and -7. Soymorphins were tested by the GPI and MVD assay, as well as *in vivo* in mice. They were found to be more potent than human BCMs and showed anxiolytic activity (in the elevated plus-maze test) after oral administration. The authors also simulated enzymatic conditions in which these soymorphins could be formed in the GI tract. In contrast to  $\beta$ casomorphins (human and bovine), hemorphin and "soymorphins', which show µ-receptor preference, gluten exorphins and rubiscolin are reported to be more  $\delta$ -receptor specific.


## 4.3 Non opioid receptor-mediated action of milk-derived peptides

#### 4.3.1 Milk protein-derived immunomodulatory peptides

It has been demonstrated that  $\kappa$ -casein and its caseinomacropeptide 106-169 fragment inhibit both the mitogen-induced Peyer's patch B lymphocytes' proliferation *in vitro* in mice and rabbits. It also inhibits the antibody response induced by sheep red blood cells on mice splenocytes (Otani *et al.*, 1992, 1995a,b,c). In addition,  $\alpha_{s1}$ -casein,  $\beta$ -casein and  $\kappa$ -casein hydrolysates inhibit *in vitro* B mitogen (LPS, pokeweed mitogen) or T mitogen (PHA, ConA) induced splenocytes and Peyer's patch lymphocyte proliferation (Otani *et al.*, 1993, 1995 a, b, c, 1996). A group of casein-derived peptides modulate the activity of macrophages, that is B and T lymphocytes (Parker *et al.*, 1984; Berthou *et al.*, 1987; Migliore Samour and Jollès, 1988; Kayser and Meisel, 1996).  $\beta$ -casomorphins may also affect the human mucosal immune system, possibly via opiate receptors in lamina propria lymphocytes (Elitsur *et al.*, 1991).

Two peptides isolated from human  $\beta$ -casein, the hexapeptide 54-59 (Val-Gly-Pro-Ile-Pro-Tyr) and the 60-62 tripeptide (Gly-Leu-Phe), were found to stimulate the *in vitro* phagocytic activity of sheep red blood cells by murine peritoneal macrophages. *In vivo* they prevented an infection of mice following intravenous injection of bacteria (*Klebsiella pneumoniae*). In addition, the opioid peptide isolated from  $\beta$ -casein (residues 63-68) has been shown to stimulate the immune system and particularly phagocytosis. Isracidin, the 1-23 N-terminal fragment from  $\alpha_{s1}$ -casein B protects mice against infection by *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Candida albicans* by stimulating phagocytosis and immune response (Lahov and Regelson, 1996). In addition,  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin and derived peptides could modulate intestinal cell proliferation and maturation (Alston-Mills *et al.*, 1997). An antimutagenic activity has also been observed in whey protein hydrolysates fermented by LAB (Ganjam *et al.*, 1997; Matar *et al.*, 1997). Furthermore, immunoactive peptides have been produced from  $\alpha$ -lactalbumin and lactoferrin. The mechanism by which these peptides exert their immunomodulatory effect has not yet been defined but it may be related to their binding/interaction with opiate receptors.

## 4.3.2 Other activities of food-derived opioid peptides

A link between hydrolysed casein formulas, BCM7 and  $\alpha$ -casein with pseudo-allergic skin reactions in children has been suggested (Kurek *et al.*, 1995; Kurek and Malaczynska, 1999). This observation was based on results from skin prick tests. The skin reactions could be prevented by pretreatment with antihistaminic drugs. In later studies with isolated rat mast cells,  $\alpha$ -casein was found to develop a stronger effect than BCM7. The stimulation of opioid receptors (in particular of the  $\mu$ -type) has been shown to cause pruritus and other sensitivity reactions which can be blocked by anti-histaminics (Ganesh and Maxwell, 2007; Woodall *et al.*, 2008). However, the reports by Kurek may also be related to non-specific mechanisms and do not seem to indicate a specific effect of BCMs.

Ingestion of milk protein components has been linked to tissue development (Britton and Kastin, 1991). For instance, casein-derived peptides have been shown to stimulate mitosis of different cell types (Azuma *et al.*, 1989; Nagaune *et al.*, 1989; Coste *et al.*, 1992) or to affect protein synthesis, proteolysis and ureogenesis (Takenaka *et al.*, 1991). This seems particularly important for immunocompetent cells since milk contains components which can modulate



the non-specific or specific immune systems. Moreover, it has been suggested that milk proteins may be involved in the induction of the autoimmune response in Type-1 or insulindependent diabetes (IDDM). This will be discussed in Chapter 4.5.4.

There have been some studies on interactions of casomorphins with receptors other than opioids. For example, Rüthrich *et al.* (1993) suggested that there may be an interaction with dopaminergic regulation systems. This was based on the effects of BCMs on apomorphine-induced hyperlocomotion in rats. However, there are no recent studies to confirm this hypothesis. Recently, one research group has suggested a possible interaction of BCM7 with serotonin systems (Sokolov *et al.*, 2005, 2006, 2008).

#### 4.4 Absorption and fate of peptides

#### 4.4.1 Factors affecting absorption of opioid peptides from the GI tract

The composition of the intestinal content, including food, is subject to significant variation. Gastric emptying and intestinal transit can significantly modify the time that a peptide is present at a site along the GI tract thereby impacting absorption. In addition, and depending on the pKa of the peptide, the pH microclimate could inhibit or favor peptide transport.

In healthy adults the absorption of peptides larger than di-tripeptides is usually highly restricted. In specific situations, such as during stress, certain diseases or aggression, both animals and humans display increased intestinal permeability. In the human neonate, the question as to whether a given peptide can be absorbed is more complex (Vaarala *et al.* 1998, 2008). The neonatal gut is known to be relatively permeable to proteins but with increasing age the permeability of the intestine to proteins and macromolecules decreases. Neonatal permeability of the GI tract for macromolecules and its alteration with time is speciesdependent. In piglets, a model close to the human newborn, the transport capacity decreases rapidly within the first days after birth (Pacha et al., 2000). There is a close relation between the degree of maturation and absorptive functions of the intestine. The transport of proteins plays an important function during early postnatal life as it facilitates the absorption of growth factors and immunoglobulins present in maternal milk. This is crucial for ungulates, such as piglets or calves that are born nearly agammaglobulinemic. Nevertheless, other mammals which are born more or less hypoglobulinemic, such as rat, mouse, or man, also receive IgG passively from the maternal milk through absorption in the proximal small intestine. Although intestinal absorption may occur in adults, for example during stress situations (Kuge et al., 2006) this group is less vulnerable and generally already exposed to a much greater diversity of peptides and proteins.

#### 4.4.2 Transfer mechanisms across the intestinal epithelium

There are two distinct pathways for peptides to cross the intestinal epithelium, i.e. the transcellular and the paracellular pathway, respectively. When transported transcellularly, peptides may be metabolised, they can be subject to carrier mediated transport (uptake, efflux, antiport, symport) or they can be transported by transcytosis and/or endocytosis (with or without hydrolysis). The translocation of peptides across Peyer's patches could provide another mechanism of transfer (Des Rieux *et al.*, 2006, Foltz *et al.*, 2008). Opioid peptides are



reported not to be transported by translocation across cellular membranes, that is a mechanism used by cell-penetrating peptides (CPPs) (Patel et al., 2007). The physicochemical properties of peptides, such as molecular size, hydrogen bonding, conformation, partition coefficient, hydrophilicity, lipophilicity, and electrostatic potential can modify the permeation of peptides. Opioid peptides are generally highly hydrophobic. Therefore, their transfer across the intestinal epithelium may not occur easily (via diffusion or paracellular pathways enhanced depending on their hydrophilicity, Iwan et al., 2008). The potential mechanisms of active transfer of opioid peptides across the intestinal epithelium have not been clearly established. The PEPT1, H<sup>+</sup>-coupled transporters, are widely expressed in intestinal epithelium and could carry only di- and tri-peptides (Ganapathy et al., 2005). The expression of OATP (Organic Anion Transporting Polypeptides) is widespread (intestine, brain notably) and three synthetic opioids have been shown to be carried by this type of transporter. A new Na<sup>+</sup>-dependent active transport (ARPE-19) has been found in a cell line of epithelial retinal pigment (RPE). This transport system accepts a variety of opioid peptides containing 4 to 13 amino acids, the distribution pattern of this transport system in tissues other than RPE in mammals is still unknown (Hu et al., 2003). Regardless of the barriers and the potential transport mechanisms described here it has been recognized that the intestinal mucosa does not present an absolute barrier that totally prevents peptide permeation. Various examples of biologically active peptides, including fragment of  $\alpha_{s1}$ -casein (residues 1-23, Chabance *et al.*, 1998) hexarelin (Roumi et al., 2001), pentapeptide from  $\beta$ -casein (HLPLP, Quiros et al., 2008), tetrapeptide (GGYR, Shimizu et al., 1997) octreotide (synthetic octapeptide analog of somatostatin, Dorkoosh et al., 2004) have been reported to cross the intestinal epithelium (using in vitro or *in vivo* models). Nevertheless, in all reports to date, peptides and peptidomimetics typically appear to show poor and variable oral bioavailability (Pauletti et al., 1996).

#### 4.4.3 Absorption of opioid peptides

The estimation of peptide bioavailability in humans is generally based on *in vitro* systems or in vivo animal models. In vitro models which are frequently used to screen for intestinal absorption include monolayers of the human intestinal cell line Caco-2 and freshly excised rat (or other species) intestinal mucosa mounted in Ussing- type chambers. Föger et al. (2008) showed that *in vitro* and *in vivo* correlations favour the use of Ussing chambers to predict bioavailability. The Caco-2 cell line, originally derived from a moderately well-differentiated human colon adenocarcinoma (Fogh et al., 1977) was shown to undergo spontaneous in vitro enterocytic differentiation (Pinto et al., 1983) leading to the formation of a monolayer of highly polarised cells in 2–3 weeks. These cells are joined by functional tight junctions, with well-developed and organized microvilli on the apical membrane. Differentiation of Caco-2 cells results in the polarised expression of brush border hydrolases (i.e. disaccharidases and peptidases) and of several transport proteins, normally expressed in the absorptive enterocyte of the small intestine (Zweibaum et al., 1991; Hidalgo and Li, 1996). The lack of mucus producing goblet cells is one of the major disadvantages of all cell based in vitro models (Hilgendorf *et al.* 2000). Furthermore a practical problem is that permeability data obtained in different laboratories are difficult to compare due to variation in cell line differentiation and selection of sub-populations (Hayeshi et al. 2008).



The Ussing chambers technique uses intestinal tissue which is mounted between two halfchambers, establishing a luminal and a serosal side. This allows different compartments of the gastro-intestinal tract, from the stomach to the rectum, to be studied at the same time. The ability to maintain intestinal tissue alive in a controlled environment has brought scientists to use this technique to study the permeability of intestinal tissue to various molecules, including ions, nutrients, drugs, small molecule probes and macromolecules (Boudry, 2005)

Shimizu *et al.* (1997) demonstrated transpithelial transport of (bovine) BCM5 by human intestinal Caco-2 cells. The relative flux of BCM5 increased by treating the layer with an inhibitor of dipeptidyl peptidase IV which is implicated in the hydrolysis of the peptide. Similar results were found by Iwan *et al.* (2008) who showed a significant transfer of BCM7 by Caco-2 cells. The permeability coefficients from apical to basolateral and from basolateral to apical side were not significantly different suggesting passive transport across the Caco-2 monolayer.

In the study of Singh *et al.* (1989), the level of BCM7 immunoreactive material (BCMIR) was compared in plasma of 2- and 4-week old pups and adult dogs after intake of bovine casein-based formula, canine milk and soy protein-based formula. Feeding with bovine casein-based formula increased BCMIR in plasma in 2- and 4-week old pups but not in adult dogs. BCMIR was not found after feeding of soy protein milk. The authors speculated that the intestinal mucosa of the newborn is more permeable to the relatively large peptides due to their immature tight junction through which peptides cross, thereby escaping hydrolysis. According to Singh *et al.* (1989), the BCMIR is longer than the heptapeptide (BCM7) molecule and probably consists of 12-13 amino-acid residues. It is interesting to mention that in this study, feeding with canine milk also increased BCMIR in the plasma of pups. In the same study, Singh *et al.* (1989) showed that BCM7 added to plasma was rapidly degraded whereas the BCMIR was stable in plasma.

Using rabbit ileum mounted in Ussing chambers Mahé *et al.* (1989a) showed that morphiceptin ( $\beta$ -CM4-NH<sub>2</sub>) was degraded by the intestinal mucosa whereas the  $\beta$ -[DAla2,4, Tyr5]-CM5-NH<sub>2</sub> peptide resisted hydrolysis and crossed the epithelium intact. The brushborder peptidases seem to be the limiting step of morphiceptin transfer with dipeptidyl peptidase IV enzyme playing a major role. By pre-treatment of the ileum with an inhibitor of dipeptidyl peptidase IV the transfer of morphiceptin across this epithelium can be increased.

Umbach *et al.* (1985) demonstrated the presence of BCMIR in the plasma of newborn calves after milk intake. This BCMIR was not identical to BCM7. Its elution profile during chromatography suggested that a considerably larger peptide exists containing the amino acid sequence of BCM7. The detected material might represent a precursor of BCM7 which could subsequently be released enzymatically at any site in the organism to elicit opioid effects.

Tomé *et al.* (1987) showed that BCM5, BCM4 and the analogue  $\beta$ -[DAla2,4, Tyr5]-CM5-NH<sub>2</sub> caused a naloxone-reversible reduction in short-circuit current after addition on the serosa side of intestinal mucosa. Only the analogue had an effect after addition on the mucosal side. Contrary to the analogue, no intact passage of BCM5 and BCM4 were observed.

Table 7 summarises the results of studies on the absorption of opioid peptides.

Peptides/molecules	Model	Transfer	Ref.s
BCM7 and -5	Caco-2	Yes (Transcellular)	lwan <i>et al.</i> , 2008 Shimizu <i>et al.</i> , 1997
β-CM4-NH <sub>2</sub> (morphiceptin) Tyr-D-Ala-Phe-DAla-Tyr-NH <sub>2</sub>	Ussing Chambers	No (yes with inhibitor of DPP IV) Yes	Mahé <i>et al.,</i> 1989a
Casein-based formula	<i>In vivo</i> (dog pup plasma)	Yes (BCM7 immunoreactive material)	Singh <i>et al.,</i> 1989
unmodified β-CMs β-[D-Ala <sup>2,4</sup> ,Tyr <sup>5</sup> ]CM-5-NH <sub>2</sub>	Ussing Chambers	No Yes (Transepithelial transfer)	Tomé <i>et al,.</i> 1987
Milk intake	<i>In vivo</i> (New Born calves)	Yes β-CM immunoreactive material precursor)	Umbach <i>et al.,</i> 1985

Table 7. Summa	ary of studies (	on absorption	of opioid peptides
	•		

#### 4.4.4 Transport in the blood stream

The issue of peptide transport in the circulation is complex. Blood contains substantial activities of peptidase enzymes. The half-life of certain peptides in plasma is very short, with an order of magnitude of one minute (Gardner, 1998). Angiotensin II degradation occurs even within seconds (Moskowitz, 2002, 2003). Nevertheless, peptides can also be more resistant to hydrolysis in blood, because they may be weakly bound to carrier proteins which can protect them. Noncovalent association with albumin has also been shown to extend the half-life of short lived proteins (Dennis *et al.*, 2002). Transferrin (Tf), an iron-transporting glycoprotein, also appears to be an appropriate candidate as a peptide carrier utilizing transcellular transport due to the high expression of the Tf receptor on both the brain endothelium and gastrointestinal epithelium (Tuma *et al.*, 2003). However, although its half-life is extended, a peptide associated with plasma protein is usually unavailable for binding to the target. To our knowledge, *in vivo* half-lives of BCMs in blood have not been measured.

#### 4.4.5 Transfer across the blood-brain barrier (BBB)

The BBB is a physical and metabolic barrier separating the microenvironment of the central nervous system (CNS) from the peripheral circulation. It is located at the level of cerebral microvessel endothelial cells, which possess morphological and enzymatic properties distinct from those of capillaries from other body sections. Some regions of the CNS do not express the classical BBB capillary endothelial cells, but have microvessels similar to those of the periphery. These areas are adjacent to the ventricles of the brain and are termed the



circumventricular organs (CVOs). CVOs are involved in neurohormonal secretion and monitoring of blood composition, in these regions the capillaries are more permeable to solutes (Egleton and Davis, 1997).

Four different Peptide Transport Systems have been described for the transfer of peptides across the BBB. They are referred to as PTS-1, PTS-2, PTS-3 and PTS-4. (Ganapathy *et al.*, 2005). Among these 4, only PTS-1 recognizes opioid peptides. The substrates of PTS-1 include Tyr-MIF-1, Met-enkephalin, Leu-enkephalin, BCM7, and dynorphin 1-8. (Ganapathy *et al.*, 2005). Turner *et al.* (1998) have shown that dynorphin 1-13 can cross the BBB in normal cat hippocampus, cortex and cerebellum tissue.

In conclusion, the hypothesis that an opioid peptide, present and available in the blood can cross the BBB, seems possible.

## 4.5 Organ and system-specific action of food-derived peptides

Food-derived peptides, depending on their absorption from the GI tract and their subsequent distribution in the body, can potentially act on different tissues and organs. However, the majority of studies to date are related to their possible effects on the gastrointestinal tract, the CNS and the cardiovascular system. Furthermore, the potential connection with an increased risk of developing IDDM has received considerable attention in the scientific literature. These topics will be addressed in this chapter.

#### 4.5.1 Effects of food-derived peptides on gastrointestinal function

Dietary proteins are known to have regulatory effects on digestive and metabolic processes. They modulate mucosal processes and the release of gastro-intestinal hormones, such as gastrin, cholecystokinin, secretin and gastrin inhibitory peptide with a subsequent regulatory effect on gastro-intestinal motility and on gastric and pancreatic secretions (Hara et al., 1992). These effects are partly mediated by amino acids present in the intestinal lumen and in the intestinal mucosa after their absorption. They could also be associated with the release of specific food protein-derived peptides during digestion which act either on the luminal part of the intestinal mucosa or on other targets after their absorption (Daniel et al., 1990). Casein has been demonstrated to efficiently stimulate intestinal secretion, thus suggesting the presence both in animals and in humans of specific casein-derived peptides acting on gastro-intestinal processes (Daniel et al., 1990; Yvon et al., 1994; Mahé et al., 1995, 1996). Case inomacropeptide, the  $\kappa$ -case in-derived fragment, has been proposed as one of these casein-derived bioactive peptides (Yvon et al., 1994; Beucher et al., 1994; Perdersen et al., 2000). Food-derived peptides, including casomorphins can also have different effects in the intestinal lumen and the intestinal mucosa. More specifically, BCMs can interact with endogenous opioid systems in the gastrointestinal wall in neonates as well as in adults.

Milk proteins and their peptides have been suggested to have an effect on the gastrointestinal ecosystem (Baldi *et al.*, 2005). For instance, casocidin I, the 165-203 fragment released from  $\alpha_{s2}$ -casein by chymosin, inhibits the growth of *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus carnosus* (Zucht *et al.*, 1995).  $\beta$ -casomorphins were also shown to modulate intestinal transport of amino acids (Brandsch *et al.*, 1994).  $\beta$ -casomorphin fragments were also demonstrated to modulate mucus secretion by intestinal mucus producing cells (Claustre *et al.*, 2002;

Trompette *et al.*, 2003; Zoghbi *et al.*, 2006). Orally administered milk protein-derived opioid peptides have been demonstrated to influence postprandial metabolism by stimulating pancreatic polypeptide, insulin and somatostatin secretion (Morley *et al.*, 1983; Schusdziarra *et al.*, 1983a,b; Takahashi *et al.*, 1997; Froetschel, 1996). They have also been suggested to attenuate the suppression of fat intake via enterostatin (White *et al.*, 2000). Furthermore, BCMs have been demonstrated to prolong gastrointestinal transit time (Daniel *et al.*, 1990; Becker *et al.*, 1990; Defilippi *et al.*, 1995; Mihatsch *et al.*, 2005). β-casomorphins could also modulate water and electrolyte absorption and exert an anti-diarrheal action in animals and in humans (Daniel *et al.* 1990). Evidence has accumulated that the enhancement of net water and electrolyte absorption by BCMs in the small intestine is a major component of their anti-diarrheal action which could be mediated via sub-epithelial opioid receptors or through specific luminal binding sites at the brush border membrane (Tomé *et al.*, 1987, 1988; Mahé *et al.*, 1989b).

#### 4.5.2 Effects of food-derived peptides on the central nervous system

#### 4.5.2.1 Opioid receptors in the CNS

Opioid receptors are widely distributed in the brain and are also found in spinal cord and peripheral sensory and autonomous nerves (Wittert *et al.*, 1996; Peckys and Landwehrmever, 1999; IUPHAR, 2008). Within the CNS, opioid receptors are involved in several, and rather diverse, effects and actions. These include analgesia, sedation, euphoria, dysphoria, appetite and eating behaviour, respiratory depression, cough reflexes, nausea and vomiting, and pupillary constriction. The µ-receptor, to which BCMs have been reported to bind preferentially (Brantl et al., 1981; Brantl et al., 1982; Koch et al., 1985) shows high expression levels in the thalamus, caudate putamen, neocortex, nucleus accumbens, amygdala, interpeduncular complex, and inferior and superior colliculi (IUPHAR, 2008). The  $\mu$ receptors are also present in the superficial layers of the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. A moderate density of µ receptors is found in periaqueductal gray and raphé nuclei. These brain regions have a well-established role in pain and analgesia. Morphine and other opiate analgesics, such as fentanyl belong to the most well-known agonists of the µ-receptors. Other physiological functions regulated by  $\mu$  receptors include respiratory and cardiovascular functions, intestinal transit, feeding, mood, thermoregulation, hormone secretion and immune functions.

#### 4.5.2.2 Actions of food – derived peptides on CNS functions: data from animal studies

There are quite a few studies on CNS effects of BCMs obtained in experimental animals. Except for the study with the related "soymorphins" (Ohinata *et al.*, 2007), the compounds were administered parenterally in all studies reported in the literature. Brantl *et al.* (1981) and Grecksch *et al.* (1981) were the first to report on analgesic activities of BCMs after intracerebro-ventricular (i.c.v.) injection to rats. They found that all four  $\beta$ -casomorphins studied (BCM4,-5,-7 and -8) elicited analgesia which could be completely antagonized by naloxone. Compared to other BCMs, BCM7 showed the slowest onset of action, but its effect also lasted for the longest period (90 min). The authors specifically remarked on the long duration of action which was much longer than that of endogenous peptides (for example enkephalins)

they had tested. Following these initial reports, several studies have confirmed CNS related effects of BCMs after parenteral administration to animals. A summary is given in Table 8.

Compounds	Animal model	Route of administration	Effect	Reference
BCM4,5,7,8	Rat	i.c.v.	Analgesic activity which was antagonised by naloxone	Brantl et al., 1981
BCM5	Rat	i.c.v.	Dose-dependent analgesic activity in two different tests, antagonised by naltrexone	Grecksch et al., 1981
BCM4,5,7	Young Chickens	i.c.v.	BCMs reduced separation induced distress vocalisations (DVs). BCM5 was more potent than either BCM4 or BCM7, with BCM7 having a somewhat longer effect. Effects were partially antagonised by naloxone	Panksepp <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1984
BCM5 and semi- synthetic derivatives	Rat	i.c.v. and i.v	Analgesis, BCM5 > 20 times less potent than morphine after i.c.v administration	Matthies <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 1984
BCM7	Rat (pups)	i.p. (1–100 mg/kg)	BCM7 had no effect on waking. At 100 mg/kg signs of sleep changes. No signs of respiratory depression. Naloxone pretreatment (1 mg/kg IP) reversed the effects of BCM7 on sleep.	Taira <i>et al.</i> , 1990
BCM7	Rat	i.p. (1 and 5 mg/kg)	Accelaration of learning of a food-procuring habit in a T-maze. Delayed learning of active avoidance response involving the use of a painful reinforcing stimulus	Maklakova <i>et al.</i> , 1995
BCM4,5,7	Rat	i.c.v.	Only BCM7 stimulated food intake of high fat meal. Antagonised by enterostatin and naloxone.	Lin <i>et al.</i> , 1998
BCM5	Mouse and Neuroblasto ma cells	i.c.v. and i.p.	BCM5 (i.c.v.) dose- dependently induced amnesia in mice .I.p administration of BCM5 (0.1–20 mg/kg) had no significant effect on either spontaneous alternation behavior or passive avoidance response. However, from a series of combination studies it was concluded that i.p. of a low dose (1 mg/kg) of BCM5 improves the disturbance of learning and memory resulting from cholinergic dysfunction through central mediation involving $\mu$ 1-opioid receptors. $\beta$ -casomorphins, including BCM7 were found to stimulate neurite outgrowth on neuroblastoma cells.	Sakaguchi et al., 2003a; Sakaguchi et al., 2003 b; Sakaguchi et al., 2006
BCM7, rubiscolin- 5 and exorphin C	Rat (pups)	i.p.	Postnatal learning. The three exomorphins improved the development of the conditioned foraging reflex in a complex maze. Only BCM7 had an effect (negative) on passive avoidance conditioning. Investigators' conclusion: exorphins, in particular $\beta$ -casomorphins, can have significant and long-term effects on the environmental adaptation of young mammals.	Dubynin et al., 2008
BCM7	Rat (newborn)	i.p.	<i>Ex-vivo</i> activation (DNA synthesis) of proliferative processes in the myocardium and ectodermal and endodermal epithelium of newborn rats.	Maslennikova et al., 2008
Soymorphins-5 (Tyr-Pro-Phe-Val- Val), -6 (Tyr-Pro- Phe-Val-Val-Asn) and -7 (Tyr-Pro- Phe-Val-Val-Asn- Ala)	Mouse	Oral	Anxiolytic activities after oral administration at doses of 10-30 mg/kg in the elevated plus-maze test in mice. Soymorphins were found to be more potent than human BCMs.	Ohinata et al., 2007

Table 8. CNS related effects of $\beta$ -casomorphins after parenteral administration to anim	nals
---	------

i.c.v. = intra-cerebro-ventricular ; i.p. = intra-peritoneal

## 4.5.2.3 Possible links of $\beta$ -casomorphins with CNS-associated disorders or diseases in humans

Given the possible link between BCMs and CNS-associated disorders, much attention has been given to autism and to a lesser extent to the issue of ventilation disorders and sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS).

#### 4.5.2.4 Ventilation disorders, sudden infant death, sleep (and sleep apnea)

The respiratory depressing activity of opioids in general is well-known. In the clinical setting, respiratory depression may limit the use of opioid analgesia. The fundamental drive for respiration is generated in the brainstem and is modulated by factors that include conscious inputs from the cortex, central (brainstem), and peripheral (carotid and aortic bodies) chemoreceptors that sense changes in the chemical constituents of blood (Pattinson, 2008). Opioids depress respiration by a number of mechanisms and neuronal sites of action, and differences between various opioids exist, even within a specific class (e.g. µ-receptor binding compounds). There are also links between opioid use, sleep apnea and sleep disturbances in general (Wang and Teichtahl, 2007). Opioid receptors are located in the same nuclei that are active in sleep regulation and opioid peptides are suggested to be involved in the induction and maintenance of the sleep state. Abnormal sleep architecture has been reported during the process of opioid induction, maintenance and withdrawal. During induction and maintenance of opioid use there is a reduction of rapid eye movement (REM) sleep and slow wave sleep. More recently, central sleep apnea (CSA) has been reported with chronic opioid use and 30% of stable methadone maintenance treatment patients have CSA.

The pathogenesis of SIDS is complex and multifactorial. Sun *et al.* (2003) have reviewed the possible relationship between BCMs and SIDS. This review is based on the assumption that BCMs might be absorbed from the infant's GI tract and that they also easily pass through the BBB because of the infant's immature CNS. Based on these assumptions, the authors speculate that in infants with abnormal respiratory control and vagal nerve development, opioid peptides derived from milk might induce depression of the brain-stem respiratory centers, leading to apnea and death. As bovine BCMs might be more potent than their analogues in human milk or have different relative receptor preference this might increase the risk for SIDS. However, Sun *et al.* (2003) also mention that infants fed either formula preparations or human milk have a similar risk of developing SIDS.

#### 4.5.2.5 Autism

Autistic spectrum disorders (ASDs) usually include autism, atypical autism, Asperger's syndrome and some related disorders (Cass *et al.*, 2006) Autism is a complex neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impaired reciprocal social interaction, impaired communication, and restricted, repetitive, or stereotyped behaviors (Barbaresi *et al.*, 2006). The population of children with autism is very heterogeneous. Autism and related conditions in the autism spectrum have become the focus of intense interest which is also stimulated by public concerns about the apparent increase in the number of children with these developmental disorders. The aetiology of ASDs is still unclear, and medical or psychological treatment options often provide disappointing results. Probably also as a result of this,



considerable attention is being paid to nutritional, other environmental factors and complementary therapies (Barbaresi *et al.*, 2006).

Among these, the "leaky gut" concept has attracted much attention. This concept is often also linked to another hypothetical cause, which is vaccination. For example, there have been concerns about the potential role of the measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine in the causation of autism. This theory suggests that the MMR vaccine produces enterocolitis, thereby causing or increasing a "leaky gut". In the meantime, epidemiologic studies have failed to show an association between the MMR vaccine and autism. The "leaky gut" concept itself has been fueled in particular by the publication of Cade et al. (2000) which is based on the increase of peptide containing peaks in urine samples of autistic and schizophrenic patients. However, these peaks have only been partly characterized. Moreover, the dietary intervention that apparently led to improvements was both gluten- and casein free. Nevertheless, the "leaky gut" concept has received considerable support and has become the basis of diets that exclude gluten and casein for ASD patients. Further support has come from Reichelt and Knivsberg (2003) who presented an "autism model", suggesting that exorphins and serotonin uptake modulators are key mediators in the development of autism. They speculated that this is due to a genetically based peptidase deficiency in at least two or more peptidases and/or of peptidase regulating proteins.

Since then however, this model has been questioned by many authors. In subsequent studies using more sensitive and specific LC/MS based analytical methods, the peptides could not be detected. Hunter et al. (2003) tried to confirm the presence of opioid peptides in the urine of children with autism and to determine whether dipeptidyl peptidase IV is defective in children with autism. However, they were not able to detect opioid peptides nor did they find any proof for a dipeptidyl peptidase IV deficiency in these children. Recently, Cass et al. (2008) using MALDI-TOF MS to analyse opioid-derived peptides concluded that there was no evidence for any opioid peptiduria in children with autism. They state that "opioid peptides can neither serve as a biomedical marker for autism nor be employed to predict or monitor response to a casein- and gluten-free diet". Christison and Ivany (2006) reviewed the gluten and casein elimination diets, concluding that the currently available data are inadequate to guide treatment recommendations and that diets eliminating both gluten and casein (rather than either alone) should be studied first and that outcome measures should include assessments of nonverbal cognition. Dettmer et al. (2007) were also unable to detect gliadinomorphin, BCMs, deltorphin 1, or deltorphin 2 in urine of children with ASD. A recent Chochrane review (Millward et al., 2008) also concluded that despite the high rates of use of complementary and alternative therapies (CAM) for children with autism including gluten and/or casein exclusion diets, current evidence for the efficacy of these diets is poor. In conclusion, recent data do not provide any support to link intake of casein or peptides derived from it to ASD.

#### 4.5.3 Effect of milk- derived peptides on cardiovascular health

In relation to cardiovascular health most attention has focused on the antihypertensive properties of food-derived peptides. In animal models and human intervention studies, several of these peptides, including those that can be formed from milk proteins, have been shown to

reduce blood pressure. It was recently demonstrated that the lactotripeptide Ile-Pro-Pro selectively escapes intestinal degradation and reaches the circulation undegraded (Foltz et al.2007). The properties and clinical effects of antihypertensive milk peptides have been reviewed in many recent papers (Korhonen and Pihlanto, 2006; FitzGerald and Meisel, 2007; Hartmann and Meisel, 2007; Hong et al., 2008; Möller et al., 2008; Saito, 2008) The most important mechanism, at least *in vitro*, seems to be inhibition of ACE. Although the discussion about its relevance and the long-term effects on clinical endpoints continues, the reduction in blood pressure by food-derived peptides is generally considered as beneficial.

#### 4.5.3.1 Oxidation of LDL

In relation to casomorphins, there have been some suggestions that BCM7 could be proatherogenic (Allison and Clarke, 2006) This effect is supposed to be mediated via stimulation of the oxidation of low-density lipoproteins (LDL).

The LDL fraction is an important lipid carrier in plasma, and consists of cholesteryl ester, phospholipids, free cholesterol and triglyceride, and apolipoprotein B100 (ApoB100) (Stocker and Keaney, 2004). LDL is derived in the circulation from VLDL. It is essential for the transport of cholesterol to peripheral tissues and the regulation of cholesterol metabolism at these sites. Like VLDL. LDL contains ApoB100 as apoprotein, a 500 kDa single peptide chain synthesised in the liver. LDL is extremely susceptible to oxidative damage (Steinberg, 1997; Steinberg, 2002; Stocker and Keaney, 2004; Beck *et al.*, 2008; Matsuura *et al.*, 2008).

This oxidation is considered as a key factor in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. Elevated circulating oxidised LDL particles (oxLDLs) are associated with more severe atherosclerotic lesions. High circulating levels of oxLDLs have been shown to be independently predictive of sub-clinical atherosclerosis and acute coronary heart disease. It is assumed that LDL oxidation does not take place in the circulation because of the high anti-oxidant activity in plasma. Instead, LDL is supposed to be oxidised in the subendothelial space where it may be exposed to cell-derived free radicals and other reactive oxygen- and nitrogen species. The bidirectional transit of LDL across this space may also result in a small amount of circulating oxLDL (Stocker and Keaney, 2004). When LDL is oxidised, the molecule is recognized by scavenger receptors present on macrophages which do not bind native LDL. These macrophages can become lipid laden, transforming to socalled foam cells. In addition, oxLDL has many other properties that are potentially proatherogenic. For example, oxLDL is itself directly chemotactic for monocytes and T cells (Steinberg, 2002). Oxidised LDL is immunogenic (Matsuura et al., 2008). A large number of epitopes within the ApoB100 component of oxidised LDL have been identified that provoke an immune response (Stocker and Keaney, 2004). As a result, antibodies against oxLDL and its complexes may also be markers of cardiovascular diseases. It should be noted that in addition to LDL oxidation, other processes, such as inflammation, are important in the development of atherosclerosis (Steinberg, 2002). In addition to foam cells, other cell types, such as vascular smooth muscle cells and lymphocytes participate in plaque formation (Stocker and Keaney, 2004). In LDL oxidation, both the lipids and the apoB100 are oxidised. LDL oxidation is stimulated in a lipid-rich environment and probably also after consuming a

high fat meal which stimulates oxidative stress conditions (Campbell *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, it is increased by cigarette smoking and with obesity (Beck *et al.*, 2008).

Several anti-oxidants have been shown to inhibit LDL oxidation (Campbell *et al.*, 2006; Lapointe *et al.*, 2006). The *in vivo* evidence is less consistent, especially with studies using flavonoid or vitamin supplements (Lapointe *et al.*, 2006). A healthy food pattern, such as the Mediterranean-style diet has been associated with decreased oxidation of LDL, whereas low serum carotenoids have been associated with higher ox-LDL (Lapointe *et al.*, 2006; Beck *et al.*, 2008).

Other compounds that may inhibit LDL oxidation include estrogens, melatonin and brain monoamines (Lin et al., 2006). Most interestingly, also peptides can act as inhibitors of LDL oxidation. Lin et al., (2006) reported that endomorphin-1 and endomorphin-2 may inhibit the formation of oxLDL. The anti-oxidant properties of small peptides in general, including those of enkephalins have been more extensively studied. Several peptides possess free radical scavenging activities and the capacity to reduce reactive oxygen species (ROS)-induced lipid peroxidation (Coccia et al., 2001; Fontana et al., 2001). Food-derived peptides can also act as anti-oxidants. This includes peptides from dairy sources, including bovine (Suetsuna et al., 2000) and ovine (Gómez-Ruiz et al., 2008) casein and bovine whey (Peng et al., 2008). The original hypothesis of a pro-oxidant effect of BCM7 dates back to the report of Torreilles and Guerin (1995). These authors report the ex-vivo stimulation of LDL oxidation by bovine casein hydrolysates with tyrosyl residues. However, Tyr-residues are very common in foodderived peptides. The findings of Torreilles and Guerin are in contrast to later reports and may possibly be due to specific experimental conditions. Apart from the original communication proposing a role for BCM7 in LDL oxidation (Torreilles and Guerin, 1995) there are no other studies reported to confirm this hypothesis.

## 4.5.3.2 Effects of BCM7 in a rabbit model for atherosclerosis

The publication of Tailford *et al.* (2003) describing the effects of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> versus  $\beta$ -casein  $A^2$  on atherosclerosis development in a rabbit model for restenosis has received considerable attention. In this model endothelial injury is induced using a balloon catheter inserted into the carotid artery (Manderson et al., 1989). Following surgery, rabbits were fed for 6 weeks a diet containing 0, 5, 10 or 20% case in isolate, either  $\beta$ -case in variant A<sup>1</sup> or A<sup>2</sup> made up to 20% milk protein with whey. Some groups had their diets supplemented with 0.5% cholesterol. The authors reported that in the absence of dietary cholesterol,  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> produced significantly higher serum cholesterol, LDL, HDL and triglyceride levels than on a whey diet alone which in turn produced higher levels than  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup>. Rabbits fed  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> were found to have a higher percent surface area of aorta covered by fatty streaks than those fed βcase  $A^2$  and the thickness of the fatty streak lesions in the aortic arch was significantly higher. From their results, the authors concluded that  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> was atherogenic whereas  $\beta$ case  $A^2$  was not. However, according to the journal editor, this conclusion can be considered as premature (Mann and Skeaff, 2003). In the model used, an acute tissue repair process is dominating which is different from the slowly developing atherosclerosis process as it occurs in man. Fatty streaks are made up of foam cells which during normal atherosclerosis develop from macrophages that have taken up oxLDL. In a damaged vessel

wall there may be considerable oxidative stress which induces oxLDL formation. The model have also been found to be sensitive to variations in dietary composition in general (Stocker and Keaney, 2004) and the rabbit is particularly sensitive to cholesterol. Therefore, small differences in dietary composition not related to case may also have played a role.

Given the specific limitations of the experimental animal model (rabbit restenosis model) the study of Tailford *et al.* (2003) does not appear to be relevant to support the suggested proatherosclerotic role of BCM7.

#### 4.5.3.3 Human studies

The hypothesis suggesting a possible health impact of BCMs and related peptides, in particular BCM7, is largely based on ecological studies correlating a few environmental factors and the prevalence/incidence of some non-communicable diseases. General considerations on human correlational studies and additional considerations on their uncertainty are, therefore, appropriate (Morgenstern and Thomas, 1993). The relationship between a disease and genetic, behavioural or environmental factors is complex. The establishment of a mono-causal theory to explain the prevalence/incidence of a disease is therefore problematic. The most appropriate way to confirm a hypothesis is to conduct a prospective cohort study at an individual level throughout life, collect complete data on genetics, diet, lifestyle and environment and analyse the data on the disease prevalence/incidence while adjusting for all other possible influencing factors.

However, due to the large amount of data which has to be collected and the time such a study would take, many other approaches are used. Examples are shorter prospective studies and trials with different endpoints as for example risk factors for the disease in question. For many diseases this is extremely hard as risk factors are not known or not measurable.

Another choice is represented by a case-control study matching to each observed case (person with diagnosed disease) a fixed number of controls (persons without the disease). Other influencing factors, including sex, age, time point, living region and social status should be as much as possible similar between the case and the controls. At the same time the variation in the suspected influencing factor should be large enough to observe an effect, which can be distinguished from a random variation. However, case-control studies need to assess retrospectively the value of the suspected influencing factor, when it is supposed to have caused the disease. This can vary for some diseases from the prenatal period and infancy to adulthood, therefore some important information may not be available. The same problem arises when other influencing factors can be presumed but not assessed. These factors which are unknown but which may have an impact on the disease are called "confounders" or "confounding factors". These weaknesses justify the fact that case-control studies are less credited to show evidence for an assumed relationship.

An additional way to test a hypothesis is to conduct an ecological study. This approach has intrinsic weakness. Instead of collecting data at individual level, summarised data at group level are used and compared. These data are generally easier to access but the implicit assumption of homogeneity at individual level is in most cases incompatible with a use of the results of the study to demonstrate a cause – effect association. This can only be a first step to gain evidence for a hypothesis.

The processes leading to major cardiovascular diseases (CVD), such as ischaemic heart disease and stroke, are multifactorial and develop usually over a long period before diagnosed, most typically, after the age of 50 to 60 years. CVD is considered as a lifestyle disease complex and in many countries, in particular in countries with high living standards, the prevalence of CVD is high being the major cause of mortality (WHO, 2003). Therefore, CVD has been extensively investigated for decades. Many risk factors have been defined and some of them develop over a series of years, even from early childhood. These include high blood pressure, high LDL cholesterol, low HDL-cholesterol, inflammatory markers, homocysteine, smoking, physical inactivity and central obesity. On the other hand, the increased prevalence of obesity in young populations has been associated with increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes among young people. Type 2 diabetics have an increased risk of CVD. Current scientific research associates CVD and type 2 diabetes with inflammatory, immunological and metabolic disorders in the organ functions. The fundamental mechanisms of these dysfunctions are not fully understood but recent hypotheses implicate chronic inflammation as one of the causal factors. The potential role of diet in regulating the initiation and development of inflammatory processes in the body has been recently reviewed (Nicklas et al. 2005).

Some ecological studies have linked the intake of  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  with cardiovascular disease mortality. These studies have used an estimated per capita consumption of  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  from dairy foods, based on other studies and statistical reports. The compiled data included for example protein content and allele frequency distributions of  $\beta$ -casein in milk of different cow breeds in selected countries. The calculated  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  intake figures were then correlated to the CVD prevalence in the same countries.

An early report hypothesised an association between estimated milk protein intake (not including cheese) and deaths from coronary heart disease (Seely, 1981). McLachlan (2001) subsequently suggested a strong correlation between the estimated per capita intake of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> (excluding protein from cheese) in 16 countries around 1980 and ischaemic heart disease mortality as recorded 5 or 10 years later. In the same study he suggested that "there may be an intimate relationship between smoking, the consumption of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and deaths from CVD and lung cancer".

Laugesen and Elliott (2003a,b) also reported a correlation between the calculated per capita consumption of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> (excluding protein from cheese and butter) and the prevalence of ischaemic heart disease mortality in 20 countries. However, in contrast with the previously mentioned study, this latter study could not find a relationship between the consumption of tobacco and CVD. This illustrates the fact that ecological studies cannot adjust for all the confounding factors.

Using data from the 1970s, Hill *et al.* (2002) reported a similar association as the above researchers concerning the consumption of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and the prevalence of CVD. However, when using data from the 1990s the association was weak. These authors concluded that since the relative proportion of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> was apparently increasing in milk over this time period



in the relevant countries, the consumption of this protein had no effect on ischaemic heart disease related mortality (Hill *et al.* 2002). In contrast to the above studies, more recent large cohort studies have suggested a beneficial role for milk consumption in the prevention of heart disease and stroke (Elwood *et al.* 2004a,b, 2005a,b).

Two human intervention studies have been published about the possible relationship between consumption of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> or A<sup>2</sup> and CVD. Chin-Dusting *et al.* (2006) performed a double blind crossover study in 15 subjects who received 25 g/day of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> compared with the same dose of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>2</sup> for 12 weeks. No differences were found in any of the endothelial and functional tests performed between the two treatments. Venn *et al.* (2006) tested whether  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and A<sup>2</sup> variants differentially affected plasma cholesterol concentrations in humans. In a randomised crossover trial with 62 subjects of two four-and-a-half week periods without washout they found no evidence that dairy products containing  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> or A<sup>2</sup> exerted differential effects (P > 0.05) on plasma cholesterol concentrations. According to these results,  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> does not seem to be linked to cardiovascular disease. Even though randomised intervention studies are considered to provide the strongest body of evidence the above studies do not allow firm conclusions to be made, given the limited number of subjects and the short intervention periods.

Therefore, overall, it can be concluded that, to date no definitive scientific data exist that link consumption of  $\beta$ -casein variants with increased risk of CVD in humans.

#### 4.5.4 Food-derived peptides and type 1 diabetes mellitus

#### 4.5.4.1 Pathogenesis and incidence of type 1 diabetes

Type 1 diabetes (insulin dependent diabetes mellitus) is an autoimmune disease induced in genetically predisposed individuals by environmental factors and results from the progressive destruction of insulin secreting pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells by autoreactive T-lymphocytes and macrophages, leading to insulin deficiency, probably over a period of months or years (Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994; Simone and Eisenbach, 1996; Rabinovitch and Suarez-Pinzon, 1998; Schranz and Lernmark, 1998). At least half of the patients are diagnosed before or around reaching puberty (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001). The development of type 1 diabetes in genetically susceptible individuals has been divided into a series of steps, including its "triggering" by environmental risk factors, the induction of active cellular autoimmunity against islet cells often associated with the presence of auto-antibodies and the loss of  $\beta$ -cell function and progressive total or near total  $\beta$ -cell destruction with insulin dependence.

Type 1 diabetes is the second most common chronic childhood disease in the world after allergy (David *et al.*, 1994). The incidence has been increasing worldwide although there is large geographical variation (Akerblom and Knip 1998; Onkamo *et al.*, 1999; Atkinson and Eisenbarth 2001; Peter 2007). It has been suggested that the incidence of type 1 diabetes will be about 40% higher in 2010 than in 1998 (Onkamo *et al.*, 1999). The increase in recent years has been most pronounced in very young children (Tuomilehto *et al.*, 1999; Dahlquist and Mustonen 2000; Pozzilli *et al.*, 2007). Incidence figures originate from researchers and registers within a country, sometimes collected in review papers (Onkamo *et al.*, 1999), or



they are collected by organizations, such as the DIAMOND study of the World Health Organization (Karvonen *et al.*, 1993; Karvonen *et al.*, 2000; DIAMOND 2006) or the EURODIAB group (Green *et al.*, 1992; EURODIAB 2000). Incidence figures represent the whole country or specific regions. The highest incidence is found in Caucasian populations and particularly in Northern Europe (Onkamo *et al.*, 1999). Finland is reported to have a very high incidence of type 1 diabetes. This may be due to a special genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes and exposure to specific, as yet unknown, environmental factors that trigger the disease more efficiently (Tuomilehto-Wolf *et al.*, 1989; Reijonen *et al.*, 1991).

Type 1 diabetes patients present autoantibodies that recognise insulin secreting pancreatic  $\beta$ cell protein autoantigens. These autoantibodies are measured and used to identify subjects at risk of developing type 1 diabetes. In 80-90% of patients, autoantibodies can be detected against at least one of three islet cell autoantigen (ICA) proteins, including insulin or proinsulin, the smaller form of the neuroendocrine enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD65) and a 40-kDa tryptic fragment of the  $\beta$ -islet cell tyrosine phosphatase (called ICA512 or IA-2) (Ziegler et al., 1991; Julier et al., 1991; Hawa et al., 1997). These autoantibodies are associated with a high risk (68-90%) for development of the disease (Verge et al., 1996; Pietropaolo et al., 1998). Auto-antibodies to other islet cell proteins are less frequent and include GAD67 that cross-reacts with GAD65 and possibly ICA69 (also named p69), a 69kD  $\beta$ -cell membrane protein which is inducible by interferon gamma and carboxypeptidase (Castano, 1991; Pietropaolo et al., 1993; Riechter et al., 1993; Lampasona et al., 1994; Martin et al., 1996). Autoantigen-specific T cell clones have also been described from patients with type 1 diabetes (Naguet, 1988; Hammer et al., 1993; Atkinson et al., 1994; McLaurin et al., 1995; Rammensee et al., 1995; Endl et al., 1996; Wicker et al., 1996; Palmer et al., 1997; Verheijden et al., 1997; Geluk et al., 1998; Schloot et al., 1997). Nevertheless, in contrast to other autoimmune conditions in which the autoantibodies may be directly responsible for disease pathology (Solimena et al., 1990; Blackett et al., 1994; Bhol et al., 1995; Elkon 2000) the role of autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes is currently not known and in no case have autoantibodies been proven to be directly involved either in tissue destruction or in disease progression (Hagopian et al., 1993; Kim et al., 1994; Wucherphennig et al., 1995, 1994; Bach et al., 1997; Patel et al., 1997; Falcone et al., 1998). Studies support the findings that T cell proliferative responses to self peptides are not disease-specific (Cosgrove *et al.*, 1991; Kileen et al., 1993; Fugger et al., 1994; Van der Auwera et al., 1996; Undlien, 1997).

The finding that a gut-specific adhesion molecule (a4b7-integrin) was expressed in a specific population of  $\beta$ -cell-reactive T-lymphocytes was discussed as a link between the gut immune system and type 1 diabetes (Paronen *et al.*, 1997). It was hypothesised that dysregulation of the gut immune system could result in an unspecific stimulation of recirculating lymphocytes which finally react with pancreatic antigens (Akerblom and Vaarala, 1997).

## 4.5.4.2 Genetic and environmental factors and involvement of milk in type 1 diabetes

The genetic origin of type 1 diabetes is clear (Redondo *et al.*, 1999; Zalloua *et al.*, 2002) but genetic predisposition alone is not sufficient to cause the disease. The prevalence of type 1 diabetes in the general population is low (0.5-1%) while 20-30% of the population have disease-susceptible human leukocyte antigen (HLA) alleles.



The risk of type 1 diabetes is higher in monozygotic twins than in dizygotic twins and firstdegree relatives, but the concordance rate for monozygotic twins is only 30-50% (Kyvik et al., 1992; Kaprio et al., 1995). Only 10-15% of all new cases of type 1 diabetes have a close family history of the disease (Tuomilehto et al., 1992; Bingley et al., 1993; Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994; Dahlquist and Mustonen, 2000). The association between autoimmune disease and certain major histo-compatibility complex-HLA class II alleles has been described (Svejgaard *et al.*, 1982). The main locus defining the genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes is encoded within the HLA region on human chromosome 6 (Thomson, 1984; Todd et al., 1987; Morel et al., 1988; Schrezenmeier et al., 1993; Davies et al., 1994; Todd and Farrall, 1996; Sanjeevi et al., 1996; She et al., 1996; Buzzetti et al., 1998; Sanjeevi 2000). HLA diversity in different populations may have implications for both diabetes prediction and incidence. Several non-HLA gene associations have also been identified, such as the insulin gene region but their exact role in the risk of type 1 diabetes awaits clarification (Davies *et al.*, 1994; Buzzetti et al., 1998; Ikegami et al., 2006). Other candidate loci associated with this disease have also been proposed on chromosomes 2, 11, and 15 (Field et al., 1994; Hashimoto et al., 1994; Owerbach and Gabbay, 1995; Nistico et al., 1996; Larsen et al., 1999; Marron et al., 2000).

The pathologic development of the disease is the result of a combination of genetic and environmental risk factors (Elliott, 1989; Atkinson and Maclaren, 1994; Dahlquist, 1994; Drash et al., 1994; Akerblom and Knip, 1998; Schrezenmeir and Jagla, 2000). Environmental factors have a high impact on disease development (60% to 70%) and the increasing incidence and prevalence of diabetes worldwide can only be explained by environmental changes (Amos et al., 1997; King et al., 1998). The importance of environmental factors in the aetiology of type 1 diabetes is indicated by the observation that the risk that monozygotic twins both develop diabetes is low (Kaprio et al., 1992; Kyvik et al., 1995), by its different incidences in nations that are genetically close, such as the Nordic countries (Wijsman 1984; Backman et al., 1998) and by migration studies showing that the migrant population often develops towards a similar incidence to that found in the new country (Bodansky *et al.*, 1992; Elliott 1992; David et al., 1994). The possible mechanisms by which environmental risk factors trigger type 1 diabetes are classified in three main non exclusive categories. They include (1) a direct initial inflammatory disruption of pancreatic islets by "toxic agents"; (2) an immunological effect in part ascribed to structural similarities between certain regions of foreign proteins and islet cell antigens; (3) an impairment of both the discrimination between "foreign" and "own" haptens (Leech 1998) and the gut associated immune system (Vaarala, 2008).

Dietary risk factors are important in type 1 diabetes. Some studies have found an association between type 1 diabetes and short duration of breast feeding, early introduction of cow's milk, consumption of milk in childhood or per capita milk consumption (Borch-Johnsen *et al.*, 1984; Mayer *et al.*, 1988; Siemiatycki *et al.*, 1989; Scott 1990; Dahl-Jorgensen *et al.* 1991; Virtanen *et al.*, 1991; Kostraba *et al.*, 1993; Virtanen *et al.*, 1993; Fava *et al.* 1994; Gerstein 1994; Virtanen *et al.*, 1994a, b, c; Vaarala *et al.*, 1995; Norris and Scott 1996; Perez-Bravo *et al.*, 1996; Gimeno *et al.*, 1997; Virtanen *et al.*, 1998; Schrezenmeir and Jagla, 2000). However, such an association is not observed in all the studies (Nigro *et al.*, 1985; Fort *et al.*,

1986; Kyvik *et al.*, 1992; Samuelsson *et al.*, 1993; Bodington *et al.*, 1994; Patterson *et al.*, 1994; Norris *et al.*, 1996; Meloni *et al.*, 1997; Thorsdottir *et al.*, 2000; Zalloua *et al.*, 2002). In addition, regions with different levels of milk consumption present similar incidence of diabetes (Reunanen *et al.*, 1982; Fava *et al.*, 1994; Muntoni *et al.*, 1997; Elliott *et al.*, 1999; Lien *et al.*, 1999; Thorsdottir *et al.* 2000; Kaminsky, 2007).

Other dietary risk factors include soy milk formulas, gluten and wheat consumption at young age (Scott et al., 1997; Akerblom and Knip 1998; Strotmeyer et al., 2004; Frisk et al., 2008). About one out of 20 type 1 diabetics also has coeliac disease (Savilahti et al., 1986; Atkinson and Eisenbarth 2001; Hansen et al. 2001; Franzese et al. 2007; Dubois PC and van Heel 2008; Frisk et al., 2008). Moreover, solid food intakes resulted in a higher risk in individuals genetically predisposed to diabetes (Kostraba et al., 1992, 1993; Perez-Bravo et al., 1996). Certain toxic chemicals are also proposed as risk factors. These include N-nitroso derivatives, such as streptozotocin (Knip and Akerblom, 1999), a compound toxic to  $\beta$ -cells and extensively used in inducing type 1 diabetes in experimental animals (Lampeter et al., 1989). A possible role of nitrates has been suggested in both an animal and an observational study (Helgason and Jonasson 1981; Helgason et al., 1982). This finding has been supported by some epidemiological studies (Virtanen et al., 1994b) while some others do not find an association (Muntoni et al., 2006a,b). In contrast, vitamin E (Knekt et al., 1999) and vitamin D (EURODIAB 1999; Stene et al., 2000; Hypponen et al., 2001) are considered potential preventive factors in humans. Supplementation studies ongoing for several years among children at risk for diabetes have investigated the effect of nicotinamide suggesting it to have a beneficial effect (Elliott et al., 1996b; Lampeter et al., 1998) although this has later been disputed (Hypponen, 2004).

Other risk factors are also involved in type 1 diabetes. High growth rate has been proposed as a risk factor (Blom et al. 1992; Johansson et al., 1994). It has been discussed whether higher weight gain in infants fed formula compared to breast milk might explain the relationship seen as not being due to the consumption of cow's milk (protein) per se (Johansson et al., 1994; Akerblom and Knip, 1998). Accelerated linear growth and increasing body mass has been suggested to contribute to the rising incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes. This effect might be mediated through increased beta-cell stress induced by hyperinsulinemia and decreased insulin sensitivity (Knip et al., 2008). Other proposed risk factors include coffee or tea consumption (Virtanen et al., 1994c), physiological stress (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001), climatic variations (Helgason et al., 1992), exposure to insecticides (Akerblom and Knip, 1998), poor sanitation, lack of access to health care and vaccination (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001). Lastly viral infections, such as coxsackie B4 virus and the cytomegalovirus are probably also involved (Akerblom and Knip, 1998; Dahlquist, 1997). Coxsackie B4 virus is one of the viruses most associated with type 1 diabetes and some studies show the presence of immune responses to coxsackie virus antigens in type 1 diabetes children and suggest its implication with type 1 diabetes autoimmunity. This may be either by direct inflammatory disruption of islets or induction of an immune response (Juhela et al., 2000; Serreze et al., 2000; Jaïdane and Hober, 2008). In contrast, a reduced risk has been associated with multiple infections during the first few years of life, while an increased risk has been associated with perinatal infections. A protective effect of preschool day care has been suggested. This theory



has been linked to the age-dependent modifying influence of infections on the developing immune system (Atkinson and Eisenbarth, 2001).

#### 4.5.4.3 Specific immune response to cows' milk protein in type 1 diabetes

The enhanced cellular and humoral immune responses to dietary antigens observed in type 1 diabetes have not been directly implicated in the pathogenetic process. Alternatively, it could be explained by an impaired tolerance to dietary antigens due to regulatory defects in the gut immune system in general (Brandtzaeg, 2002; Vaarala, 2002; Flohé *et al.*, 2003). Given the strong association between the HLA class II genes and susceptibility to autoimmune disease, the complex between an autoantigenic peptide, an MHC (Major Histocompatibility Complex) molecule and a T cell receptor is an obvious focus of interest (Parry *et al.*, 1998). Several studies have investigated antibody as well as T cell responses to distinct cow's milk proteins in diabetics compared to controls to identify possible diabetogenic factors. The main suspected milk antigens are bovine serum albumin (BSA), bovine insulin,  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin and  $\beta$ -casein (Karjalainen *et al.*, 1992; Drash *et al.*, 1994; Vaarala *et al.*, 1996; Vaarala *et al.*, 1998; Monetini *et al.*, 2002, 2003; Luopajärvi *et al.*, 2008).

Some studies have reported enhanced humoral immune response to various cow's milk proteins in infancy in a subgroup of children fed standard, non-hydrolysed infant formula who later progress to type 1 diabetes (Luopajarvi et al., 2008). Elliott and Martin (1984) reported that addition of skim milk powder to a protein-free diet produced diabetes in the spontaneous diabetes model bio breeding (BB) rats with an incidence of 52%. A semi-synthetic amino acid diet reduced the incidence to 15%. The effect seemed to be established during the early postnatal period (Daneman et al., 1987). However, in another study, diabetogenic food components resulted in diabetes as late as puberty in the BB rat or even later in the non-obese diabetic (NOD) mouse (Coleman et al., 1990). In addition, not only milk ingestion but also introduction of meat and soy protein increased autoimmune diabetes in those animal models (Scott, 1990; Elliott et al., 1988). Other authors have not confirmed the effect of cows' milk protein on diabetes frequency. Malkani et al. (1997) reported that neither the addition of BSA to a milk protein-free diet nor the introduction of total milk protein increased the frequency of diabetes in BB Worcester rats. Hydrolysed formula was reported to induce protective effect against type 1 diabetes in NOD mice (Hermitte et al., 1995; Karges et al., 1997a,b). Diabetes could be prevented or reduced in BB rats and in NOD mice by introducing hydrolysed casein (Scott et al., 1985; Elliott et al., 1988; Issa-Chergui et al., 1988; Scott, 1990; Scott et al., 2000) compared to other types of diet. Infants given hydrolysed formula showed a decreased immunological response to cow's milk proteins compared to infants given conventional baby formula (Akerblom et al., 2005).

The ICA69 sequences were shown to cross-react with cows' milk BSA and more particularly with the [152–168] amino acid residue called ABBOS. Elevated serum concentrations of IgG anti-BSA antibodies were detected in diabetic subjects. The majority of these anti-BSA antibodies were specific to the ABBOS peptide and cross-reacted with ICA69 (Beppu *et al.*, 1987; Glerum *et al.*, 1989; Martin *et al.*, 1991; Karjalainen *et al.*, 1992; Pietropaolo *et al.*, 1993; Saukkonen *et al.*, 1994; Levy-Marchal *et al.*, 1995). Significantly increased T cell proliferation responses to BSA and ABBOS were found in children with newly diagnosed



type 1 diabetes (Cheung *et al.*, 1994; Miyazaki *et al.*, 1995). Elevated levels of anti-BSA antibodies were detected in diabetic animals (NOD mice, BB rats) and immunization of NOD mice with BSA or ICA69 generated cross-reactive T cell responses to both Tep69 and ABBOS (Karges *et al.*, 1997). However, the role of BSA in type 1 diabetes was questioned since several authors could not confirm specifically enhanced humoral or cellular responses to BSA or ABBOS in diabetic patients compared to controls (Atkinson *et al.*, 1993; Dosch *et al.*, 1994; Luhder *et al.*, 1994; Ivarsson *et al.*, 1995; Krokowski *et al.*, 1995; Vaarala *et al.*, 1996; Füchtenbusch *et al.*, 1997). In NOD mice fed experimental diets prior to conception, no difference was found in the offspring in diabetes incidence between a standard diet and a milk-free diet (Paxson *et al.*, 1997). Ronningen *et al.* (1998) found no cross-reactivity between BSA and ICA69 in human and animal experiments. Atkinson *et al.* (1993) concluded that anti-BSA antibodies may reflect a general impairment of immunological tolerance. This was associated with a general predisposition to autoimmunity rather than specific  $\beta$ -cell autoimmunity.

It was also hypothesised that exposure to bovine insulin which differs from human insulin only by three amino acids, may break the tolerance to insulin and might cause primary immunisation to insulin in young infants (Vaarala *et al.*, 1998; Paronen *et al.*, 2000; Virtanen *et al.*, 2000; Vaarala 2005; Marttila *et al.*, 2008). Several animal experiments revealed a protective effect of orally administrated human insulin on diabetes type 1 incidence (Atkinson *et al.*, 1990; Zhang *et al.*, 1991; Bergerot *et al.*, 1994; Ploix *et al.*, 1998). After feeding human insulin to 6-week-old NOD mice for one month, Ploix *et al.* (1998) demonstrated a reduction in the severity of insulitis and diabetes incidence. This was due to the development of regulatory T cells suppressing the activity of autoreactive T cell clones. However, in children with HLA-conferred susceptibility to diabetes, administration of nasal human insulin, started soon after detection of autoantibodies, appeared not to prevent or even delay type 1 diabetes (Nantö-Salonen *et al.*, 2008). It has been suggested that addition of human insulin to infant formula in a concentration similar to that present in human milk may be beneficial (Shehadeh *et al.*, 2001). It is speculated whether this addition might protect from the development of type-1 diabetes and lead to even faster gut maturation (Shehadeh *et al.*, 2001).

The possibility that molecular mimicry occurs between casein and islet antigens (p69, carboxypeptidase, GLUT-2) has also been proposed. Cell-mediated immune responses to  $\beta$ -casein were observed in patients with diabetes of recent onset compared to healthy controls. It was postulated that a sequence homology between residues 63–67 of bovine  $\beta$ -casein and 415–419 of the  $\beta$ -cell-specific glucose transporter GLUT-2 could be the pathogenic mechanism (Inman *et al.*, 1993; Cavallo *et al.*, 1996a,b). Elevated levels of antibodies to  $\beta$ -casein were demonstrated in some patients with type 1 diabetes but not in others (Wasmuth *et al.*, 1995; Elliott *et al.*, 1996a; Monetini *et al.*, 2002, 2003). Ellis *et al.* (1998) found cellular immune responses to  $\beta$ -casein in type 1 diabetes compared to autoantibody negative healthy control subjects. T cell immune response to  $\beta$ -casein was the same in the diabetic patients and their autoantibody negative relatives. The authors concluded that individuals genetically prone to autoimmunity may be deficient in developing tolerance to dietary antigens. The role of  $\beta$ -casein as a causative factor in diabetes development remains unclear. Animal experiments have produced contrasting results concerning the diabetogenic potential of casein. Some

studies demonstrated a protective effect of whole casein as a substitute for skim milk (Scott *et al.*, 1985; Issa-Chergui *et al.*, 1988; Scott, 1990), whereas others reported that introduction of  $\beta$ -casein as the only source of protein before weaning leads to the development of diabetes in NOD mice (Elliott *et al.*, 1988).

Beta-lactoglobulin ( $\beta$ -lg) is the major whey protein in cow's milk (Rudloff and Kunz, 1997) but is not expressed by the human mammary gland. It was demonstrated that this protein is involved in allergic reactions to cow's milk (Sabikhi, 2007). Enhanced humoral and cellular immune response to  $\beta$ -lg was also demonstrated in some diabetic patients compared with control subjects (Dahlquist *et al.*, 1992; Savilahti *et al.*, 1993; Saukkonen *et al.*, 1995; Vaarala *et al.*, 1996; Vähäsalo *et al.*, 1996). A recent study points out a possible cross-reaction between anti- $\beta$ -lg and the human protein glycodelin (PP14), a T cell modulator, undermining T cell regulation of beta cells in infancy (Goldfarb, 2008). Cellular response to  $\beta$ -lg was not associated with HLA-DQB1 risk alleles, implying that immune response to the protein does not reflect the accumulation of these HLA alleles in the patients with type 1 diabetes.

The link between milk proteins and type 1 diabetes remains unclear. When genetic risk determinants were included, antibodies to BSA,  $\beta$ -lg, whole cow's milk and islet cell antibodies were not independently associated with the risk of type 1 diabetes in a multivariate, logistic regression analysis (Saukkonen *et al.*, 1995; Vähäsalo *et al.*, 1996; Saukkonen *et al.*, 1998; Redondo *et al.*, 1999).

## 4.5.4.4 β-casein variants, BCM7 and type 1 diabetes

After *in vitro* digestion with intestinal enzymes, BCM7 has been shown to be released at a higher level from  $\beta$ -casein variants A<sup>1</sup> and B than from the A<sup>2</sup> variant (see Chapter 3.2). A hypothesis has been proposed that the opioid peptide BCM7 might contribute to the impairment of the development of gut-associated immune tolerance in IDDM genetically predisposed individuals. It might thus act as an adjuvant in the autoimmune reaction involved in the destruction of  $\beta$ -cells in prediabetic subjects (Elliott *et al.*, 1997; Hartwig *et al.*, 1997; Åkerblom and Knip 1998; Elliott *et al.* 1999). One study has shown that antibodies against casein variants occur both in normal controls and in patients with IDDM. However, patients with IDDM and their siblings showed increased amounts of anti-casein A<sup>1</sup> antibodies in serum samples, whereas their parents and control persons showed increased amounts of anti-casein variants A<sup>1</sup> and B has not been demonstrated *in vivo* in humans (Svedberg *et al.*, 1985) (see chapter 3). The diabetogenicity of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and B variants has been evaluated in animal studies and in ecological studies in humans.

Two animal studies have investigated the differences in the diabetogenic effect between  $A^1$  and  $A^2$  casein (Elliott *et al.*, 1997; Beales *et al.*, 2002). Both feeding studies combined casein with a soy preparation in NOD mice. The first study which was not published in a peer-reviewed journal, found a higher incidence of diabetes after feeding NOD mice with  $A^1$   $\beta$ -casein compared to  $A^2$   $\beta$ -casein (Elliott *et al.*, 1997). In contrast, the second study was published in an international, peer-reviewed journal and did not confirm these results (Beales *et al.*, 2002). In this study, the authors showed that the combination of  $A^2$  with soy protein

(Prosobee (PS), soy based formula) resulted in a lower incidence of diabetes in the BB rat, whereas the combination of  $A^1$  and  $A^2$  with Pregestimil (a hydrolysed milk formula) did not result in a difference. However, the authors concluded that  $A^1$   $\beta$ -casein was more diabetogenic than  $A^2$   $\beta$ -casein in PS-fed BB rats, and that although milk caseins are unlikely to be exclusive promoters of type 1 diabetes, they could enhance the induction of diabetes in some cases. It should be taken into account that soy proteins have been suggested to contribute to the development of diabetes, as well as Pregestimil. In the study of Beales *et al.* (2002), wheat was shown to be much more diabetogenic than other protein combinations. The studies performed to date do not allow a conclusion on a direct effect, if any, of  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  or  $A^2$  on the development of diabetes in animal models.

The first group of human ecological studies tested the correlation between the estimated per capita consumption of  $\beta$ -case in A<sup>1</sup> and A<sup>2</sup> and the incidence of type 1 diabetes. A study on type 1 diabetes incidence in 0 to 14-year-old children from 10 countries or areas, including all the Nordic countries, compared the national cow's milk protein consumption along with milk protein polymorphism. They observed that total protein consumption did not correlate with diabetes incidence but consumption of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> alone or in combination with  $\beta$ -casein B did correlate with IDDM incidence (Elliott et al., 1999). The calculated consumption of βcasein A<sup>1</sup> across 16 countries was reported to correlate strongly with the incidence of type 1 diabetes in males under 15 years (McLachlan, 2001). A larger ecological study, including 19 countries from all over the world, reported similar associations (Laugesen and Elliott, 2003). However, the difference in the incidence of type 1 diabetes can also be explained by other not reported confounding factors as already outlined for CVD, since the authors used the same estimated  $\beta$ -case variants intakes for their statistical analyses (in Chapter 4.5.3.3). Moreover, as discussed in Chapter 2.3, the relevance of data on  $\beta$ -case allele distribution and the actual level of specific protein variants in milk and dairy products appear difficult to interpret.

A further ecological study evaluated the correlation between  $\beta$ -case  $A^1$  and B intake and type 1 diabetes incidence in the group of Nordic countries: Iceland, Denmark, Norway, Sweden and Finland (Thorsdottir and Reykdal, 1997; Birgisdottir et al., 2002, 2006). The Icelandic population has a genetic origin similar to that of the other Nordic countries, except Finland (Wijsman, 1984). No major differences in HLA allele distribution between Icelandic and Norwegian diabetic patients or control groups could be found (Backman *et al.*, 1998), although the incidence of type 1 diabetes in Norway has been reported to be about twice as high as in Iceland (Joner and Sovik 1989; Helgason et al., 1992). No association was found between cow's milk consumption in infancy and the development of type 1 diabetes in the Icelandic population (Thorsdottir *et al.*, 2000) whereas many studies have suggested that early ingestion of cow's milk products in infancy is associated with an increased risk for the development of type 1 diabetes (Borch-Johnsen et al., 1984; Mayer et al., 1988; Virtanen et al., 1991; Kostraba et al., 1992, 1993; Gerstein 1994; Patterson et al., 1994). The study of Birgisdottir *et al.* (2006), focusing on children, reported a lower average consumption of  $\beta$ casein A<sup>1</sup> and B variants among 2-year old children in Iceland (approximately 1.7 g/day) compared to the same age group in the Scandinavian countries (Denmark, Norway, Sweden, Finland) (approximately 2.7 g/day) where the incidence of type 1 diabetes is higher. The

study also reported a positive correlation between the estimated intake of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> among 2 year olds in the different Nordic countries and the incidence of type 1 diabetes.

However, a comprehensive evaluation of possible confounders and uncertainties is needed in order to assess the strenght of the above correlations. Dietary intakes in infancy and childhood may be expected to have a large inter-individual and age-related variation. Given the general limitations of ecological studies, the possibility that the children with type 1 diabetes had a low intake of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> when compared to other children in the same country, cannot be rejected. Therefore, the possibility that other confounding factors are responsible for the disease, cannot be rejected by an ecological study. In the first step Birgisdottir *et al.* (2006) restricted the observed population to more homogeneous sex and age groups, in particular children at 2 years of age, and male as well as female adolescents aged from 11 to 14 years. The obtained correlation was only significant (to  $\alpha$ =5%) for the youngest children and  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>. Some methodological problems can be highlighted, however. While the best available comparable data were used (Birgisdottir *et al.*, 2006), the incidence rates of type 1 diabetes covered the period up to the middle of the 90's. However the consumption data for the different countries were taken between 1980 and 1999, while information regarding the  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> and B were from early and late 1990s.

In addition, the exposure to  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup> versus A<sup>2</sup> of IDDM and non-IDDM subjects needs to be considered. The  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>+B content in milk produced in Iceland and in other Nordic countries in the late 90s was estimated to be 38.4 % and 48.7%, respectively (Thorsdottir *et al.*, 2000). As a consequence, it can be seen that the IDDM and non-IDDM groups were both exposed to significant levels of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>+B. As a consequence, it seems difficult from an immunological viewpoint to explain the difference in incidence of IDDM by such a small difference in the estimated exposure to  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>+B.

In summary, no specific putative factor could be identified in the reviewed literature for which a cause-effect relationship with IDDM could be proven.

## CONCLUSIONS

## Conclusions on bioactive peptides and source proteins

- Proteins, including those present in the diet, are a potential source of a wide range of biologically active peptides, including some with affinity for opioid receptors.
- The release of BCM7 through enzymatic digestion of bovine β-casein is dictated by the primary amino acid sequence, which is dependent on the genetic variant of this protein.
- The allele frequency distribution of  $\beta$ -case in is determined by bovine breed and population.
- Changing selection targets in the last decades has resulted in changes in bovine breed composition in most European countries. While no detailed information is available, it is likely that these changes in breed composition have had an impact on milk composition, including different milk protein variant concentration and type.



• Taking into account the uncertainty in milk composition and the diverse geographical origin of dairy products and ingredients across Europe, insufficient information is currently available on the exposure of individual consumers to different β-casein variants.

#### Conclusions on opioid peptides in food and their formation during digestion

- The presence of BCMs or related peptides in unprocessed milk obtained from healthy cows has not been conclusively demonstrated.
- There is a substantial body of evidence indicating that different proteolytic systems involved in fermented milk or cheese manufacture can potentially hydrolyze  $\beta$ -casein to BCM7 or other BCMs and further degrade these peptides to shorter-chain peptides and even amino acids.
- Little or no information is currently available about the actual BCM levels which different proteolytic systems may generate in fermented or enzyme treated milk products. Furthermore, the stability of these peptides, once generated, is variable.
- Technological conditions such as heat treatments applied in industrial dairy processing do not seem to influence the occurrence of BCMs in the final products or influence their formation during subsequent digestion.
- The role of proteolytic systems in favoring the release of BCMs during SGID or *in vivo* digestion, eventually through the formation of BCM precursors, has not been clarified. However, there are indications that a successive action of several digestive enzymes is involved.
- Evidence about the occurrence of BCMs in commercial infant formulas is currently inconclusive. However, the subsequent formation of certain BCMs in infant formulae after SGID (with multiple enzyme activities) has been demonstrated.
- No current studies report quantitative values for BCMs formed during the *in vivo* digestion of dairy products.

# Conclusions on molecular interactions, general biological effects and fate of food-derived peptides

- Animal data clearly support the idea that β-casomorphins, including BCM7, can act as opioid receptor agonists, probably acting via μ-type opioid receptors.
- At a molecular level, in comparison to medicinal and endogenous opioids, bovine BCM7 does not seem to be a very potent opioid ligand.
- Opioid effects were only observed *in vivo* in animal studies following intra-peritoneal (i.p.) or intra-cerebro-ventricular (i.c.v.) administration.
- Relatively little is known on the mechanisms of transfer of intact peptides longer than 3 amino acids across the intestinal barrier; however, if this transport occurs, then the extent is very low and passive diffusion is the most likely transfer mechanism.



- β-casomorphin immunoreactive material in blood has been reported in two studies within neonatal dogs and calves. However, the presence of β-casomorphin molecules in blood after intake of milk or casein has not been established in *in vivo* studies.
- Opioid peptides, including  $\beta$ -casomorphin 4, -5 and -7 are highly sensitive to hydrolysis by dipeptidyl peptidase IV thereby strongly limiting or preventing the transfer of these peptides in an intact form across the intestinal mucosa and the blood-brain barrier.
- Available data suggest that in principle, transport of food-derived peptides and proteins across the human intestinal mucosa is possible. However, quantitative data on this phenomenon are lacking. In certain cases such as in neonates and adults with specific diseases, intestinal permeability has been reported to be significantly increased.

## Conclusions on organ and system specific actions

- Food-derived peptides, including casomorphins, can have different effects in the intestinal lumen and the intestinal mucosa, such as regulatory effects on gastro-intestinal motility and on gastric and pancreatic secretions.
- Many studies report effects of β-casomorphins on the CNS following i.p. or i.c.v. administration in animals.
- A possible link between BCM intake and sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS) has been suggested in some publications. However, no clear evidence for such a relationship was found during the review.
- A link between casein-derived peptides and autism in subjects with increased intestinal permeability has been suggested. However, recent data do not provide any support for such a relationship.
- It has been suggested that BCM7 might be atherogenic through an oxidative action on LDL. This mechanism was originally proposed in a single report, however, it has not been confirmed by later studies.
- The possibility that BCM7 could contribute to an increased risk for atherosclerosis has also been suggested from a study in a rabbit model. This study concluded that  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  would be atherogenic, in contrast to  $\beta$ -casein  $A^2$ . However, the validity of the experimental model and the extrapolation to atherosclerosis in human were not regarded as convincing.
- Some ecological studies have linked the intake of BCM7 with cardiovascular disease mortality. However, these ecological studies did not account for several confounding factors. In addition, recent large cohort studies led to opposite conclusions.
- Two human intervention studies comparing diets containing  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  and  $A^2$  did not show a correlation between the estimated  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  consumption and development of certain biomarkers for cardiovascular disease. A limitation of these studies was the small number of subjects and the short intervention period.
- Overall, this review process did not find any strong evidence for a link between the consumption of  $\beta$ -casein  $A^1$  and an increased risk for CVD in humans.



- Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM) is recognised as a multifactorial autoimmune disease; however, its pathogenesis is unclear.
- Autoantibodies have been found in IDDM patients, but the role of autoantibodies in type 1 diabetes is currently not known. These autoantibodies have not been proven to be directly involved in either tissue destruction or disease progression.
- The development of IDDM is the result of a combination of genetic predisposition and environmental risk factors where genetic predisposition is a necessary condition.
- Many dietary risk factors of IDDM have been indicated, including short duration of breast feeding, gluten, soy, cow's milk and solid foods at young age.
- Several different milk proteins or peptides derived from these proteins have been proposed as possible diabetogenic factors. The mechanism most often suggested is immunological.
- The diabetogenicity of  $\beta$ -casein A<sup>1</sup>, A<sup>2</sup> and B has been evaluated in animal studies and ecological studies on humans. Animal studies have presented contradictory results.
- Some ecological studies have linked the intake of BCM7 with IDDM. Ecological studies have the shortcoming of being unable to establish cause-effect relationship and they cannot adjust for possible confounding factors. They are at best indicating a hypothesis but cannot provide a proper base to demonstrate a cause-effect relationship.
- The correlations suggested by these studies may become very weak when taking into account the uncertainties in individual consumption, in the  $\beta$ -casein variant composition, and in some countries also the IDDM incidence rate.
- The difference in content of  $\beta$ -case in A<sup>1</sup>+B in milk produced in countries with high or low prevalence of IDDM appears relatively small and does not explain, from an immunological point of view, the difference in incidence of IDDM across countries.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

Based on the present review of available scientific literature, a cause-effect relationship between the oral intake of BCM7 or related peptides and aetiology or course of any suggested non-communicable diseases cannot be established. Consequently, a formal EFSA risk assessment of food-derived peptides is not recommended.

#### REFERENCES

Addeo, F., Chianese, L., Salzano, A., Sacchi, R., Cappuccio, U., Ferranti, P. and Malorni, A. 1992. Characterization of the 12% trichloroacetic acid-insoluble oligopeptides of Parmigiano-Reggiano cheese. *Journal of Dairy Research* 59 (3): 401-411.

Agui, S., Ohinata, K. and Yoshikawa, M. 2006. Isolation and characterization of a new opioid peptide soymorphin derived from soy. BETA-Conglycinin. *Peptide Science* 2005: 195-198.

Akerblom, H. K. and Knip, M. 1998. Putative environmental factors in type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes Metab Rev* 14: 31-67.



Akerblom, H. K. and Vaarala, O. 1997. Cow milk proteins, autoimmunity and type 1 diabetes. *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes* 105 (2): 86-91.

Akerblom, H. K., Virtanen, S. M., Ilonen, J., Savilahti, E., Vaarala, O., Reunanen, A., Teramo, K., Hämäläinen, A. M. and Paronen, J. 2005. Dietary manipulation of beta cell autoimmunity in infants at increased risk of type 1 diabetes: a pilot study. *Diabetologia(Berlin)* 48 (5): 829-837.

Aleandri, R., Buttazzoni, L., Paggi, U., Davoli, R., Nanni Costa, L. and Russo, V. 1997. Effect of bovine milk protein polymorphism at two loci on cheese producing ability. *International Dairy Federation special issue*: 414-422.

Alexander, S. P. H., Mathie, A. and Peters, J. A. 2008. Guide to Receptors and Channels : Opioid and opioid-like. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 153 (2): S73-S74.

Allison, A. J. and Clarke, A. J. 2006. Further research for consideration in 'the A2 milk case'. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition* 60 (7): 921-924.

Almaas, H., Cases, A. L., Devold, T. G., Holm, H., Langsrud, T., Aabakken, L., Aadnoey, T. and Vegarud, G. E. 2006. In vitro digestion of bovine and caprine milk by human gastric and duodenal enzymes. *International Dairy Journal* 16 (9): 961-968.

Alston-Mills, B., Allen, J. C., Sternhagen, L. and Hepler, C. D. 1997. Effects of whey-milk proteins on Caco-2 and HT-29 intestinal cell lines. *Livestock Production Science* 50 (1-2): 147-148.

Amos, A. F., McCarty, D. J. and Zimmet, P. 1997. The rising global burden of diabetes and its complications: Estimates and projections to the year 2010. *Diabetic Medicine* 14: 7-84.

Aschaffenburg, R. 1961. Inherited casein variants in cow's milk. Nature 192 (4801): 431-432.

Aschaffenburg, R. 1963. Inherited casein variants in cow's milk. II. Breed differences in the occurfence of beta-casein variants. *Journal of Dairy Research* 30: 251.

Aschaffenburg, R. 1968. Genetic variants of milk proteins: their breed distribution. *Journal of Dairy Research* 35 (3): 447-60.

Aschaffenburg, R., Sen, A. and Thompson, M. P. 1968. Genetic variants of casein in Indian and African Zebu cattle. *Comp Biochem Physiol* 25 (1): 177-84.

Atkinson, M. A. 1990. Insulitis and diabetes in NOD mice reduced by prophylactic insulin therapy. *Diabetes* 39 (8): 933-937.

Atkinson, M. A., Bowman, M. A., Campbell, L., Darrow, B. L., Kaufman, D. L. and Maclaren, N. K. 1994. Cellular immunity to a determinant common to glutamate decarboxylase and coxsackie virus in insulin-dependent diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 94 (5): 2125-2129.

Atkinson, M. A., Bowman, M. A., Kao, K. J., Campbell, L., Dush, P. J., Shah, S. C., Simell, O. and Maclaren, N. K. 1993. Lack of Immune Responsiveness to Bovine Serum Albumin in Insulin-Dependent Diabetes. *New England Journal of Medicine* 329 (25): 1853-1858.

Atkinson, M. A. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 2001. Type 1 diabetes: new perspectives on disease pathogenesis and treatment. *The Lancet* 358 (9277): 221-229.

Atkinson, M. A. and Maclaren, N. K. 1994. The pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine* 331 (21): 1428-1436.

Azuma, N., Nagaune, S., Ishino, Y., Mori, H., Kaminogawa, S. and Yamauchi, K. 1989. DNA-synthesis stimulating peptides from human β-casein. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 53 (10): 2631-2634.

Bach, J. M., Otto, H., Nepom, G. T., Jung, G., Cohen, H., Timsit, J., Boitard, C. and van Endert, P. M. 1997. High affinity presentation of an autoantigenic peptide in type I diabetes by an HLA class II protein encoded in a haplotype protecting from disease. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 10 (4): 375-386.

Backman, V. M., Gulcher, J. R. and Fasquel, A. C. 1998. Childhood diabetes in Iceland: genotyping of the DRB gene. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 50: 109.

Bailey, C. P., Smith, F. L., Kelly, E., Dewey, W. L. and Henderson, G. 2006. How important is protein kinase C in  $\mu$ -opioid receptor desensitization and morphine tolerance? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 27 (11): 558-565.

Balazs, L. and Leitgeb, B. 2007. Structural investigation of endomorphins by experimental and theoretical methods: Hunting for the bioactive conformation. *Chemistry and Biodiversity* 4 (12): 2703-2724.

Baldi, A., Ioannis, P., Chiara, P., Eleonora, F., Roubini, C. and Vittorio, D. 2005. Biological effects of milk proteins and their peptides with emphasis on those related to the gastrointestinal ecosystem. *Journal Of Dairy Research* 72: 66-72.

Baranyi, M., Bosze, Z. S., Buchberger, J. and Krause, I. 1993. Genetic polymorphism of milk proteins in Hungarian spotted and Hungarian grey cattle: A possible new genetic variant of beta-lactoglobulin. *Journal of Dairy Science* 76 (2): 630-636.

Barbaresi, W. J., Katusic, S. K. and Voigt, R. G. 2006. Autism: A review of the state of the science for pediatric primary health care clinicians. *Archives of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine* 160 (11): 1167-1175.

Beales, P., Elliott, R., Flohé, S., Hill, J., Kolb, H., Pozzilli, P., Wang, G. S., Wasmuth, H. and Scott, F. 2002. A multi-centre, blinded international trial of the effect of A 1 and A 2 β-casein variants on diabetes incidence in two rodent models of spontaneous Type I diabetes. *Diabetologia* 45 (9): 1240-1246.

Bech, A. M. and Kristiansen, K. R. 1990. Milk protein polymorphism in Danish dairy cattle and the influence of genetic variants on milk yield. *Journal of Dairy Research* 57 (1): 53-62.

Beck, J., Ferrucci, L., Sun, K., Fried, L. P., Varadhan, R., Walston, J., Guralnik, J. M. and Semba, R. D. 2008. Circulating oxidized low-density lipoproteins are associated with overweight, obesity, and low serum carotenoids in older community-dwelling women. *Nutrition*:

Becker, A., Hempel, G., Grecksch, G. and Matthies, H. 1990. Effects of beta-casomorphin derivatives on gastrointestinal transit in mice. *Biomed Biochim Acta* 49 (11): 1203-7.

Beppu, H., Winter, W. E., Atkinson, M. A., Maclaren, N. K., Fujita, K. and Takahashi, H. 1987. Bovine albumin antibodies in NOD mice. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 6 (2): 67-9.

Bergerot, I., Fabien, N., Maguer, V. and Thivolet, C. 1994. Oral administration of human insulin to NOD mice generates CD41 T cells that suppress adoptive transfer of diabetes. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 7: 655-663.

Berthou, J., Migliore-Samour, D., Lifchitz, A., Delettre, J., Floc'H, F. and Jolles, P. 1987. Immunostimulating properties and three-dimensional structure of two tripeptides from human and cow caseins. *FEBS letters* 218 (1): 55-58.

Beucher, S., Levenez, F., Yvon, M. and Corring, T. 1994. Effects of gastric digestive products from casein on CCK release by intestinal cells in rat. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 5 (12): 578-584.

Bhol, K., Natarajan, K., Nagarwalla, N., Mohimen, A., Aoki, V. and Ahmed, A. R. 1995. Correlation of peptide specificity and IgG subclass with pathogenic and nonpathogenic autoantibodies in Pemphigus Vulgaris: A Model for Autoimmunity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 92 (11): 5239-5243.

Bingley, P. J. and Gale, E. A. M. 1993. Family studies and the causes of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Causes of Diabetes: Genetic and Environmental Factors*: 45.

Birgisdottir, B. E., Hill, J. P., Harris, D. P. and Thorsdottir, I. 2002. Variation in consumption of cow milk proteins and lower incidence of Type 1 diabetes in Iceland vs the other 4 Nordic countries. *Diabetes Nutrition and Metabolism* 15 (4): 240-245.

Birgisdottir, B. E., Hill, J. P., Thorsson, A. V. and Thorsdottir, I. 2006. Lower consumption of cow milk protein A1 beta-casein at 2 years of age, rather than consumption among 11- to 14-year-old adolescents, may explain the lower incidence of type 1 diabetes in Iceland than in Scandinavia. *Annuals of Nutrition and Matabolism* 50 (3): 177-83.

Blackett, P. R., Fry, H., Garnica, A. and Blick, K. 1994. Thyroxine and triiodothyronine autoantibodies in Hashimoto's Thyroiditis with severe hormone-resistant hypothyroidism. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology* 7: 65-68.

Blom, L., Persson, L. and Dahlquist, G. 1992. A high linear growth is associated with an increased risk of childhood diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 35 (6): 528-533.

Bodansky, H. J., Staines, A., Stephenson, C., Haigh, D. and Cartwright, R. 1992. Evidence for an environmental effect in the aetiology of insulin dependent diabetes in a transmigratory population. *British Medical Journal* 304 (6833): 1020.

Bodington, M. J., McNally, P. G. and Burden, A. C. 1994. Cow's milk and type 1 childhood diabetes: no increase in risk. *Diabet Med* 11 (7): 663-5.



Boettcher, P. J., Caroli, A., Stella, A., Chessa, S., Budelli, E., Canavesi, F., Ghiroldi, S. and Pagnacco, G. 2004. Effects of casein haplotypes on milk production traits in Italian Holstein and Brown Swiss cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87 (12): 4311-4317.

Borch-Johnsen, K., Joner, G., Mandrup-Poulsen, T., Christy, M., Zachau-Christiansen, B., Kastrup, K. and Nerup, J. 1984. Relation between breast-feeding and incidence rates of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. A hypothesis. *Lancet* 2 (8411): 1083-6.

Boudry, G. 2005. The Ussing chamber technique to evaluate alternatives to in-feed antibiotics for young pigs. *Animal Research* 54 (3): 219-230.

Bovenhuis, H. and Van Arendonk, J. A. M. 1991. Estimation of milk protein gene frequencies in crossbred cattle by maximum likelihood. *Journal of Dairy Science* 74 (8): 2728-2736.

Brandsch, M., Brust, P., Neubert, K. and Ermisch, A. 1994. ß-Casomorphins-chemical signals of intestinal transport systems. *Beta-Casomorphins and related peptides: Recent development* 209:

Brandtzaeg, P. 2002. Current understanding of gastrointestinal immunoregulation and its relation to food allergy. *Genetically Engineered Foods Assessing Potential Allergenicity* 964: 13-45.

Brantl, V. 1984. Novel opioid peptides derived from human ß-casein: human ß-casomorphins. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 106 (1): 213-214.

Brantl, V., Gramsch, C., Lottspeich, F., Mertz, R., Jager, K. H. and Herz, A. 1986b. Novel opioid peptides derived from hemoglobin: hemorphins. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 125 (2): 309-310.

Brantl, V. and Neubert, K. 1986a. Opioid peptides derived from food proteins. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci* 7: 6–7.

Brantl, V., Pfeiffer, A., Herz, A., Henschen, A. and Lottspeich, F. 1982. Antinociceptive potencies of beta-casomorphin analogs as compared to their affinities towards mu and delta opiate receptor sites in brain and periphery. *Peptides* 3 (5): 793-7.

Brantl, V., Teschemacher, H., Blasig, J., Henschen, A. and Lottspeich, F. 1981. Opioid activities of beta-casomorphins. *Life Sciences* 28 (17): 1903-9.

Brantl, V., Teschemacher, H., Henschen, A. and Lottspeich, F. 1979. Novel opioid peptides derived from casein (beta-casomorphins). I. Isolation from bovine casein peptone. *Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem* 360 (9): 1211-6.

Brignon, G., Chtourou, A. and Ribadeau-Dumas, B. 1985. Preparation and amino acid sequence of human kappa-casein. *FEBS Letters* 188 (1): 48-54.

Britton, J. R. and Kastin, A. J. 1991. Biologically active polypeptides in milk. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences* 301 (2): 124.

Buzzetti, R., Quattrocchi, C. C. and Nistico, L. 1998. Dissecting the genetics of Type 1 diabetes: Relevance for familial clustering and differences in incidence. *Diabetes and Metabolism* 14: 111-128.



Cade, R., Privette, M., Fregly, M., Rowland, N., Zhongjie, S., Zele, V., Wagemaker, H. and Edelstein, C. 2000. Autism and schizophrenia: intestinal disorders. *Nutritional Neuroscience: 3 (1)* 57-72 3 (1): 57-72.

Caldwell, J., Weseli, D. F. and Cartwright, T. C. 1971. Occurrence of {alpha} sl-and {beta}- casein types in five breeds of beef cattle. *Journal of Animal Science* 32 (4): 601.

Campbell, C. G., Brown, B. D., Dufner, D. and Thorland, W. G. 2006. Effects of soy or milk protein durign a high-fat feeding challenge on oxidative stress, inflammation, and lipids in healthy men. *Lipids* 41 (3): 257-265.

Cass, H., Gringras, P., March, J., McKendrick, I., O'Hare, A., Owen, L. and Pollin, C. 2008. Absence of exogeneously derived urinary opioid peptides in children with autism. *Archives of Disease in Childhood* 93 (9): 745-750.

Cass, H., Sekaran, D. and Baird, G. 2006. Medical investigation of children with autistic spectrum disorders. *Child: Care, Health and Development* 32 (5): 521-533.

Castano, L. 1991. Identification and cloning of a granule autoantigen (carboxypeptidase-H) associated with type I diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 73 (6): 1197-1201.

Cavaletto, M., Cantisani, A., Giuffrida, G., Napolitano, L. and Conti, A. 1994. Human alpha S1-casein like protein: purification and N-terminal sequence determination. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler* 375 (2): 149-51.

Cavallo, M., Monetini, L., Walker, B., Thorpe, R. and Pozzilli, P. 1996a. Diabetes and cows' milk. *Lancet (British edition)* 348 (9042): 1655.

Cavallo, M. G., Fava, D., Monetini, L., Barone, F. and Pozzilli, P. 1996b. Cell-mediated immune response to beta casein in recent-onset insulin-dependent diabetes: implications for disease pathogenesis. *Lancet* 348 (9032): 926-8.

Chabance, B., Marteau, P., Rambaud, J. C., Migliore-Samour, D., Boynard, M., Perrotin, P., Guillet, R., Jollès, P. and Fiat, A. M. 1998. Casein peptide release and passage to the blood in humans during digestion of milk or yogurt. *Biochimie* 80 (2): 155-165.

Chessa, S., Chiatti, F., Rignanese, D., Ceriotti, G., Caroli, A. M. and Pagnacco, G. 2008. In silico analysis of goat casein sequences. *Scienza e Tecnica Lattiero-Casearia* 59 (1): 71-79.

Cheung, R., Karjalainen, J., Vandermeulen, J., Singal, D. P. and Dosch, H. M. 1994. T Cells from children with IDDM are sensitized to bovine serum albumin. *Scandinavian Journal of Immunology* 40 (6): 623-628.

Chiba, H., Tani, F. and Yoshikawa, M. 1989. Opioid antagonist peptides derived from betacasein. *Journal of Dairy Research* 56 (3): 363-6.

Chin-Dusting, J., Shennan, J., Jones, E., Williams, C., Kingwell, B. and Dart, A. 2006. Effect of dietary supplementation with [beta]-casein A1 or A2 on markers of disease development in individuals at high risk of cardiovascular disease. *British Journal of Nutrition* 95 (1): 136.

Christie, M. J. 2008. Cellular neuroadaptations to chronic opioids: tolerance, withdrawal and addiction. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 154 (2): 384-396.

Christison, G. W. and Ivany, K. 2006. Elimination diets in autism spectrum disorders: Any wheat amidst the chaff? *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics* 27 (2): S162.

Cieslinska, A., Kaminski, S., Kostyra, E. and Sienkiewicz-Szlapka, E. 2007. Betacasomorphin 7 in raw and hydrolyzed milk derived from cows of alternative beta-casein genotypes. *Milchwissenschaft* 62 (2): 125.

Clare, D. A. and Swaisgood, H. E. 2000. Bioactive milk peptides: A prospectus. *Journal of Dairy Science* 83 (6): 1187-1195.

Claustre, J., Toumi, F., Trompette, A., Jourdan, G., Guignard, H., Chayvialle, J. A. and Plaisancie, P. 2002. Effects of peptides derived from dietary proteins on mucus secretion in rat jejunum. *American Journal of Physiology- Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 283 (3): 521-528.

Coccia, R., Foppoli, C., Blarzino, C., De Marco, C. and Rosei, M. A. 2001. Interaction of enkephalin derivatives with reactive oxygen species. *BBA-General Subjects* 1525 (1-2): 43-49.

Coleman, D. L., Kuzava, J. E. and Leiter, E. H. 1990. Effect of diet on incidence of diabetes in nonobese diabetic mice. *Diabetes* 39 (4): 432-436.

Considine, T., Healy, Á., Kelly, A. L. and McSweeney, P. L. H. 2004. Hydrolysis of bovine caseins by cathepsin B, a cysteine proteinase indigenous to milk. *International Dairy Journal* 14 (2): 117-124.

Cosgrove, D., Gray, D., Dierich, A., Kaufman, J., Lemeur, M., Benoist, C. and Mathis, D. 1991. Mice lacking MHC class II molecules. *Cell* 66 (5): 1051-66.

Coste, M., Rochet, V., Leonil, J., Molle, D., Bouhallab, S. and Tome, D. 1992. Identification of C-terminal peptides of bovine beta-case that enhance proliferation of rat lymphocytes. *Immunol Lett* 33 (1): 41-6.

Curik, I., Havranek, J. and Samarzija, D. 1997. Milk protein polymorphism and genetic structure of Croatian Simmental cattle. *International Dairy Federation Special Issue*: 93-99.

Dahl-Jorgensen, K., Joner, G. and Hanssen, K. F. 1991. Relationship between cows' milk consumption and incidence of IDDM in childhood. *Diabetes Care* 14 (11): 1081-1983.

Dahlquist, G. 1994. Non-genetic risk determinants of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes and Metabolism* 20 (3): 251-7.

Dahlquist, G. and Källén, B. 1992. Maternal-child blood group incompatibility and other perinatal events increase the risk for early-onset type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 35 (7): 671-675.

Dahlquist, G. and Mustonen, L. 1994. Childhood onset diabetes-time trends and climatological factors. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 23 (6): 1234-1241.

Dahlquist, G. and Mustonen, L. 2000. Analysis of 20 years of prospective registration of childhood onset diabetes-time trends and birth cohort effects. *Acta Paediatrica* 89 (10): 1231-1237.

Dahlquist, G. G. 1997. Viruses and other perinatal exposures as initiating events for β-cell destruction. *Annals of Medicine* 29 (5): 413-417.

Daneman, D., Fishman, L., Clarson, C. and Martin, J. M. 1987. Dietary triggers of insulindependent diabetes in the BB rat. *Diabetes Res* 5 (2): 93-7.

Daniel, H., Vohwinkel, M. and Rehner, G. 1990. Effect of casein and {beta}-casomorphins on gastrointestinal motility in rats. *Journal of Nutrition* 120 (3): 252.

David, R., Leslie, R. D. G. and Elliott, R. B. 1994. Early environmental events as a cause of IDDM - evidence and implications. *Diabetes* 43 (7): 843-850.

Davies, J. L., Kawaguchi, Y., Bennett, S. T., Copeman, J. B., Cordell, H. J., Pritchard, L. E., Reed, P. W., Gough, S. C. L., Jenkins, S. C. and Palmer, S. M. 1994. A genome-wide search for human type 1 diabetes susceptibility genes. *Nature* 371 (6493): 130-136.

De Noni, I. 2008. Release of beta-casomorphins 5 and 7 during simulated gastro-intestinal digestion of bovine beta-casein variants and milk-based infant formulas. *Food Chemistry* 110 (4): 897-903.

Defilippi, C., Gomez, E., Charlin, V. and Silva, C. 1995. Inhibition of small intestinal motility by casein: a role of ß casomorphins? *Nutrition(Burbank, Los Angeles County, Calif.)* 11 (6): 751-754.

Dennis, M. S., Zhang, M., Meng, Y. G., Kadkhodayan, M., Kirchhofer, D., Combs, D. and Damico, L. A. 2002. Albumin binding as a general strategy for improving the pharmacokinetics of proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277 (38): 35035-35043.

des Rieux, A., Fievez, V., Garinot, M., Schneider, Y. J. and Préat, V. 2006. Nanoparticles as potential oral delivery systems of proteins and vaccines: A mechanistic approach. *Journal of Controlled Release* 116 (1): 1-27.

Dettmer, K., Hanna, D., Whetstone, P., Hansen, R. and Hammock, B. D. 2007. Autism and urinary exogenous neuropeptides: development of an on-line SPE-HPLC-tandem mass spectrometry method to test the opioid excess theory. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry* 388 (8): 1643-1651.

Dev, B. C., Sood, S. M., Dewind, S. and Slattery, C. W. 1994. k-Casein and b-Casein in human micelles: Structural studies. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 314: 329-336.

DIAMOND 2006. Incidence and trends of childhood Type 1 diabetes worldwide 1990-1999. *Diabetic Medicine* 23 (8): 857-866.

Donkor, O. N., Henriksson, A., Singh, T. K., Vasiljevic, T. and Shah, N. P. 2007. ACE-inhibitory activity of probiotic yoghurt. *International Dairy Journal* 17 (11): 1321-1331.

Dorkoosh, F. A., Broekhuizen, C. A. N., Borchard, G., Rafiee-Tehrani, M., Verhoef, J. C. and Junginger, H. E. 2004. Transport of octreotide and evaluation of mechanism of opening the

paracellular tight junctions using superporous hydrogel polymers in Caco-2 cell monolayers. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 93 (3): 743-752.

Dosch, H. M., Karjalainen, J., VanderMeulen, J., Atkinson, M. A., Kao, K. J. and Maclaren, N. K. 1994. Lack of immunity to bovine serum albumin in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine* 330 (22): 1616-1617.

Drash, A. L., Kramer, M. S., Swanson, J. and Udall Jr, J. N. 1994. Infant feeding practices and their possible relationship to the etiology of diabetes mellitus. *Pediatrics* 94 (5): 752-4.

Dubois, P. C. and van Heel, D. A. 2008. Translational mini-review series on the immunogenetics of gut disease: Immunogenetics of coeliac disease. *Clinical & Experimental Immunology* 153 (2): 162.

Dubynin, V. A., Malinovskaya, I. V., Belyaeva, Y. A., Stovolosov, I. S., Bespalova, Z. D., Andreeva, L. A., Kamenskii, A. A. and Myasoedov, N. F. 2008. Delayed effect of exorphins on learning of albino rat pups. *Biology Bulletin* 35 (1): 43-49.

Egleton, R. D. and Davis, T. P. 1997. Bioavailability and transport of peptides and peptide drugs into the brain. *Peptides* 18 (9): 1431-9.

Egleton, R. D. and Davis, T. P. 2005. Development of neuropeptide drugs that cross the blood-brain barrier. *NeuroRX* 2 (1): 44-53.

Elitsur, Y. and Luk, G. D. 1991. Beta-casomorphin (BCM) and human colonic lamina propria lymphocyte proliferation. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 85 (3): 493.

Elkon, K. B. 2000. Autoantibodies in SLE. Rheumatology. 2: 5.1–5.10.

Elliott, R. B. 1989. Dietary prospects of prevention of type I diabetes. *Diabetes Nutr Metab* 2: 67-71.

Elliott, R. B. 1992. Epidemiology of diabetes in polynesia and New Zeland: child health research unit. *Pediatric and adolescent endocrinology* 21: 66-71.

Elliott, R. B., Harris, D. P., Hill, J. P., Bibby, N. J. and Wasmuth, H. E. 1999. Type I (insulindependent) diabetes mellitus and cow milk: casein variant consumption. *Diabetologia* 42 (3): 292-296.

Elliott, R. B. and Martin, J. M. 1984. Dietary protein: a trigger of insulin-dependent diabetes in the BB rat? *Diabetologia* 26 (4): 297-299.

Elliott, R. B., Pilcher, C. C., Fergusson, D. M. and Stewart, A. W. 1996b. A population based strategy to prevent insulin-dependent diabetes using nicotinamide. *Journal of Pediatric Endocrinology* 9 (5): 501-509.

Elliott, R. B., Reddy, S. N., Bibby, N. J. and Kida, K. 1988. Dietary prevention of diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse. *Diabetologia* 31 (1): 62-64.

Elliott, R. B., Wasmuth, H., Hill, J., Songini, M. and Bottazzo, G. F. 1996a. Diabetes and cows' milk. *Lancet* 348: 1657.

Elliott, R. B., Wasmuth, H. E., Bibby, N. J. and Hill, J. P. 1997. The role of beta-casein in the induction of insulin-dependent diabetes in the non-obese diabetic mouse and humans.

Brussels: International Dairy Federation, Seminar on Milk Protein Polymorphism, IDF Special Issue 9702, 445-453

Ellis, T. M., Ottendorfer, E., Jodoin, E., Salisbury, P. J., She, J. X., Schatz, D. A. and Atkinson, M. A. 1998. Cellular immune responses to ß casein: elevated in but not specific for individuals with Type I diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 41 (6): 731-735.

Elwood, P. C. 2005a. Milk and cardiovascular disease: a review of the epidemiological evidence. *Australian Journal of Dairy Technology* 60 (1): 58-60.

Elwood, P. C., Pickering, J. E., Fehily, A. M., Hughes, J. and Ness, A. R. 2004a. Milk drinking, ischaemic heart disease and ischaemic stroke I. Evidence from the Caerphilly cohort. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 58 (5): 711-717.

Elwood, P. C., Pickering, J. E., Hughes, J., Fehily, A. M. and Ness, A. R. 2004b. Milk drinking, ischaemic heart disease and ischaemic stroke II. Evidence from cohort studies. *European Journal Of Clinical Nutrition* 58 (5): 718-724.

Elwood, P. C., Strain, J. J., Robson, P. J., Fehily, A. M., Hughes, J., Pickering, J. and Ness, A. 2005b. Milk consumption, stroke, and heart attack risk: evidence from the Caerphilly cohort of older men. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 59 (6): 502-505.

Endl, J., Otto, H., Jung, G., Dreisbusch, B., Donie, F., Stahl, P., Elbracht, R., Schmitz, G., Meinl, E. and Hummel, M. 1997. Identification of naturally processed T cell epitopes from glutamic acid decarboxylase presented in the context of HLA-DR alleles by T lymphocytes of recent onset IDDM patients. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 99 (10): 2405.

Enright, E., Patricia Bland, A., Needs, E. C. and Kelly, A. L. 1999. Proteolysis and physicochemical changes in milk on storage as affected by UHT treatment, plasmin activity and KIO3 addition. *International Dairy Journal* 9 (9): 581-591.

Eurodiab, A. C. E. 1999. Study Group (1999) Vitamin D supplement in early childhood and risk for Type I (insulindependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 42: 51-54.

Eurodiab, A. C. E. 2000. Variation and trends in incidence of childhood diabetes in Europe. *Lancet* 355: 873-876.

Falcone, M., Lee, J., Patstone, G., Yeung, B. and Sarvetnick, N. 1998. B lymphocytes are crucial antigen-presenting cells in the pathogenic autoimmune response to GAD65 antigen in non obese diabetic mice 1. *The Journal of Immunology* 161 (3): 1163-1168.

Fanciulli, G., Dettori, A., Demontis, M. P., Tomasi, P. A., Anania, V. and Delitala, G. 2005. Gluten exorphin B5 stimulates prolactin secretion through opioid receptors located outside the blood-brain barrier. *Life Sciences* 76 (15): 1713-1719.

Fava, D., Leslie, R. D. and Pozzilli, P. 1994. Relationship between dairy product consumption and incidence of IDDM in childhood in Italy. *Diabetes Care* 17 (12): 1488-1490.

Ferranti, P., Traisci, M. V., Picariello, G., Nasi, A., Boschi, V., Siervo, M., Falconi, C., Chianese, L. and Addeo, F. 2004. Casein proteolysis in human milk: tracing the pattern of casein breakdown and the formation of potential bioactive peptides. *Journal of Dairy Research* 71 (01): 74-87.

Fichna, J., Janecka, A., Costentin, J. and Do Rego, J. C. 2007. The endomorphin system and its evolving neurophysiological role. *Pharmacological Reviews* 59 (1): 88-123.

Field, L. L., Tobias, R. and Magnus, T. 1994. A locus on chromosome I5q26 (1DDMÍ) produces susceptibility to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Nat Genet* 8: 189-194.

FitzGerald, R. J. and Meisel, H. 2000. Milk protein-derived peptide inhibitors of angiotensin-I-converting enzyme. *Br. J. Nutr.* 84 (1): 33-37.

FitzGerald, R. J. and Meisel, H. 2003. Milk protein hydrolysates and bioactive peptides. In: Advanced Dairy Chemistry. Third Edition,Part B Chapter 14 (eds. Fox, P. F. and McSweeney, P.), Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers New York, 675–698.

Flohé, S. B., Wasmuth, H. E., Kerad, J. B., Beales, P. E., Pozzilli, P., Elliott, R. B., Hill, J. P., Scott, F. W. and Kolb, H. 2003. A wheat-based, diabetes-promoting diet induces a Th1-type cytokine bias in the gut of NOD mice. *Cytokine* 21 (3): 149-154.

Föger, F., Kopf, A., Loretz, B., Albrecht, K. and Bernkop-Schnürch, A. 2008. Correlation of in vitro and in vivo models for the oral absorption of peptide drugs. *Amino Acids* 35 (1): 233-241.

Fogh, J., Wright, W. C. and Loveless, J. D. 1977. Absence of HeLa cell contamination in 169 cell lines derived from human tumors. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 58 (2): 209-14.

Foltz, M., Cerstiaens, A., van Meensel, A., Mols, R., van der Pijl, P. C., Duchateau, G. S. and Augustijns, P. 2008. The angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitory tripeptides Ile-Pro-Pro and Val-Pro-Pro show increasing permeabilities with increasing physiological relevance of absorption models. *Peptides* 29: 1312-1320.

Foltz, M., Meynen, E. E., Bianco, V., van Platerink, C., Koning, T. and Kloek, J. 2007. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitory peptides from a lactotripeptide-enriched milk beverage are absorbed intact into the circulation. *Journal of Nutrition* 137 (4): 953-958.

Fontana, M., Mosca, L. and Rosei, M. A. 2001. Interaction of enkephalins with oxyradicals. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 61 (10): 1253-1257.

Foord, S. M., Bonner, T. I., Neubig, R. R., Rosser, E. M., Pin, J. P., Davenport, A. P., Spedding, M. and Harmar, A. J. 2005. International Union of Pharmacology. XLVI. G Protein-Coupled Receptor List. *Pharmacological Reviews* 57 (2): 279-288.

Fort, P. 1986. Breast feeding and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in children. *Am Coll Nutrition* 5 (5): 439-441.

Franzese, A., Lombardi, F., Valerio, G. and Spagnuolo, M. I. 2007. Update on coeliac disease and type 1 diabetes mellitus in childhood. *Journal of pediatric endocrinology & metabolism: JPEM* 20 (12): 1257.

Frisk, G., Hansson, T., Dahlbom, I. and Tuvemo, T. 2008. A unifying hypothesis on the development of type 1 diabetes and celiac disease: Gluten consumption may be a shared causative factor. *Med Hypotheses* 70 (6): 1207-1209.
Froetschel, M. A. 1996. Bioactive peptides in digesta that regulate gastrointestinal function and intake. *Am Soc Animal Sci* 74 (10): 2500-2508.

Fruitier-Arnaudin, I., Murillo, L., Bordenave-Juchereau, S., Sannier, F. and Piot, J. M. 2005. Hemorphin: a novel class of regulatory endogenous bioactive peptides derived from hemoglobin degradation. Description of various physiological potential activities. *Febs Journal* 272: 154-154.

Fuechtenbusch, M., Karges, W., Standl, E., Dosch, H. M. and Ziegler, A. G. 1997. Antibodies to bovine serum albumin (BSA) in type 1 diabetes and other autoimmune disorders. *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes* 105: 86-91.

Fugger, L., Michie, S. A., Rulifson, I., Lock, C. B. and McDevitt, G. S. 1994. Expression of HLA-DR4 and human CD4 transgenes in mice determines the variable region ss-chain T-cell repertoire and mediates an HLA-DR-restricted immune response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 91 (13): 6151-6155.

Fukudome, S., Jinsmaa, Y., Matsukawa, T., Sasaki, R. and Yoshikawa, M. 1997. Release of opioid peptides, gluten exorphins by the action of pancreatic elastase. *FEBS letters* 412 (3): 475-479.

Fukudome, S. and Yoshikawa, M. 1992. Opioid peptides derived from wheat gluten: their isolation and characterization. *FEBS Lett* 296 (1): 107-11.

Fukudome, S. and Yoshikawa, M. 1993. Gluten exorphin C. A novel opioid peptide derived from wheat gluten. *FEBS Lett* 316 (1): 17-9.

Gagnaire, V., Molle, D., Herrouin, M. and Léonil, J. 2001. Peptides identified during Emmental cheese ripening: origin and proteolytic systems involved. *J. Agric. Food Chem* 49 (9): 4402-4413.

Ganapathy, V. and Miyauchi, S. 2005. Transport systems for opioid peptides in mammalian tissues. *The AAPS Journal* 7 (4): 852-856.

Ganesh, A. and Maxwell, L. G. 2007. Pathophysiology and management of opioid-induced pruritus. *Drugs* 67 (16): 2323.

Ganjam, L. S., Thornton, W. H., Marshall, R. T. and MacDonald, R. S. 1997. Antiproliferative effects of yogurt fractions obtained by membrane dialysis on cultured mammalian intestinal cells. *Journal of Dairy Science* 80 (10): 2325-2389.

Gardner, J., Rothwell, N. and Luheshi, G. 1998. Leptin affects food intake via CRF-receptormediated pathways. *Nature Neuroscience* 1: 103.

Garreau, I., Zhao, Q., Pejoan, C., Cupo, A. and Piot, J. M. 1995. VV-hemorphin-7 and LVVhemorphin-7 released during in vitro peptic hemoglobin hydrolysis are morphinomimetic peptides. *Neuropeptides(Edinburgh)* 28 (4): 243-250.

Gaucher, I., Mollé, D., Gagnaire, V. and Gaucheron, F. 2008. Effects of storage temperature on physico-chemical characteristics of semi-skimmed UHT milk. *Food Hydrocolloids* 22 (1): 130-143.



Geluk, A., van Meijgaarden, K. E., Schloot, N. C., Drijfhout, J. W., Ottenhoff, T. H. and Roep, B. O. 1998. HLA-DR binding analysis of peptides from islet antigens in IDDM. *Diabetes* 47 (10): 1594.

Gerstein, H. C. 1994. Cow's milk exposure and type I diabetes mellitus. A critical overview of the clinical literature. *Diabetes Care* 17 (1): 13-19.

Gimeno, S. G. and de Souza, J. M. 1997. IDDM and milk consumption. A case-control study in Sao Paulo, Brazil. *Diabetes Care* 20 (8): 1256.

Glerum, M., Robinson, B. H. and Martin, J. M. 1989. Could bovine serum albumin be the initiating antigen ultimately responsible for the development of insulin dependent diabetes mellitus? *Diabetes Res* 10 (3): 103-7.

Gobbetti, M., Minervini, F. and Rizzello, C. G. 2007. Bioactive Peptides in Dairy Products. *Handbook of Food Products Manufacturing: Principles, Bakery, Beverages, Cereals, Cheese, Confectionary, Fats, Fruits, and Functional Foods*: 489-517.

Gobbetti, M., Stepaniak, L., De Angelis, M., Corsetti, A. and Cagno, R. D. 2002. Latent bioactive beptides in milk proteins: Proteolytic activation and significance in dairy processing. *Critical Reviews In Food Science And Nutrition* 42 (3): 223-239.

Goldfarb, M. F. 2008. Relation of time of introduction of cow milk protein to an infant and risk of type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Proteome Research* 7 (5): 2165-2167.

Gómez-Ruiz, J., López-Expósito, I., Pihlanto, A., Ramos, M. and Recio, I. 2008. Antioxidant activity of ovine casein hydrolysates: identification of active peptides by HPLC–MS/MS. *European Food Research and Technology*: 1-7.

Graf, L., Horvath, K., Walcz, E., Berzetei, I. and Burnier, J. 1987. Effect of two synthetic agliadin peptides on lymphocytes in celiac disease: identification of a novel class of opioid receptors. *Neuropeptides(Edinburgh)* 9 (2): 113-122.

Grecksch, G., Schweigert, C. and Matthies, H. 1981. Evidence for analgesic activity of betacasomorphin in rats. *Neurosci Lett* 27 (3): 325-8.

Green, A., Gale, E. A. M. and Patterson, C. C. 1992. Incidence of childhood-onset insulindependent diabetes mellitus: the EURODIAB ACE study. *Lancet(British edition)* 339 (8798): 905-909.

Greenberg, R., Groves, M. L. and Dower, H. J. 1984. Human beta-casein. Amino acid sequence and identification of phosphorylation sites. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 259 (8): 5132-5138.

Guesdon, B., Pichon, L. and Tome, D. 2006. Opioid Peptides. In: Nutraceutical proteins and peptides in health and disease. Nutraceutical Science and Technology 4, 367-376.

Hagopian, W. A., Michelsen, B., Karlsen, A. E., Larsen, F., Moody, A., Grubin, C. E., Rowe, R., Petersen, J. S., McEvoy, R. and Lernmark, A. 1993. Autoantibody in insulin-dependent diabetes primarily recognize the Mr 65,000 rather than the Mr 67,000 isoform of glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Diabetes* 42: 631-636.

Haileselassie, S. S., Lee, B. H. and Gibbs, B. F. 1999. Purification and identification of potentially bioactive peptides from enzyme-modified cheese. *Journal of Dairy Science* 82 (8): 1612-1617.

Hallén, E., Wedholm, A., Andrén, A. and Lundén, A. 2008. Effect of  $\beta$ -casein, $\kappa$ -casein and  $\beta$ -lactoglobulin genotypes on concentration of milk protein variants. *Journal of Animal Breeding and Genetics* 125 (2): 119-129.

Hamel, U., Kielwein, G. and Teschemacher, H. 1985. Beta-casomorphin immunoreactive materials in cows' milk incubated with various bacterial species. *J Dairy Res* 52 (1): 139-48.

Hammer, J., Valsasnini, P., Tolba, K., Bolin, D., Higelin, J., Takacs, B. and Sinigaglia, F. 1993. Promiscuous and allele-specific anchors in HLA-DR-binding peptides. *Cell(Cambridge)* 74 (1): 197-203.

Hansen, D., Bennedbaek, F. N., Hansen, L. K., Hoier-Madsen, M., Hegedus, L., Jacobsen, B. B. and Husby, S. 2001. High prevalence of coeliac disease in Danish children with type I diabetes mellitus. *Acta Paediatrica* 90 (11): 1238-1243.

Hara, H., Fujibayashi, A. and Kiriyama, S. 1992. Pancreatic protease secretion profiles after spontaneous feeding of casein or soybean protein diet in unrestrained conscious rats. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 3 (4): 176-181.

Hartmann, R. and Meisel, H. 2007. Food-derived peptides with biological activity: from research to food applications. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 18 (2): 163-169.

Hartwig, A., Teschemacher, H., Lehmann, W., Gauly, M. and Erhardt, G. 1997. Influence of genetic polymorphisms in bovine milk on the occurence of bioactive peptides. Seminar on milk protein polymorphism, IDF special issue no. 9702. *International Dairy Federation, Brussels*: 459–460.

Hashimoto, L., Habita, C., Beressi, J. P., Delepine, M., Besse, C., Cambon-Thomsen, A., Deschamps, I., Rotter, J. I., Djouiah, S. and James, M. R. 1994. Genetic mapping of a susceptibility locus for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus on chromosome 11 q. *Nature(London)* 371 (6493): 161-164.

Hawa, M., Rowe, R., Lan, M. S., Notkins, A. L., Pozzilli, P., Christie, M. R. and Leslie, R. D. G. 1997. Value of antibodies to islet protein tyrosine phosphatase-like molecule in predicting type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes(New York, NY)* 46 (8): 1270-1275.

Hayeshi, R., Hilgendorf, C., Artursson, P., Augustijns, P., Brodin, B., Dehertogh, P., Fisher, K., Fossati, L., Hovenkamp, E. and Korjamo, T. 2008. Comparison of drug transporter gene expression and functionality in Caco-2 cells from 10 different laboratories. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 35 (5): 383-396.

Helgason, T., Danielsen, R. and Thorsson, A. V. 1992. Incidence and prevalence of Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus in Icelandic children 1970–1989. *Diabetologia* 35 (9): 880-883.

Helgason, T., Ewen, S. W., Ross, I. S. and Stowers, J. M. 1982. Diabetes produced in mice by smoked/cured mutton. *Lancet* 2 (8306): 1017-22.

Helgason, T. and Jonasson, M. R. 1981. Evidence for a food additive as a cause of ketosisprone diabetes. *Lancet* 2 (8249): 716-20.

Henschen, A., Lottspeich, F., Brantl, V. and Teschemacher, H. 1979. Novel opioid peptides derived from casein (beta-casomorphins). II. Structure of active components from bovine casein peptone. *Hoppe Seylers Z Physiol Chem* 360 (9): 1217-24.

Hermitte, L., Atlan-Gepner, C., Payan, M. J., Mehelleb, M. and Vialettes, B. 1995. Dietary protection against diabetes in NOD mice: lack of a major change in the immune system. *Diabetes and Metabolism* 21 (4): 261-8.

Hernández-Ledesma, B., Amigo, L., Ramos, M. and Recio, I. 2004. Release of angiotensin converting enzyme-inhibitory peptides by simulated gastrointestinal digestion of infant formulas. *International Dairy Journal* 14 (10): 889-898.

Hernández-Ledesma, B., Quirós, A., Amigo, L. and Recio, I. 2007. Identification of bioactive peptides after digestion of human milk and infant formula with pepsin and pancreatin. *International Dairy Journal* 17 (1): 42-49.

Hidalgo, I. J. and Li, J. 1996. Carrier-mediated transport and efflux mechanisms in Caco-2 cells. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 22 (1-2): 53-66.

Hilgendorf, C., Spahn-Langguth, H., Regårdh, C. G., Lipka, E., Amidon, G. L. and Langguth, P. 2000. Caco-2 versus Caco-2/HT29-MTX Co-cultured cell lines: Permeabilities via diffusion, inside-and outside-directed carrier-mediated transport. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences* 89 (1): 63-75.

Hill, J. P., Crawford, R. A. and Boland, M. J. 2002. Milk and consumer health: a review of the evidence for a relationship between the consumption of beta-case A1 with heart disease and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production* 62: 111-114.

Hines, H. C., Haenlein, G. F. W., Zikakis, J. P. and Dickey, H. C. 1977. Blood antigen, serum protein, and milk protein gene frequencies and genetic interrelationships in Holstein cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* 60 (7): 1143.

Hirata, H., Sonoda, S., Agui, S., Yoshida, M., Ohinata, K. and Yoshikawa, M. 2007. Rubiscolin-6, a d opioid peptide derived from spinach Rubisco, has anxiolytic effect via activating s1 and dopamine D1 receptors. *Peptides* 28 (10): 1998-2003.

Hong, F., Ming, L., Yi, S., Zhanxia, L., Yongquan, W. and Chi, L. 2008. The antihypertensive effect of peptides: A novel alternative to drugs? *Peptides* 29 (6): 1062-1071.

Hu, H., Miyauchi, S., Bridges, C. C., Smith, S. B. and Ganapathy, V. 2003. Identification of a novel Na-and Cl--coupled transport system for endogenous opioid peptides in retinal pigment epithelium and induction of the transport system by HIV-1 Tat. *Biochem. J* 375: 17-22.

Hughes, J., Smith, T. W., Kosterlitz, H. W., Fothergill, L. A., Morgan, B. A. and Morris, H. R. 1975. Identification of two related pentapeptides from the brain with potent opiate agonist activity. *Nature* 258 (5536): 577-579.

Hunter, L. C., O'Hare, A., Herron, W. J., Fisher, L. A. and Jones, G. E. 2003. Opioid peptides and dipeptidyl peptidase in autism. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* 45 (02): 121-128.

Hypponen, E. 2004. Micronutrients and the risk of type 1 diabetes: Vitamin D, Vitamin E, and Nicotinamide. *Nutrition Reviews* 62 (9): 340-347.

Hyppönen, E., Läärä, E., Reunanen, A., Järvelin, M. R. and Virtanen, S. M. 2001. Intake of vitamin D and risk of type 1 diabetes: a birth-cohort study. *The Lancet* 358 (9292): 1500-1503.

Iggman, D., Birgisdottir, B., Ramel, A., Hill, J. and Thorsdottir, I. 2003. Differences in cow's milk composition between Iceland and the other Nordic countries and possible connections to public health. *Scandinavian Journal of Food & Nutrition* 47 (4): 194-198.

Ikegami, H., Fujisawa, T., Kawabata, Y., Noso, S. and Ogihara, T. 2006. Genetics of type 1 diabetes: Similarities and differences between Asian and Caucasian populations. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1079 (1 Immunology of Diabetes IV: Progress in Our Understanding): 51-59.

Ikonen, T., Ruottinen, O., Erhardt, G. and Ojala, M. 1996. Allele frequencies of the major milk proteins in the Finnish Ayrshire and detection of a new [kappa]-casein variant. *Animal Genetics* 27 (3): 179.

Inman, L. R., McAllister, C. T., Chen, L., Hughes, S., Newgard, C. B., Kettman, J. R., Unger, R. H. and Johnson, J. H. 1993. Autoantibodies to the GLUT-2 glucose transporter of ss cells in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus of recent onset. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 90 (4): 1281-1284.

Issa-Chergui, B., Guttmann, R. D., Seemayer, T. A., Kelley, V. E. and Colle, E. 1988. The effect of diet on the spontaneous insulin dependent diabetic syndrome in the rat. *Diabetes Res* 9 (2): 81-6.

IUPHAR 2008. The IUPHAR Database on Receptor Nomenclature and Drug Classification. http://www.iuphar-db.org/GPCR/ReceptorListForward.

Ivarsson, S. A., Mansson, M. U. and Jakobsson, I. L. 1995. IgG antibodies to bovine serum albumin are not increased in children with IDDM. *Diabetes* 44 (11): 1349-50.

Iwan, M., Jarmolowska, B., Bielikowicz, K., Kostyra, E., Kostyra, H. and Kaczmarski, M. 2008. Transport of  $\mu$ -opioid receptor agonists and antagonist peptides across Caco-2 monolayer. *Peptides* 29 (6): 1042-1047.

Jaïdane, H., Goffard, A., Gharbi, J. and Hober, D. 2008. Vers une meilleure compréhension de la relation entre entérovirus et diabète de type. *Virologie* 12 (3): 187-200.

Jarmolowska, B., Kostyra, E., Krawczuk, S. and Kostyra, H. 1999. B-casomorphin-7 isolated from Brie cheese. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 79: 1788–1792.

Jarmolowska, B., Sidor, K., Iwan, M., Bielikowicz, K., Kaczmarski, M., Kostyra, E. and Kostyra, H. 2007a. Changes of β-casomorphin content in human milk during lactation. *Peptides* 28 (10): 1982-1986.

Jarmolowska, B., Szlapka-Sienkiewicz, E., Kostyra, E., Kostyra, H., Mierzejewska, D. and Marcinkiewicz-Darmochwal, K. 2007b. Opioid activity of Humana formula for newborns. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 87 (12): 2247-2250.

Jessop, D. S. 2006. Endomorphins as agents for the treatment of chronic inflammatory disease. *BioDrugs* 20 (3): 161.

Jinsmaa, M. and Yoshikawa, M. 1999. Enzymatic release of neocasomorphin and b-casomorphin from bovine b-casein. *Peptides* 20: 957–962.

Jinsmaa, Y., Takenaka, Y. and Yoshikawa, M. 2001. Designing of an orally active complement C3a agonist peptide with anti-analgesic and anti-amnesic activity. *Peptides* 22 (1): 25-32.

Jinsmaa, Y. and Yoshikawa, M. 2002. Release of hemorphin-5 from human hemoglobin by pancreatic elastase. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 66 (5): 1130-1132.

Johansson, C., Samuelsson, U. and Ludvigsson, J. 1994. A high weight gain early in life is associated with an increased risk of Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 37 (1): 91-94.

Joner, G. and Søvik, O. 1989. Increasing incidence of diabetes mellitus in Norwegian children 0–14 years of age 1973–1982. *Diabetologia* 32 (2): 79-83.

Juhela, S., Hyoty, H., Roivainen, M., Harkonen, T., Putto-Laurila, A., Simell, O. and Ilonen, J. 2000. T-cell responses to enterovirus antigens in children with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49 (8): 1308.

Juillard, V., Laan, H., Kunji, E. R., Jeronimus-Stratingh, C. M., Bruins, A. P. and Konings, W. N. 1995. The extracellular PI-type proteinase of Lactococcus lactis hydrolyzes beta-casein into more than one hundred different oligopeptides. *Journal of Bacteriology* 177 (12): 3472-3478.

Julier, C., Hyer, R. N., Davies, J., Merlin, F., Soularue, P., Briant, L., Cathelineau, G., Deschamps, I., Rotter, J. I. and Froguel, P. 1991. Insulin-IGF 2 region on chromosome 11 p encodes a gene implicated in HLA-DR 4-dependent diabetes susceptibility. *Nature* 354 (6349): 155-159.

Kahala, M., Pahkala, E. and Pihlanto-Leppaelae, A. 1993. Peptides in fermented Finnish milk products. *Agricultural and Food Science in Finland* 2 (5): 379-386.

Kaminski, S., Cieœlinska, A. and Kostyra, E. 2007. Polymorphism of bovine beta-casein and its potential effect on human health. *J Appl Genet* 48 (3): 189-198.

Kaprio, J., Tuomilehto, J., Koskenvuo, M., Romanov, K., Reunanen, A., Eriksson, J., Stengård, J. and Kesäniemi, Y. A. 1992. Concordance for Type 1 (insulin-dependent) and Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus in a population-based cohort of twins in Finland. *Diabetologia* 35 (11): 1060-1067.

Karges, W., Hammond-McKibben, D., Cheung, R. K., Visconti, M., Shibuya, N., Kemp, D. and Dosch, H. M. 1997a. Immunological aspects of nutritional diabetes prevention in NOD



mice: a pilot study for the cow's milk-based IDDM prevention trial. *Diabetes-New York-* 46: 557-564.

Karges, W., Hammond-Mckibben, D., Gaedigk, R., Shibuya, N., Cheung, R. and Dosch, H. M. 1997b. Loss of self-tolerance to ICA 69 in nonobese diabetic mice. *Diabetes(New York, NY)* 46 (10): 1548-1556.

Karjalainen, J., Martin, J. M., Knip, M., Ilonen, J., Robinson, B. H., Savilahti, E., Akerblom, H. K. and Dosch, H. M. 1992. A bovine albumin peptide as a possible trigger of insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *New England Journal of Medicine* 327 (5): 302-307.

Karvonen, M., Rusanen, J., Sundberg, M., Virtala, E., Colpaert, A., Naukkarinen, A., Tuomilehto, J., Finland, C. D. and Group, S. 1997. Regional differences in the incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among children in Finland from 1987 to 1991. *Annals of Medicine* 29 (4): 297-304.

Karvonen, M., Tuomilehto, J., Libman, I. and LaPorte, R. 1993. A review of the recent epidemiological data on the worldwide incidence of Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 36 (10): 883-892.

Karvonen, M., Viik-Kajander, M., Moltchanova, E., Libman, I., LaPorte, R. and Tuomilehto, J. 2000. Incidence of childhood type 1 diabetes worldwide. Diabetes Mondiale (DiaMond) Project Group. *Diabetes Care* 23 (10): 1516.

Kayser, H. and Meisel, H. 1996. Stimulation of human peripheral blood lymphocytes by bioactive peptides derived from bovine milk proteins. *FEBS letters* 383 (1-2): 18-20.

Kiddy, C. A., Peterson, R. F. and Kopfler, F. G. 1966. Genetic control of the variants of 3-casein. *J. Dairy Sci* 49 (Suppl 1): 742.

Killeen, N., Sawada, S. and Littman, D. R. 1993. Regulated expression of human CD4 rescues helper T cell development in mice lacking expression of endogenous CD4. *The EMBO Journal* 12 (4): 1547.

Kim, J. 1994. Higher autoantibody levels and recognition of a linear NH2-terminal epitope in the autoantigen GAD65, distinguish stiff-man syndrome from insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 180 (2): 595-606.

King, H., Aubert, R. E. and Herman, W. H. 1998. Global burden of diabetes, 1995-2025: prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. *Diabetes Care* 21 (9): 1414.

Knekt, P., Reunanen, A., Marniemi, J., Leino, A. and Aromaa, A. 1999. Low vitamin E status is a potential risk factor for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 245 (1): 99-102.

Knip, M. and Aakerblom, H. K. 1999. Environmental factors in the pathogenesis of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Experimental and Clinical Endocrinology and Diabetes* 107: 93-100.

Knip, M., Reunanen, A., Virtanen, S. M., Nuutinen, M., Viikari, J. and Akerblom, H. K. 2008. Does the secular increase in body mass in children contribute to the increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes? *Pediatric Diabetes* (0):



Koch, G., Wiedemann, K. and Teschemacher, H. 1985. Opioid activities of human ß-casomorphins. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology* 331 (4): 351-354.

Korhonen, H. and Pihlanto, A. 2003. Food-derived bioactive peptides - Opportunities for designing future foods. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 9 (16): 1297-1308.

Korhonen, H. and Pihlanto, A. 2006. Bioactive peptides: Production and functionality. *International Dairy Journal* 16 (9): 945-960.

Korhonen, H. and Pihlanto, A. 2007. Bioactive peptides from food proteins. *Handbook of food products manufacturing: health, meat, milk poultry, seafood, and vegetables; John Wiley&Sons*: 5-38.

Kostraba, J. N. 1992. Early infant diet and risk of IDDM in blacks and whites. A matched case-control study. *Diabetes Care* 15 (5): 626-631.

Kostraba, J. N., Cruickshanks, K. J., Lawler-Heavner, J., Jobim, L. F., Rewers, M. J., Gay, E. C., Chase, H. P., Klingensmith, G. and Hamman, R. F. 1993. Early exposure to cow's milk and solid foods in infancy, genetic predisposition, and risk of IDDM. *Diabetes-New York* 42: 288-288.

Kostyra, E., Sienkiewicz-Sztapka, E., Jarmolowska, B., Krawczuk, S. and Kostyra, H. 2004. Opioid peptides derived from milk proteins. *Polish Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences* 13: 25-35.

Krokowski, M., Caillat-Zucman, S., Timsit, J., Larger, E., Pehuet-Figoni, M., Bach, J. F. and Boitard, C. 1995. Anti-bovine serum albumin antibodies: genetic heterogeneity and clinical relevance in adult-onset IDDM. *Diabetes Care* 18 (2): 170.

Kuge, T., Greenwood-Van Meerveld, B. and Sokabe, M. 2006. Stress-induced breakdown of intestinal barrier function in the rat: Reversal by wood creosote. *Life Sciences* 79 (9): 913-918.

Kunz, C. and Lonnerdal, B. 1992. Re-evaluation of the whey protein/casein ratio of human milk. *Acta Paediatrica* 81 (2): 107-112.

Kunz, C. and Lönnerdal, B. 1990. Casein and casein subunits in preterm milk, colostrum, and mature human milk. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 10 (4): 454.

Kurek, M., Czerwionka-Szaflarska, M. and Doroszewska, G. 1995. Pseudoallergic skin reactions to opiate sequences of bovine casein in healthy children. *Rocz Akad Med Bialymst* 40 (3): 480-5.

Kurek, M. and Malaczynska, T. 1999. Food Allergy, Atopic dermatitis-nutritive casein formula elicits pseudoallergic skin reactions by prick testing. *International Archives of Allergy and Immunology* 118 (2): 228-229.

Kurek, M., Przybilla, B., Hermann, K. and Ring, J. 1992. A naturally occurring opioid peptide from cow's milk, beta-casomorphine-7, is a direct histamine releaser in man. *International Archives of Allergy and Applied Immunology* 97 (2): 115-120.



Kyvik, K. O., Green, A. and Beck-Nielsen, H. 1995. Concordance rates of insulin dependent diabetes mellitus: a population based study of young Danish twins. *British Medical Journal* 311 (7010): 913-917.

Kyvik, K. O., Green, A., Svendsen, A. and Mortensen, K. 1992. Breast feeding and the development of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med* 9 (3): 233-5.

Lahov, E. and Regelson, W. 1996. Antibacterial and immunostimulating casein-derived substances from milk: Casecidin, isracidin peptides. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 34 (1): 131-145.

Lampasona, V., Ferrari, M., Bosi, E., Pastore, M. R., Bingley, P. J. and Bonifacio, E. 1994. Sera from patients with IDDM and healthy individuals have antibodies to ICA69 on western blots but do not immunoprecipitate liquid phase antigen. *J Autoimmun* 7 (5): 665-74.

Lampeter, E. F., Klinghammer, A., Scherbaum, W. A., Heinze, E., Haastert, B., Giani, G. and Kolb, H. 1998. The Deutsche Nicotinamide intervention study: An attempt to prevent type 1 Diabetes. *Diabetes (New York, NY)* 47 (6): 980-984.

Lampeter, E. F., Signore, A., Gale, E. A. M. and Pozzilli, P. 1989. Lessons from the NOD mouse for the pathogenesis and immunotherapy of human Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 32 (10): 703-708.

Lapointe, A., Couillard, C. and Lemieux, S. 2006. Effects of dietary factors on oxidation of low-density lipoprotein particles. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 17 (10): 645-658.

Larsen, Z., Kristiansen, O., Mato, E., Johannesen, J., Puig-Domingo, M., de Leiva, A., Nerup, J. and Pociot, F. 1999. IDDM12 (CTLA4) on 2q33 and IDDM13 on 2q34 in genetic susceptibility to type 1 diabetes (insulin-dependent). *Autoimmunity* 31: 35-42.

Laugesen, M. and Elliott, R. 2003a. Ischaemic heart disease, Type 1 diabetes, and cow milk A1 ß-casein. *Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association* 116 (1168):

Laugesen, M. and Elliott, R. 2003b. The influence of consumption of A1 ß-casein on heart disease and Type 1 diabetes-the authors reply. *Journal of the New Zealand Medical Association* 116 (1170):

Leech, S. 1998. Molecular mimicry in autoimmune disease. *Royal Coll Paediatrics* 79 (5): 448-451.

Levy-Marchal, C., Karjalainen, J., Dubois, F., Karges, W., Czernichow, P. and Dosch, H. M. 1995. Antibodies against bovine albumin and other diabetes markers in French children. *Diabetes Care* 18 (8): 1089.

Lien, S., Kantanen, J., Olsaker, I., Holm, L. E., Eythorsdottir, E., Sandberg, K., Dalsgard, B. and Adalsteinsson, S. 1999. Comparison of milk protein allele frequencies in Nordic cattle breeds. *Animal Genetics* 30 (2): 85.

Liinamo, A. E. 2000. Breeding for carcass traits in dairy cattle. *Academic Dissertation, Dept of Animal Science, University of Helsinki, Finland*:

Lin, C. Y. and McAllister, A. J. 1986. Effects of milk protein loci on first lactation production in dairy cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* 69 (3): 704.

Lin, L., Umahara, M., York, D. A. and Bray, G. A. 1998. Beta casomorphins stimulate and enterostatin inhibits the intake of dietary fats in rats. *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 19 (2): 325-331.

Lin, X., Xue, L. Y., Wang, R., Zhao, Q. Y. and Chen, Q. 2006. Protective effects of endomorphins, endogenous opioid peptides in the brain, on human low density lipoprotein oxidation. *Febs Journal* 273 (6): 1275-1284.

Lönnerdal, B., Forsum, E., Gebre-Medhin, M. and Hambraeus, L. 1976. Breast milk composition in Ethiopian and Swedish mothers. II. Lactose, nitrogen and protein content. *Am J Clin Nutr* 29: 1134-1141.

Luhder, F., Schlosser, M., Michaelis, D., Ziegler, B., Kohnert, K. D. and Ziegler, M. 1994. No association between anti-bovine serum albumin antibodies and islet cell reactive antibodies in newly diagnosed type 1 diabetic patients. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 26 (1): 35-41.

Lunden, A., Nilsson, M. and Janson, L. 1997. Marked effect of β-lactoglobulin polymorphism on the ratio of casein to total protein in milk. *Journal of Dairy Science* 80: 2996-3005.

Luopajarvi, K., Savilahti, E., Virtanen, S. M., Ilonen, J., Knip, M., Akerblom, H. K. and Vaarala, O. 2008. Enhanced levels of cow's milk antibodies in infancy in children who develop type 1 diabetes later in childhood. *Pediatric Diabetes* 9 (5): 434-441.

Macaud, C., Zhao, Q., Ricart, G. and Piot, J. M. 1999. Rapid detection of a casomorphin and new casomorphin-like peptide from a peptic casein hydrolysate by spectral comparison and second order derivative spectroscopy during HPLC analysis. *Journal of Liquid Chromatography & Related Technologies* 22 (3): 401-418.

Mahe, S., Benamouzig, R., Gaudichon, C., Huneau, J. F., Decruz, I., Rautureau, J. and Tome, D. 1995. Nitrogen movements in the upper jejunum lumen in humans fed low amounts of casein or beta-Lactoglobulin. *Gastroenterologie Clinique Et Biologique* 19 (1): 20-26.

Mahe, S., Roos, N., Benamouzig, R., Davin, L., Luengo, C., Gagnon, L., Gausserges, N., Rautureau, J. and Tome, D. 1996. Gastrojejunal kinetics and the digestion of [N-15]beta-lactoglobulin and casein in humans: The influence of the nature and quantity of the protein. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 63 (4): 546-552.

Mahe, S., Tome, D., Dumontier, A. M. and Desjeux, J. F. 1989a. Absorption of intact morphiceptin by diisopropylfluorophosphate-treated rabbit ileum. *Peptides* 10 (1): 45-52.

Mahé, S., Tomé, D., Dumontier, A. M. and Desjeux, J. F. 1989b. Absorption of intact beta-casomorphins (beta-CM) in rabbit ileum in vitro. *Reprod Nutr Dev* 29 (6): 725-33.

Maklakova, A. S., Dubynin, V. A., Nazarenko, I. V., Nezavibat'ko, V. N., Alfeeva, L. A. and Kamenskii, A. A. 1995. Effects of β-casomorphin-7 on different types of learning in white rats. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 120 (5): 1121-1124.

Malkani, S., Nompleggi, D., Hansen, J. W., Greiner, D. L., Mordes, J. P. and Rossini, A. A. 1997. Dietary cow's milk protein does not alter the frequency of diabetes in the BB rat. *Diabetes-New York* - 46: 1133-1140.

Manderson, J. A., Mosse, P. R., Safstrom, J. A., Young, S. B. and Campbell, G. R. 1989. Balloon catheter injury to rabbit carotid artery. I. Changes in smooth muscle phenotype. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 9 (3): 289-298.

Mann, J. and Skeaff, M. 2003. B-casein variants and atherosclerosis—claims are premature. *Atherosclerosis* 170 (1): 11-12.

Mansour, A., TomÉ, D., Rautureau, M., Bisalli, A. and Desjeux, J. F. 1988. Luminal antisecretory effects of a [beta]-casomorphin analogue on rabbit ileum treated with cholera toxin. *Pediatric Research* 24 (6): 751.

Marron, M. P., Zeidler, A., Raffel, L. J., Eckenrode, S. E., Yang, J. J., Hopkins, D. I., Garchon, H. J., Jacob, C. O., Serrano-Rios, M. and Martinez Larrad, M. T. 2000. Genetic and physical mapping of a type 1 diabetes susceptibility gene (IDDM12) to a 100-kb phagemid artificial chromosome clone containing D2S72-CTLA4-D2S105 on chromosome 2q33. *Diabetes* 49 (3): 492.

Martin, J. M., Trink, B., Daneman, D., Dosch, H. M. and Robinson, B. 1991. Milk proteins in the etiology of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (IDDM). *Annals of Medicine* 23 (4): 447-452.

Martin, S., Lampasona, V., Dosch, M. and Pietropaolo, M. 1996. Islet cell autoantigen 69 antibodies in IDDM. *Diabetologia* 39 (6): 747.

Marttila, J., Huttunen, S., Vaarala, O., Suzuki, K., Elliott, J. F., Närvänen, A., Knip, M., Simell, O. and Ilonen, J. 2008. T-cell reactivity to insulin peptide A1–12 in children with recently diagnosed type 1 diabetes or multiple β-cell autoantibodies. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 31 (2): 142-148.

Maslennikova, N. V., Sazonova, E. N. and Timoshin, S. S. 2008. Effect of-casomorphin-7 on DNA synthesis in cell populations of newborn albino rats. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 145 (2): 210-212.

Matar, C. and Goulet, J. 1996. B-casomorphin 4 from milk fermented by a mutant of Lactobacillus helveticus. *International Dairy Journal* 6 (4): 383-397.

Matar, C., Nadathur, S. S., Bakalinsky, A. T. and Goulet, J. 1997. Antimutagenic effects of milk fermented by Lactobacillus helveticus 189 and a protease-deficient derivative. *Journal of Dairy Science* 80 (9): 1965-1970.

Matsuura, E., Hughes, G. R. V. and Khamashta, M. A. 2008. Oxidation of LDL and its clinical implication. *Autoimmunity Reviews* 7 (7): 558-566.

Matthies, H., Stark, H., Hartrodt, B., Ruethrich, H. L., Spieler, H. T., Barth, A. and Neubert, K. 1984. Derivatives of beta-casomorphins with high analgesic potency. *Peptides* 5 (3): 463-70.

Mayer, E. J., Hamman, R. F., Gay, E. C., Lezotte, D. C., Savitz, D. A. and Klingensmith, G. J. 1988. Reduced risk of IDDM among breast-fed children. The Colorado IDDM Registry. *Diabetes* 37 (12): 1625-32.

McLachlan, C. N. S. 2001. ß-casein A1, ischaemic heart disease mortality, and other illnesses. *Medical Hypotheses* 56 (2): 262-272.

McLaurin, J. A., Hafler, D. A. and Antel, J. P. 1995. Reactivity of normal T-cell lines to MBP isolated from normal and multiple sclerosis white matter. *J Neurol Sci* 128 (2): 205-11.

McLean, D. M., Graham, E. R., Ponzoni, R. W. and McKenzie, H. A. 1984. Effects of milk protein genetic variants on milk yield and composition. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 51 (4): 531-546.

McSweeney, P. L. H. 2004. Biochemistry of cheese ripening. *International Journal of Dairy Technology* 57 (2-3): 127-144.

Meisel, H. 1997. Biochemical properties of regulatory peptides derived from milk proteins. *Biopolymers* 43 (2): 119-128.

Meisel, H. 2004. Multifunctional peptides encrypted in milk proteins. *BioFactors* 21 (1): 55-61.

Meisel, H. and Bockelmann, W. 1999. Bioactive peptides encrypted in milk proteins: proteolytic activation and thropho-functional properties. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek* 76 (1): 207-215.

Meisel, H. and FitzGerald, R. J. 2000. Opioid peptides encrypted in intact milk protein sequences. *British Journal of Nutrition* 84 (1): 27-31.

Meloni, T., Marinaro, A. M., Mannazzu, M., Ogana, A., La Vecchia, C., Negri, E. and Colombo, C. 1997. IDDM and early infant feeding. Sardinian case-control study. *Diabetes Care* 20 (3): 340-342.

Mierau, I., Kunji, E. R. S., Venema, G. and Kok, J. 1997. Casein and peptide degradation in lactic acid bacteria. *Biotechnology & Genetic Engineering Reviews* 14: 279-301.

Migliore-Samour, D. and Jollès, P. 1988. Casein, a prohormone with an immunomodulating role for the newborn? *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences (CMLS)* 44 (3): 188-193.

Mihatsch, W. A., Franz, A. R., Kuhnt, B., Hogel, J. and Pohlandt, F. 2005. Hydrolysis of casein accelerates gastrointestinal transit via reduction of opioid receptor agonists released from casein in rats. *Biol Neonate* 87 (3): 160-163.

Millward, C., Ferriter, M., Calver, S. and Connell-Jones, G. 2008. Gluten-and casein-free diets for autistic spectrum disorder. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews* online (2): CD003498.

Mine, Y. and Shahidi, F. 2006. Nutraceutical proteins and peptides in health and disease: an overview. Boca Raton, CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group. 3-9.

Miyazaki, I. 1995. T cell activation and anergy to islet cell antigen in type I diabetes. *The Journal of Immunology* 154 (3): 1461-1469.

Möller, N. P., Scholz-Ahrens, K. E., Roos, N. and Schrezenmeir, J. 2008. Bioactive peptides and proteins from foods: indication for health effects. *European Journal of Nutrition* 47 (4): 171-182.

Monetini, L., Barone, F., Stefanini, L., Petrone, A., Walk, T., Jung, G., Thorpe, R., Pozzilli, P. and Cavallo, M. G. 2003. Establishment of T cell lines to bovine beta-casein and beta-caseinderived epitopes in patients with type 1 diabetes. *Journal of Endocrinology* 176 (1): 143-150.

Monetini, L., Cavallo, M. G., Manfrini, S., Stefanini, L., Picarelli, A., Di Tola, M., Petrone, A., Bianchi, M., La Presa, M., Di Giulio, C., Baroni, M. G., Thorpe, R., Walker, B. K. and Pozzilli, P. 2002. Antibodies to bovine beta-casein in diabetes and other autoimmune diseases. *Hormone and Metabolic Research* 34 (8): 455-459.

Morel, P. A., Dorman, J. S., Todd, J. A., McDevitt, H. O. and Trucco, M. 1988. Aspartic acid at position 57 of the HLA-DQ ss chain protects against type I diabetes: A family study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 85 (21): 8111-8115.

Morgenstern, H. and Thomas, D. 1993. Principles of Study Design in Environmental Epidemiology. *Environmental Health Perspectives Supplements* 101 (4): 23-38.

Morley, J. E., Levine, A. S., Yamada, T., Gebhard, R. L., Prigge, W. F., Shafer, R. B., Goetz, F. C. and Silvis, S. E. 1983. Effect of exorphins on gastrointestinal function, hormonal release, and appetite. *Gastroenterology* 84 (6): 1517-23.

Morris, P. E. and FitzGerald, R. J. 2008. Whey proteins and peptides in human health. In: Whey Processing, Functionality and Health Benefits - (ed: Onwulata, C.) Woodhead Publishing, UK, 287-345.

Moskowitz, D. W. 2002. Is" Somatic" Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme a mechanosensor? *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics* 4 (6): 841-858.

Moskowitz, D. W. 2003. Pathophysiologic Implications of Angiotensin I-Converting Enzyme as a mechanosensor: Diabetes. *Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics* 5 (2): 189-199.

Muehlenkamp, M. R. and Warthesen, J. J. 1996. Beta-casomorphins: Analysis in cheese and susceptibility to proteolytic enzymes from Lactococcus lactis ssp. cremoris. *Journal of Dairy Science* 79 (1): 20-26.

Muntoni, S. 2006a. Epidemiological association between some dietary habits and the increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes worldwide. *Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism* 50 (1): 11-19.

Muntoni, S., Cocco, P. and Aru, G. 2006b. Nitrate in Community Water Supplies and Risk of Childhood Type 1 Diabetes in Sardinia, Italy. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 21 (3): 245-247.

Muntoni, S., Fonte, M. T., Stoduto, S., Marietti, G., Bizzarri, C., Crino, A., Ciampalini, P., Multari, G., Suppa, M. A. and Matteoli, M. C. 1997. Incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among Sardinian-heritage children born in Lazio region, Italy. *Lancet* 349 (9046): 160-2.

Murphy, R. F. and Downey, W. K. 1969. Milk protein polymorphisms in the Kerry breed of cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* 52 (7): 1113.

Murray, B. A. and FitzGerald, R. J. 2007. Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitory peptides derived from food proteins: Biochemistry, bioactivity and production. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 13 (8): 773-791.

Nagaune, S., Azuma, N., Ishino, Y., Mori, H., Kaminogawa, S. and Yamauchi, K. 1989. DNA-synthesis stimulating peptide from bovine β-casein. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 53 (12): 3275-3278.

Näntö-Salonen, K., Kupila, A., Simell, S., Siljander, H., Salonsaari, T., Hekkala, A., Korhonen, S., Erkkola, R., Sipilä, J. I. and Haavisto, L. 2008. Nasal insulin to prevent type 1 diabetes in children with HLA genotypes and autoantibodies conferring increased risk of disease: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet* 372 (9651): 1746-1755.

Napoli, A., Aiello, D., Di Donna, L., Prendushi, H. and Sindona, G. 2007. Exploitation of endogenous protease activity in raw mastitic milk by MALDI-TOF/TOF. *Analytical chemistry(Washington, DC)* 79 (15): 5941-5948.

Naquet, P. 1988. T cell autoreactivity to insulin in diabetic and related non-diabetic individuals. *The Journal of Immunology* 140 (8): 2569-2578.

Ng-Kwai-Hang, K. and Grosclaude, F. 2003. Genetic polymorphism of milk proteins. *Advanced Dairy Chemistry 3rd edition* 1: 405-455.

Ng-Kwai-Hang, K. F. and Kim, S. 1994. Genetic polymorphism of milk proteins in Ayrshire, Jersey, Brown Swiss and Canadienne. *Brief communications of the XXIV International dairy Congress, Melbourne* Gb74:

Nicklas, B. J., You, T. and Pahor, M. 2005. Behavioural treatments for chronic systemic inflammation: effects of dietary weight loss and exercise training. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* 172 (9): 1199-1209.

Nigro, G., Campea, L., De Novellis, A. and Orsini, M. 1985. Breast-feeding and insulindependent diabetes mellitus. *Lancet* 1 (8426): 467.

Nistico, L., Buzzetti, R., Pritchard, L. E., Van Der Auwera, B., Giovannini, C., Bosi, E., Martinez Larrad, M. T., Serrano Rios, M., Chow, C. C. and Cockram, C. S. 1996. The CTLA-4 gene region of chromsome 2 q 33 is linked to, and associated with, type 1 diabetes. *Human molecular genetics(Print)* 5 (7): 1075-1080.

Norris, J. M., Beaty, B., Klingensmith, G., Yu, L., Hoffman, M., Chase, H. P., Erlich, H. A., Hamman, R. F., Eisenbarth, G. S. and Rewers, M. 1996. Lack of association between early exposure to cow's milk protein and beta -cell autoimmunity. *JAMA, Journal of the American Medical Association* 276 (8): 609-614.

Norris, J. M. and Scott, F. W. 1996. A meta-analysis of infant diet and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: Do biases play a role? *Epidemiology* 7 (1): 87.

O'Driscoll, B. M., Rattray, F. P., McSweeney, P. L. H. and Kelly, A. L. 1999. Protease activities in raw milk determined using a synthetic heptapeptide substrate. *Journal of Food Science* 64 (4): 606-611.

O'Hara, H. M. 1995. Genetic variants of milk proteins and their effect on the composition and processing properties of bovine milk. *MSc Thesis, National University of Ireland*:

Ohinata, K., Agui, S. and Yoshikawa, M. 2007. Soymorphins, novel  $\mu$  opioid peptides derived from soy  $\beta$ -conglycinin  $\beta$ -subunit, have anxiolytic activities. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 71 (10): 2618-2621.

Onkamo, P., Väänänen, S., Karvonen, M. and Tuomilehto, J. 1999. Worldwide increase in incidence of Type I diabetes-the analysis of the data on published incidence trends. *Diabetologia* 42 (12): 1395-1403.

Otani, H. and Hata, I. 1995a. Inhibition of proliferative responses of mouse spleen lymphocytes and rabbit Peyer's patch cells by bovine milk caseins and their digests. *Journal of Dairy Research* 62: 339-339.

Otani, H., Horimoto, Y. and Monnai, M. 1996. Suppression of interleukin-2 receptor expression on mouse CD4+ T cells by bovine  $\kappa$ -caseinoglycopeptide. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 60 (6): 1017-1019.

Otani, H. and Monnai, M. 1993. Inhibition of proliferative responses of mouse spleen lymphocytes by bovine milk beta-casein digests. *Food and Agricultural Immunology* 5: 219-229.

Otani, H. and Monnai, M. 1995b. Induction of an interleukin-1 receptor antagonist-like component produced from mouse spleen cells by bovine k-caseinoglycopeptide. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 59 (6): 1166-1168.

Otani, H., Monnai, M. and Hosono, A. 1992. Bovine k-casein as inhibitor of the proliferation of mouse splenocytes induced by lipopolysaccharide stimulation. *Milchwissenschaft* 47 (8): 512-515.

Otani, H., Monnai, M., Kawasaki, Y., Kawakami, H. and Tanimoto, M. 1995c. Inhibition of mitogen-induced proliferative responses of lymphocytes by bovine k-caseinoglycopeptides having different carbohydrate chains. *Journal of Dairy Research* 62 (2): 349-357.

Owerbach, D. and Gabbay, K. H. 1995. The HOXD8 locus (2q31) is linked to type I diabetes. Interaction with chromosome 6 and 11 disease susceptibility genes. *Diabetes* 44 (1): 132-6.

Pacha, J. 2000. Development of intestinal transport function in mammals. *Physiological Reviews* 80 (4): 1633-1667.

Padberg, S., Schumm-Draeger, P. M., Petzoldt, R., Becker, F. and Federlin, K. 1999. The significance of A1 and A2 antibodies against beta-casein in type-1 diabetes mellitus. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr* 124 (50): 1518-21.

Palmer, L. D., Weng, N., Levine, B. L., June, C. H., Lane, H. C. and Hodes, R. J. 1997. Telomere length, telomerase activity, and replicative potential in HIV infection: Analysis of



CD4+ and CD8+ T cells from HIV-discordant monozygotic twins. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 185 (7): 1381-1386.

Panksepp, J., Normansell, L., Siviy, S., Rossi 3rd, J. and Zolovick, A. J. 1984. Casomorphins reduce separation distress in chicks. *Peptides* 5 (4): 829-31.

Parker, F., Migliore-Samour, D., Floch, F., Zerial, A., Werner, G. H., Jolles, J., Casaretto, M., Zahn, H. and Jolles, P. 1984. Immunostimulating hexapeptide from human casein: amino acid sequence, synthesis and biological properties. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 145 (3): 677-682.

Paroli, E. 1988. Opioid peptides from food(the exorphins). *World review of nutrition and dietetics* 55: 58-97.

Paronen, J., Klemetti, P., Kantele, J. M., Savilahti, E., Perheentupa, J., Akerblom, H. K. and Vaarala, O. 1997. Glutamate decarboxylase-reactive peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with IDDM express gut-specific homing receptor  $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-integrin. *Diabetes(New York, NY)* 46 (4): 583-588.

Paronen, J., Knip, M., Savilahti, E., Virtanen, S. M., Ilonen, J. and Åkerblom, H. K. 2000. Effect of cow's milk exposure and maternal type 1 diabetes on cellular and humoral immunization to dietary insulin in infants at genetic risk for type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49: 1657-1665.

Parry, S. L., Hall, F. C., Olson, J., Kamradt, T. and Srnderstrup, G. 1998. Autoreactivity versus autoaggression: a different perspective on human autoantigens. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 10 (6): 663-668.

Patel, L. N., Zaro, J. L. and Shen, W. C. 2007. Cell penetrating peptides: Intracellular pathways and pharmaceutical perspectives. *Pharmaceutical Research* 24 (11): 1977-1992.

Patel, S. D., Cope, A. P., Congia, M., Chen, T. T., Kim, E., Fugger, L., Wherrett, D. and Sonderstrup-McDevitt, G. 1997. Identification of immunodominant T cell epitopes of human glutamic acid decarboxylase 65 by using HLA-DR (a1\* 0101, B1\* 0401) transgenic mice. *National Acad Sciences* 94 (15): 8082-8087.

Patterson, C. C., Carson, D. J., Hadden, D. R., Waugh, N. R. and Cole, S. K. 1994. A casecontrol investigation of perinatal risk factors for childhood IDDM in Northern Ireland and Scotland. *Diabetes Care* 17 (5): 376-381.

Pattinson, K. T. S. 2008. Opioids and the control of respiration. *British Journal of Anaesthesia* 100 (6): 747-758.

Pauletti, G. M., Gangwar, S., Knipp, G. T., Nerurkar, M. M., Okumu, F. W., Tamura, K., Siahaan, T. J. and Borchardt, R. T. 1996. Structural requirements for intestinal absorption of peptide drugs. *Journal of Controlled Release* 41 (1-2): 3-17.

Paxson, J. A., Weber, J. G. and Kulczycki, A. 1997. Cow's milk-free diet does not prevent diabetes in NOD mice. *Diabetes-New York* 46: 1711-1717.

Peckys, D. and Landwehrmeyer, G. B. 1999. Expression of mu, kappa, and delta opioid receptor messenger RNA in the human CNS: a 33P in situ hybridization study. *Neuroscience* 88 (4): 1093-1135.

Pedersen, N. L., Nagain-Domaine, C., Mahe, S., Chariot, J., Roze, C. and Tome, D. 2000. Caseinomacropeptide specifically stimulates exocrine pancreatic secretion in the anesthetized rat. *Peptides* 21 (10): 1527-1535.

Pellegrino, L., van Boekel, M., Gruppen, H., Resmini, P. and Pagani, M. A. 1999. Heatinduced aggregation and covalent linkages in β-casein model systems. *International Dairy Journal* 9 (3-6): 255-260.

Peng, X., Xiong, Y. L. and Kong, B. 2008. Antioxidant activity of peptide fractions from whey protein hydrolysates as measured by electron spin resonance. *Food Chemistry* 113 (1): 196-201.

Pérez-Bravo, F., Carrasco, E., Gutierrez-López, M. D., Martínez, M. T., López, G. and Rios, M. G. 1996. Genetic predisposition and environmental factors leading to the development of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Chilean children. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 74 (2): 105-109.

Pert, C. B. and Snyder, S. H. 1973. Opiate receptor: Demonstration in nervous tissue. *American Association for the Advancement of Science* 179 (4077): 1011-1014.

Peter, S. 2007. Trends in the incidence of type I diabetes mellitus worldwide. *West Indian Medical Journal* 56 (3): 264.

Peterson, R. F. and Kopfler, F. C. 1966. Detection of new types of  $\beta$ -casein by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis at acid pH: A proposed nomenclature. *Bioch. And Biophys. Research Communications* 22: 368.

Petrilli, P., Picone, D., Caporale, C., Addeo, F., Auricchio, S. and Marino, G. 1984. Does casomorphin have a functional role? *FEBS letters* 169 (1): 53-56.

Petrilli, P., Pucci, P., Pelissier, J. P. and Addeo, F. 1987. Digestion by pancreatic juice of a beta-casomorphin-containing fragment of buffalo beta-casein. *Int J Pept Protein Res* 29 (4): 504-8.

Pietropaolo, M., Castaño, L., Babu, S., Buelow, R., Kuo, Y. L., Martin, S., Martin, A., Powers, A. C., Prochazka, M. and Naggert, J. 1993. Islet cell autoantigen 69 kD (ICA69). Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel diabetes-associated autoantigen. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 92 (1): 359.

Pietropaolo, M., Peakman, M., Pietropaolo, S. L., Zanone, M. M., Foley Jr, T. P., Becker, D. J. and Trucco, M. 1998. Combined Analysis of GAD65 and ICA512 (IA-2) Autoantibodies in organ and non-organ-specific autoimmune diseases confers high specificity for insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 11 (1): 1-10.

Pihlanto, A. and Korhonen, H. 2003. Bioactive peptides and proteins. *Advances in Food and Nutrition Research* 47: 175-276.

Pihlanto-Leppälä, A. 2000. Bioactive peptides derived from bovine whey proteins opioid and ace-inhibitory peptides. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 11 (9-10): 347-356.

Pinto, M., Robine-Leon, S., Appay, M. D., Kedinger, M., Triadou, N., Dussaulx, E., Lacroix, B., Simon-Assmann, P., Haffen, K. and Fogh, J. 1983. Enterocyte-like differentiation and polarization of the human colon carcinoma cell line Caco-2 in culture. *Biol Cell* 47 (3): 323-330.

Ploix, C., Bergerot, I., Fabien, N., Perche, S., Moulin, V. and Thivolet, C. 1998. Protection against autoimmune diabetes with oral insulin is associated with the presence of IL-4 type 2 T-cells in the pancreas and pancreatic lymph nodes. *Diabetes* 47 (1): 39-44.

Pozzilli, P. 1999. Beta-casein in cow's milk: a major antigenic determinant for type 1 diabetes? *J Endocrinol Invest* 22 (7): 562-7.

Pozzilli, P., Guglielmi, C., Pronina, E. and Petraikina, E. 2007. Double or hybrid diabetes associated with an increase in type 1 and type 2 diabetes in children and youths. *Pediatric Diabetes* 8 (s9): 88-95.

Pupkova, G. V. 1980. Milk protein polymorphism and milk production of Estonian Black Pied cows. *Dairy Science Abstracts* 45: 6620.

Quirós, A., Dávalos, A., Lasunción, M. A., Ramos, M. and Recio, I. 2008. Bioavailability of the antihypertensive peptide LHLPLP: Transepithelial flux of HLPLP. *International Dairy Journal* 18 (3): 279-286.

Quock, R. M., Burkey, T. H., Varga, E., Hosohata, Y., Hosohata, K., Cowell, S. M., Slate, C. A., Ehlert, F. J., Roeske, W. R. and Yamamura, H. I. 1999. The d-opioid receptor: Molecular pharmacology, signal transduction, and the determination of drug efficacy. *Pharmacological Reviews* 51 (3): 503-532.

Rabinovitch, A. and Suarez-Pinzon, W. L. 1998. Cytokines and their roles in pancreatic islet ß-cell destruction and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 55 (8): 1139-1149.

Rammensee, H. G., Friede, T. and Stevanoviic, S. 1995. MHC ligands and peptide motifs: first listing. *Immunogenetics* 41 (4): 178-228.

Rasmussen, L. K., Due, H. A. and Petersen, T. E. 1995. Human alpha s1-casein: purification and characterization. *Comp Biochem Physiol B Biochem Mol Biol* 111 (1): 75-81.

Redondo, M. J., Rewers, M., Yu, L., Garg, S., Pilcher, C. C., Elliott, R. B. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 1999. Genetic determination of islet cell autoimmunity in monozygotic twin, dizygotic twin, and non-twin siblings of patients with type 1 diabetes: prospective twin study. *British Medical Journal* 318 (7185): 698-702.

Reichelt, K. L. and Knivsberg, A. M. 2003. Can the pathophysiology of autism be explained by the nature of the discovered urine peptides. *Nutritional Neuroscience* 6 (1): 19-28.

Reijonen, H., Ilonen, J., Knip, M. and Akerblom, H. K. 1991. HLA-DQB1 alleles and absence of Asp 57 as susceptibility factors of IDDM in Finland. *Diabetes* 40 (12): 1640-4.



Reunanen, A., Akerblom, H. K. and Kaar, M. L. 1982. Prevalence and ten-year (1970-1979) incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in children and adolescents in Finland. *Acta Paediatrica* 71 (6): 893-899.

Richter, W., Shi, Y. and Baekkeskov, S. 1993. Autoreactive Epitopes defined by diabetesassociated human monoclonal antibodies are localized in the middle and C-terminal domains of the smaller form of glutamate decarboxylase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 90 (7): 2832-2836.

Rizzello, C. G., Losito, I., Gobbetti, M., Carbonara, T., De Bari, M. D. and Zambonin, P. G. 2005. Antibacterial activities of peptides from the water-soluble extracts of Italian cheese varieties. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88 (7): 2348-2360.

Rokka, S. 1997. Tuominen, & Korhonen (1997) T. Rokka, E.-L. Syväoja, J. Tuominen and H. Korhonen, Release of bioactive peptides by enzymatic proteolysis of Lactobacillus GG fermented UHT milk. *Milchwissenschaft* 52: 675–678.

Rønningen, K. S., Atrazhev, A., Luo, L., Luo, C., Smith, D. K., Korbutt, G., Rajotte, R. V. and Elliott, J. F. 1998. Anti-BSA antibodies do not cross-react with the 69-kDa islet cell autoantigen ICA69. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 11 (3): 223-231.

Roumi, M., Kwong, E., Deghenghi, R., Locatelli, V., Marleau, S., Du Souich, P., Beliveau, R. and Ong, H. 2001. Permeability of the peptidic GH secretagogues hexarelin and EP 51389, across rat jejunum. *Peptides* 22 (7): 1129-38.

Rudloff, S. and Kunz, C. 1997. Protein and nonprotein nitrogen components in human milk, bovine milk, and infant formula: Quantitative and qualitative aspects in infant nutrition. *Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition* 24 (3): 328.

Ruthrich, H. L., Grecksch, G. and Matthies, H. 1993. Influence of beta-casomorphins on apomorphine-induced hyperlocomotion. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 44 (1): 227-31.

Sabikhi, L. 2007. Designer milk. Adv Food Nutr Res 53: 161-98.

Sabikhi, L. and Mathur, B. N. 2001. Qualitative and quantitative analysis of b-casomorphins in Edam cheese. *Milchwissenschaft* 56 (4): 198-200.

Saito, T. 2008. Antihypertensive Peptides Derived from Bovine Casein and Whey Proteins. *Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology: bioactive components of milk* 606: 295-317.

Saito, T., Nakamura, T., Kitazawa, H., Kawai, Y. and Itoh, T. 2000. Isolation and structural analysis of antihypertensive peptides that exist naturally in Gouda cheese. *Journal of Dairy Science* 83 (7): 1434-1440.

Sakaguchi, M., Koseki, M., Wakamatsu, M. and Matsumura, E. 2003a. Effects of ß-casomorphin-5 on passive avoidance response in mice. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 67 (11): 2501-2504.

Sakaguchi, M., Koseki, M., Wakamatsu, M. and Matsumura, E. 2006. Effects of systemic administration of β-casomorphin-5 on learning and memory in mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 530 (1-2): 81-87.



Sakaguchi, M., Murayama, K., Jinsmaa, Y., Yoshikawa, M. and Matsumura, E. 2003b. Neurite outgrowth-stimulating activities of β-casomorphins in neuro-2a mouse neuroblastoma cells. *Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry* 67 (12): 2541-2547.

Samuelsson, U., Johansson, C. and Ludvigsson, J. 1993. Breast-feeding seems to play a marginal role in the prevention of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* 19 (3): 203-10.

Sanjeevi, C. B. 2000. HLA-DQ6-mediated protection in IDDM. *Human Immunology* 61 (2): 148-153.

Sanjeevi, C. B., Landin-Olsson, M., Kockum, I., Dahlquist, G., Lybrand, T. P. and Lernmark, A. 1996. DR4 subtypes and their molecular properties in a population-based study of Swedish childhood diabetes. *Tissue Antigens* 47 (4): 275.

Saukkonen, T., Savilahti, E., Landin-Olsson, M. and Dahlquist, G. 1995. IgA bovine serum albumin antibodies are increased in newly diagnosed patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, but the increase is not an independent risk factor for diabetes. *Acta Paediatrica* 84 (11): 1258-1261.

Saukkonen, T., Savilahti, E., Vaarala, O., Virtala, E. T., Tuomilehto, J. and Akerblom, H. K. 1994. Children with newly diagnosed IDDM have increased levels of antibodies to bovine serum albumin but not to ovalbumin. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabetes Care* 17 (9): 970.

Saukkonen, T., Virtanen, S. M., Karppinen, M., Reijonen, H., Ilonen, J., Räsänen, L., Åkerblom, H. K. and Savilahti, E. 1998. Significance of cow's milk protein antibodies as risk factor for childhood IDDM: interactions with dietary cow's milk intake and HLA-DQB1 genotype. *Diabetologia* 41 (1): 72-78.

Savilahti, E., Saukkonen, T. T., Virtala, E. T., Tuomilehto, J. and Akerblom, H. K. 1993. Increased levels of cow's milk and beta-lactoglobulin antibodies in young children with newly diagnosed IDDM. The Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabetes Care* 16 (7): 984.

Savilahti, E., Simell, O., Koskimies, S., Rilva, A. and Akerblom, H. K. 1986. Celiac disease in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 108 (5): 690-693.

Schieber, A. and Brückner, H. 2000. Characterization of oligo-and polypeptides isolated from yoghurt. *European Food Research and Technology* 210 (5): 310-313.

Schloot, N. C., Roep, B. O., Wegmann, D., Yu, L., Chase, H. P., Wang, T. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 1997. Altered immune response to insulin in newly diagnosed compared to insulin-treated diabetic patients and healthy control subjects. *Diabetologia* 40 (5): 564-572.

Schmelzer, C. E. H., Schöps, R., Reynell, L., Ulbrich-Hofmann, R., Neubert, R. H. H. and Raith, K. 2007. Peptic digestion of β-casein Time course and fate of possible bioactive peptides. *Journal of Chromatography A* 1166 (1-2): 108-115.

Schranz, D. B. and Lernmark, A. 1998. Immunology in diabetes: an update. *Diabetes/ Metabolism Reviews* 14 (1): 3-29.



Schrezenmeir, J. and Jagla, A. 2000. Milk and diabetes. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 19 (90002): 176-190.

Schrezenmeir, J., Wallaschofski, H., Wick, B., Meier, A., Laue Ch, W. P., Beyer, J. and Tuschky, U. 1993. HLA Da-Subtypes in pluriglandular autoimmunity. *Exp Clin Endocrinol* 1: 127.

Schusdziarra, V. 1983a. Effect of beta-casomorphins on somatostatin release in dogs. *Endocrinology* 112 (6): 1948-1951.

Schusdziarra, V. 1983b. Effect of beta-casomorphins and analogs on insulin release in dogs. *Endocrinology* 112 (3): 885-889.

Scott, F. W. 1990. Cow milk and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: is there a relationship. *Am J Clin Nutr* 51 (3): 489-91.

Scott, F. W., Cloutier, H. E., Kleemann, R., Woerz-Pagenstert, U., Rowsell, P., Modler, H. W. and Kolb, H. 1997. Potential mechanisms by which certain foods promote or inhibit the development of spontaneous diabetes in BB rats: dose, timing, early effect on islet area, and switch in infiltrate from Th1 to Th2 cells. *Diabetes* 46 (4): 589-98.

Scott, F. W., Mongeau, R., Kardish, M., Hatina, G., Trick, K. D. and Wojcinski, Z. 1985. Diet can prevent diabetes in the BB rat. *Diabetes* 34 (10): 1059-62.

Scott, F. W., Olivares, E., Sener, A. and Malaisse, W. J. 2000. Dietary effects on insulin and nutrient metabolism in mesenteric lymph node cells, splenocytes, and pancreatic islets of BB rats. *Metabolism* 49 (9): 1111-1117.

Seely, S. 1981. Diet and coronary disease: a survey of mortality rates and food consumption statistics of 24 countries. *Med Hypotheses* 7 (7): 907-18.

Serreze, D. V., Ottendorfer, E. W., Ellis, T. M., Gauntt, C. J. and Atkinson, M. A. 2000. Acceleration of type 1 diabetes by a coxsackievirus infection requires a preexisting critical mass of autoreactive T-cells in pancreatic islets. *Diabetes* 49 (5): 708.

she, J. X. 1996. Susceptibility to type I diabetes: HLA-DQ and DR revisited. *Immunology Today* 17 (7): 323-329.

Shehadeh, N., Shamir, R., Berant, M. and Etzioni, A. 2001. Insulin in human milk and the prevention of type 1 diabetes. *Pediatric Diabetes* 2 (4): 175-177.

Shihata, A. and Shah, N. P. 2000. Proteolytic profiles of yogurt and probiotic bacteria. *International Dairy Journal* 10 (5-6): 401-408.

Shimizu, M., Tsunogai, M. and Arai, S. 1997. Transepithelial transport of oligopeptides in the human intestinal cell, CACO-2. *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 18 (5): 681-687.

Siemiatycki, J., Colle, E., Campbell, S., Dewar, R. A. and Belmonte, M. M. 1989. Casecontrol study of IDDM. *Diabetes Care* 12 (3): 209.

Simon, E. J., Hiller, J. M. and Edelman, I. 1973. Stereospecific binding of the potent narcotic analgesic [3H] etorphine to rat-brain homogenate. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 70 (7): 1947-1949.



Simone, E. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 1996. Chronic autoimmunity of type I diabetes. *Horm Metab Res* 28 (7): 332-6.

Singh, M., Rosen, C. L., Chang, K. and Haddad, G. G. 1989. Plasma [beta]-Casomorphin-7 Immunoreactive Peptide Increases after Milk Intake in Newborn but not in Adult Dogs. *Pediatric Research* 26 (1): 34.

Singh, T. K., Fox, P. F. and Healy, A. 1995. Water-soluble peptides in Cheddar cheese: isolation and identification of peptides in the diafiltration retentate of the water-soluble fraction. *Journal of Dairy Research* 62 (4): 629-640.

Singh, T. K., Fox, P. F. and Healy, Á. 1997. Isolation and identification of further peptides in the diafiltration retentate of the water-soluble fraction of Cheddar cheese. *Journal of Dairy Research* 64 (03): 433-443.

Smacchi, E. and Gobbetti, M. 1998. Peptides from several italian cheeses inhibitory to proteolytic enzymes of lactic acid bacteria, pseudomonas fluorescens ATCC 948 and to the angiotensin I-converting enzyme. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 22 (8): 687-694.

Sokolov, O., Meshavkin, V., Kost, N. and Zozulya, A. 2008. The influence of betacasomorphins-7 on serotoninergic system. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 11: 216-217.

Sokolov, O. Y., Kost, N. V., Zolotarev, Y. A., Ryukert, E. N. and Zozulya, A. A. 2006. Influence of human  $\beta$ -casomorphin-7 on specific binding of 3 H-spiperone to the 5-ht 2-receptors of rat brain frontal cortex. *Protein Pept Lett* 13 (2): 169-70.

Sokolov, O. Y., Pryanikova, N. A., Kost, N. V., Zolotarev, Y. A., Ryukert, E. N. and Zozulya, A. A. 2005. Reactions between  $\beta$ -casomorphins-7 and 5-HT 2-serotonin receptors. *Bulletin of Experimental Biology and Medicine* 140 (5): 582-584.

Solimena, M., Folli, F., Aparisi, R., Pozza, G. and De Camilli, P. 1990. Autoantibodies to GABA-ergic neurons and pancreatic beta cells in stiff-man syndrome. *N Eng J Med* 322 (22): 1555-1560.

Steinberg, D. 1997. Low density lipoprotein oxidation and its pathobiological significance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272 (34): 20963-20966.

Steinberg, D. 2002. Atherogenesis in perspective: Hypercholesterolemia and inflammation as partners in crime. *Nature medicine* 8 (11): 1211-1217.

Steinerova, A., Korotvicka, M., Racek, J., Rajdl, D., Trefil, L., Stozicky, F. and Rokyta, Z. 2004. Significant increase in antibodies against oxidized LDL particles (IgoxLDL) in three-month old infants who received milk formula. *Atherosclerosis* 173 (1): 147-8.

Stene, L. C., Ulriksen, J., Magnus, P. and Joner, G. 2000. Use of cod liver oil during pregnancy associated with lower risk of Type I diabetes in the offspring. *Diabetologia* 43 (9): 1093-1098.

Stepaniak, L., Fox, P. F., Sorhaug, T. and Grabska, J. 1995. Effect of peptides from the sequence 58-72 of beta-casein on the activity of endopeptidase, aminopeptidase, and X-



Prolyl-Dipeptidyl aminopeptidase from Lactococcus lactis ssp. lactis MG1363. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 43 (3): 849-853.

Stocker, R. and Keaney, J. j. 2004. Role of oxidative modifications in atherosclerosis. *Physiol Rev* 84 (10): 1381-1478.

Strotmeyer, E. S., Yang, Z., LaPorte, R. E., Chang, Y. F., Steenkiste, A. R., Pietropaolo, M., Nucci, A. M., Shen, S., Wang, L. and Wang, B. 2004. Infant diet and type 1 diabetes in China. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 65 (3): 283-292.

Suetsuna, K., Ukeda, H. and Ochi, H. 2000. Isolation and characterization of free radical scavenging activities peptides derived from casein. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 11 (3): 128-131.

Sun, Z. and Cade, R. 2003. Findings in normal rats following administration of gliadorphin-7(GD-7). *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 24 (2): 321-323.

Sun, Z., Zhang, Z., Wang, X., Cade, R., Elmir, Z. and Fregly, M. 2003. Relation of βcasomorphin to apnea in sudden infant death syndrome. *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 24 (6): 937-943.

Svedberg, J., de Haas, J., Leimenstoll, G., Paul, F. and Teschemacher, H. 1985. Demonstration of beta-casomorphin immunoreactive materials in in vitro digests of bovine milk and in small intestine contents after bovine milk ingestion in adult humans. *Peptides* 6 (5): 825-30.

Svejgaard, A., Plartz, P. and Ryder, L. P. 1983. HLA and Disease 1982-A Survey. *Immunological Reviews* 70 (1): 193-218.

Tailford, K. A., Berry, C. L., Thomas, A. C. and Campbell, J. H. 2003. A casein variant in cow's milk is atherogenic. *Atherosclerosis* 170 (1): 13-19.

Taira, T., Hilakivi, L. A., Aalto, J. and Hilakivi, I. 1990. Effect of beta-casomorphin on neonatal sleep in rats. *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 11 (1): 1-4.

Takahashi, M., Fukunaga, H., Kaneto, H., Fukudome, S. and Yoshikawa, M. 2000. Behavioral and pharmacological studies on gluten exorphin A5, a newly isolated bioactive food protein fragment, in mice. *The Japanese Journal of Pharmacology* 84 (3): 259-265.

Takahashi, M., Moriguchi, S., Ikeno, M., Kono, S., Ohata, K., Usui, H., Kurahashi, K., Sasaki, R. and Yoshikawa, M. 1996. Studies on the ileum-contracting mechanisms and identification as a complement C3a receptor agonist of oryzatensin, a bioactive peptide derived from rice albumin. *Peptides* 17 (1): 5-12.

Takahashi, M., Moriguchi, S., Suganuma, H., Shiota, A., Tani, F., Usui, H., Kurahashi, K., Sasaki, R. and Yoshikawa, M. 1997. Identification of casoxin C, an ileum-contracting peptide derived from bovine kappa-casein, as an agonist for C3a receptors. *Peptides* 18 (3): 329-36.

Takahashi, M. and Yoshikawa, M. 1994. Isolation and characterization of oryzatensin: a novel bioactive peptide with ileum-contracting and immunomodulating activities derived from rice alubumin. *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology International* 33 (6): 1151-1158.

Takenaka, A., Ohishi, Y., Noguchi, T. and Naito, H. 1991. A tryptic peptide from beta-casein depresses protein synthesis and degradation and enhances ureogenesis in primary cultures of rat hepatocytes. *Int J Biochem* 23 (4): 483-90.

Tani, F., Iio, K., Chiba, H. and Yoshikawa, M. 1990. Isolation and characterization of opioid antagonist peptides derived from human lactoferrin. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 54 (7): 1803-1810.

Terenius, L. 1973. Stereospecific interaction between narcotic analgesics and a synaptic plasm a membrane fraction of rat cerebral cortex. *Acta Pharmacol Toxicol (Copenh)* 32 (3): 317-20.

Teschemacher, H. 2003. Opioid receptor ligands derived from food proteins. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 9: 1331-1344.

Teschemacher, H., Koch, G. and Brantl, V. 1997. Milk protein-derived opioid receptor ligands. *Biopolymers* 43 (2): 99-117.

Thomson, G. 1984. HLA DR antigens and susceptibility to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 36 (6): 1309-1317.

Thorsdottir, I., Birgisdottir, B. E., Johannsdottir, I. M., Harris, D. P., Hill, J., Steingrimsdottir, L. and Thorsson, A. V. 2000. Different β-casein fractions in Icelandic versus Scandinavian cow's milk may influence diabetogenicity of cow's milk in infancy and explain low incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Iceland. *Pediatrics* 106 (4): 719-724.

Thorsdottir, I. and Reykdal, O. 1997. Food and the low incidence of IDDM in Iceland. *Scand J Nutr/Naringsforskning* 4: 97.

Todd, J. A., Bell, J. I. and McDevitt, H. O. 1987. HLA-DQ beta gene contributes to susceptibility and resistance to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *Nature* 329: 599-604.

Todd, J. A. and Farrall, M. 1996. Panning for gold: genome-wide scanning for linkage in type 1 diabetes. *Human Molecular Genetics* 5 (90001): 1443-1448.

Toelstede, S. and Hofmann, T. 2008. Sensomics mapping and identification of the key bitter metabolites in Gouda cheese. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 56 (8): 2795-2804.

Tome, D., Dumontier, A. M., Hautefeuille, M. and Desjeux, J. F. 1987. Opiate activity and transepithelial passage of intact beta-casomorphins in rabbit ileum. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 253 (6): 737-744.

Tome, D., Mansour, A., Hautefeuille, M., Dumontier, A. M. and Desjeux, J. F. 1988. Neuromediated action of β-casomorphins on ion transport in rabbit ileum. *Reprod Nutr Dev* 28 (4A): 909-18.

Torreilles, J. and Guerin, M. C. 1995. Casein-derived peptides can promote human LDL oxidation by a peroxidase-dependent and metal-independent process. *CR Seances Soc Biol Fil* 189 (5): 933-42.



Trompette, A., Claustre, J., Caillon, F., Jourdan, G., Chayvialle, J. A. and Plaisancie, P. 2003. Milk bioactive peptides and β-casomorphins induce mucus release in rat jejunum. *Journal of Nutrition* 133 (11): 3499-3503.

Tuma, P. L. and Hubbard, A. 2003. Transcytosis: Crossing Cellular Barriers. *Physiological Reviews* 83 (3): 871-932.

Tuomilehto, J., Karnoven, M., Pit-Kanieni, J. and Virtala, E. 1999. Record high incidence of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Finnish children. The Finnish Childhood type 1 diabetes Registry Group. *Diabetologia* 42: 655-660.

Tuomilehto, J., Lounamaa, R., Tuomilehto-Wolf, E., Reunanen, A., Virtala, E., Kaprio, E. A., Åkerblom, H. K., Toivanen, L., Fagerlund, A. and Flittner, M. 1992. Epidemiology of childhood diabetes mellitus in Finland—background of a nationwide study of Type 1 (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus. *Diabetologia* 35 (1): 70-76.

Tuomilehto, J., Virtala, E., Karvonen, M., Lounamaa, R., Pitkaniemi, J., Reunanen, A., Tuomilehto-Wolf, E. and Toivanen, L. 1995. Increase in incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus among children in Finland. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 24 (5): 984-992.

Tuomilehto-Wolf, E., Tuomilehto, J., Cepaitis, Z. and Lounamaa, R. 1989. New susceptibility haplotype for type 1 diabetes. DIME Study Group. *Lancet* 2 (8658): 299-302.

Turner, T. D., Browning, J. L., Widmayer, M. A. and Baskin, D. S. 1998. Penetration of dynorphin 1–13 across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuropeptides* 32 (2): 141-9.

Tzvetkova, I., Dalgalarrondo, M., Danova, S., Iliev, I., Ivanova, I., Chobert, J. M. and Haertle, T. 2007. Hydrolysis of major dairy proteins by lactic acid bacteria from Bulgarian yogurts. *Journal of Food Biochemistry* 31 (5): 680-702.

Umbach, M., Teschemacher, H., Praetorius, K., Hirschhauser, R. and Bostedt, H. 1985. Demonstration of a beta -casomorphin immunoreactive material in the plasma of newborn calves after milk intake. *Regulatory Peptides* 12 (3): 223-230.

Undlien, D. E., Friede, T., Rammensee, H. G., Joner, G., Dahl-Jorgensen, K., Sovik, O., Akselsen, H. E., Knutsen, I., Ronningen, K. S. and Thorsby, E. 1997. HLA-encoded genetic predisposition in IDDM: DR4 subtypes may be associated with different degrees of protection. *Diabetes* 46 (1): 143-9.

US-FJC 2000. Reference Manual on Scientific Evidence. Federal Judicial Center.

Vaarala, O. 2002. The gut immune system and T1D. Ann NY Acad Sci 958: 39-46.

Vaarala, O. 2005. Is type 1 diabetes a disease of the gut immune system triggered by cow's milk insulin? In: Early Nutrition and Its Later Consequences: New Opportunities. 569, Springer-Verlag Berlin, Berlin, 151-156.

Vaarala, O. 2008. Leaking gut in type 1 diabetes. *Current Opinion in Gastroenterology* 24 (6): 701.



Vaarala, O., Klemetti, P., Savilahti, E., Reijonen, H., Ilonen, J. and Akerblom, H. K. 1996. Cellular immune response to cow's milk beta-lactoglobulin in patients with newly diagnosed IDDM. *Diabetes* 45 (2): 178-182.

Vaarala, O., Paronen, J., Otonkoski, T. and Åkerblom, H. K. 1998. Cow milk feeding induces antibodies to insulin in children: a link between cow milk and IDDM. *Scand J Immunol* 47: 131-135.

Vaarala, O., Saukkonen, T., Savilahti, E., Klemola, T. and Akerblom, H. K. 1995. Development of immune response to cow's milk proteins in infants receiving cow's milk or hydrolyzed formula. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 96 (6 Pt 1): 917-23.

Vahasalo, P., Knip, M., Karjalainen, J., Tuomilehto-Wolf, E., Lounamaa, R. and Akerblom, H. K. 1996. Islet cell-specific autoantibodies in children with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus and their siblings at clinical manifestation of the disease. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 135 (6): 689-695.

van Arendonk, J. A. M. and Liinamo, A. E. 2003. Dairy cattle production in Europe. *Theriogenology* 59 (2): 563-569.

van Boekel, M. 1999. Heat-induced deamidation, dephosphorylation and breakdown of caseinate. *International Dairy Journal* 9 (3-6): 237-241.

Van der Auwera, B., Van Waeyenberge, C., Schuit, F., Heimberg, H., Vandewalle, C., Gorus, F. and Flament, J. 1995. DRB1\* 0403 protects against IDDM in Caucasians with the high-risk heterozygous DQA1\* 0301-DQB1\* 0302/DQA1\* 0501-DQB1\* 0201 genotype. Belgian Diabetes Registry. *Diabetes* 44 (5): 527-30.

Van Eenennaam, A. L. and Medrano, J. F. 1991. Differences in allelic protein expression in the milk of heterozygous beta-casein cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 74 (5): 1491-1496.

Venn, B. J., Skeaff, C. M., Brown, R., Mann, J. I. and Green, T. J. 2006. A comparison of the effects of A 1 and A 2 β-casein protein variants on blood cholesterol concentrations in New Zealand adults. *Atherosclerosis* 188 (1): 175-178.

Verge, C. F., Gianani, R., Kawasaki, E., Yu, L., Pietropaolo, M., Chase, P. H. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 1996. Number of autoantibodies (against Insulin, GAD or ICA512/IA2) rather than particular autoantibody specificities determines risk of type I diabetes. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 9 (3): 379-383.

Verheijden, G. F. M., Rijnders, A. W. M., Bos, E., Coenen-De Roo, C. J. J., Van Staveren, C. J., Miltenburg, A. M. M., Meijerink, J. H., Elewaut, D., De Keyser, F. and Veys, E. 1997. Human cartilage glycoprotein-39 as a candidate autoantigen in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 40 (6): 1115-1125.

Virtanen, S. M., Hyppönen, E., Läärä, E., Vähäsalo, P., Kulmala, P., Savola, K. and Räsänen, L. 1998. Cow's milk consumption, disease-associated autoantibodies and type 1 diabetes mellitus: a Follow-up study in siblings of diabetic children. *Diabetic Medicine* 15: 730-738.



Virtanen, S. M., Jaakkola, L., Rasanen, L., Ylonen, K., Aro, A., Lounamaa, R., Akerblom, H. K. and Tuomilehto, J. 1994a. Nitrate and nitrite intake and the risk for type 1 diabetes in Finnish children. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabet Med* 11 (7): 656-662.

Virtanen, S. M., Läärä, E., Hyppönen, E., Reijonen, H., Räsänen, L., Aro, A. and Knip, M. 2000. Cow's milk consumption, HLA-DQB1 genotype, and type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49: 913.

Virtanen, S. M., Rasanen, L., Aro, A., Lindstrom, J., Sippola, H., Lounamaa, R., Toivanen, L., Tuomilehto, J. and Akerblom, H. K. 1991. Infant feeding in Finnish children less than 7 yr of age with newly diagnosed IDDM. Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. *Diabetes Care* 14 (5): 415417.

Virtanen, S. M., Räsänen, L., Aro, A., Ylönen, K., Lounamaa, R., Åkerblom, H. K. and Tuomilehto, J. 1994b. The Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group: Is children's or parents 'coffee or tea consumption associated with the risk for Type 1 diabetes mellitus in children. *Eur J Clin Nutr* 48: 279-285.

Virtanen, S. M., RÄSÄNen, L., YlÖNen, K., Aro, A., Clayton, D., Langholz, B., PitkÄNiemi, J., Savilahti, E., Lounamaa, R. and Tuomilehto, J. 1993. Early introduction of dairy products associated with increased risk of IDDM in finnish children. *Diabetes(New York, NY)* 42 (12): 1786-1790.

Virtanen, S. M., Saukkonen, T., Savilahti, E., Ylönen, K., Räsänen, L., Aro, A., Knip, M., Tuomilehto, J., Åkerblom, H. K. and Lounamaa, R. 1994c. Diet, cow's milk protein antibodies and the risk of IDDM in Finnish children. *Diabetologia* 37 (4): 381-387.

Visser, S., Robben, A. and Slangen, C. J. 1991. Specificity of a cell-envelope-located proteinase (PIII-type) from Lactococcus lactis subsp. cremoris AM1 in its action on bovine β-casein. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 35 (4): 477-483.

Waldhoer, M., Bartlett, S. E. and Whistler, J. L. 2004. Opioid receptors. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 73: 953-990.

Walsh, D. J. and FitzGerald, R. J. 2004. Health-related functional value of dairy proteins and peptides. In: Proteins in food processing. (ed. Yada, R.), Woodhead Publishing, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 559-606.

Wang, D. and Teichtahl, H. 2007. Opioids, steep architecture and steep-disordered breathing. *Sleep Medicine Reviews* 11 (1): 35-46.

Wasmuth, H. E., Becker, F., Seebaum, S., Elliott, R. B. and Federlin, K. 1995. Association of antibodies to ß casein with type 1 diabetes. *Autoimmunity* 21: A328.

Wedholm, A., Moller, H. S., Lindmark-Mansson, H., Rasmussen, M. D., Andren, A. and Larsen, L. B. 2008. Identification of peptides in milk as a result of proteolysis at different levels of somatic cell counts using LC MALDI MS/MS detection. *Journal of Dairy Research* 75 (01): 76-83.

White, C. L., Bray, G. A. and York, D. A. 2000. Intragastric beta-casomorphin (1-7) attenuates the suppression of fat intake by enterostatin. *Peptides* 21 (9): 1377-81.

WHO 2003. Diet, Nutrition and the Prevention of Chronic Diseases. Report of the WHO/FAOJointExpertConsultation.WHOTechnicalreports916:http://whqlibdoc.who.int/trs/WHO\_TRS\_916.pdf.

WHO 2008. WHO Handbook for guideline development. online:www.searo.who.int/LinkFiles/RPC\_Handbook\_Guideline\_Development.pdf:

Wicker, L. S., Chen, S. L., Nepom, G. T., Elliott, J. F., Freed, D. C., Bansal, A., Zheng, S., Herman, A., Lernmark, A. and Zaller, D. M. 1996. Naturally processed T cell epitopes from human glutamic acid decarboxylase identified using mice transgenic for the type 1 diabetes-associated human MHC class II allele, DRB1\* 0401. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 98 (11): 2597.

Wijsman, E. M. 1984. Techniques for estimating genetic admixture and applications to the problem of the origin of the Icelanders and the Ashkenazi Jews. *Human Genetics* 67 (4): 441-448.

Winkelman, A. M. and Wickham, B. W. 1997. Associations between milk protein genetic variants and production traits in New Zealand dairy cattle. *in: Proceedings of the IDF Seminar, Milk Protein Polymorphism, Palmerston North* ISBN9290980269 (Brussels):

Wittert, G., Hope, P. and Pyle, D. 1996. Tissue distribution of opioid receptor gene expression in the rat. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 218 (3): 877-881.

Woodall, H. E., Chiu, A. and Weissman, D. E. 2008. Opioid allergic reactions #175. *Journal of Palliative Medicine* 11 (5): 776-777.

Wucherpfennig, K. W. 1994. Structural requirements for binding of an immunodominant myelin basic protein peptide to DR2 isotypes and for its recognition by human T cell clones. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 179 (1): 279-290.

Wucherpfennig, K. W., Yu, B., Bhol, K., Monos, D. S., Argyris, E., Karr, R. W., Ahmed, A. R. and Strominger, J. L. 1995. Structural basis for Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC)-linked susceptibility to autoimmunity: Charged residues of a single MHC binding pocket confer selective presentation of self-peptides in Pemphigus Vulgaris. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 92 (25): 11935-11939.

Yang, S., Kawamura, Y. and Yoshikawa, M. 2003. Effect of rubiscolin, a d opioid peptide derived from Rubisco, on memory consolidation. *Peptides(New York, NY. 1980)* 24 (2): 325-328.

Yang, S., Yunden, J., Sonoda, S., Doyama, N., Lipkowski, A. W., Kawamura, Y. and Yoshikawa, M. 2001. Rubiscolin, a d selective opioid peptide derived from plant Rubisco. *FEBS letters* 509 (2): 213-217.

Yoshikawa, M., Tani, F., Ashucaga, T., Yoshimura, T. and Chiba, H. 1986. Purification and characterization of an opioid antagonist from a peptic digest of bovine κ-casein. *Agricultural and Biological Chemistry* 50 (11): 2951-2954.

Yvon, M., Beucher, S., Guilloteau, P., Le Huerou-Luron, I. and Corring, T. 1994. Effects of caseinomacropeptide (CMP) on digestion regulation. *Reprod Nutr Dev* 34 (6): 527-37.

Zalloua, P. A., Shbaklo, H., Halaby, G., Terwedow, H., Xu, X. and Azar, S. T. 2002. Type-2 diabetes family history delays the onset of type-1 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 87 (7): 3192-3196.

Zhang, Z. J., Davidson, L., Eisenbarth, G. and Weiner, H. L. 1991. Suppression of diabetes in non-obese diabetic mice by oral administration of porcine insulin. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 88 (22): 10252-10256.

Ziegler, R., Alper, C. A., Awdeh, Z. L., Castano, L., Brink, S. J., Soeldner, J. S., Jackson, R. A. and Eisenbarth, G. S. 1991. Specific association of HLA-DR4 with increased prevalence and level of insulin autoantibodies in first-degree relatives of patients with type I diabetes. *Diabetes* 40 (6): 709-14.

Zioudrou, C., Streaty, R. A. and Klee, W. A. 1979. Opioid peptides derived from food proteins. The exorphins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 254 (7): 2446-2449.

Zoghbi, S., Trompette, A., Claustre, J., Homsi, M. E., Garzon, J., Jourdan, G., Scoazec, J. Y. and Plaisancie, P. 2006. β-Casomorphin-7 regulates the secretion and expression of gastrointestinal mucins through a μ-opioid pathway. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 290 (6): 1105-1113.

Zucht, H. D., Raida, M., Adermann, K., Mägert, H. J. and Forssmann, W. G. 1995. Casocidin-I: a casein- $\alpha$ s2 derived peptide exhibits antibacterial activity. *FEBS Letters* 372 (2-3): 185-188.

Zweibaum, A., Laburthe, M., Grasset, E. and Louvard, D. 1991. Use of cultured cell lines in studies of intestinal cell differentiation and function. *Handbook of Physiology. The Gastrointestinal System* 4: 223–255.



#### APPENDIX DISEASE RELATED STUDIES

	Risk factor	Risk	Study type	No of ref.
А	Casein intake	Heart diseases	Ecological	2
В	Casein intake	Diabetes type 1 / IDDM	Ecological	5
С	Nutrition	Diabetes type 1 / IDDM	Ecological	2
D	Infant diet	Diabetes type 1	Case Control	8
Е	Dairy intake	Diabetes type 2	Cohort	1
F	Immune response against Casein	Diabetes type 1 / IDDM	Case Control	10
G	BCM7	Skin response	Trial	1
Н	Infant diet	Antibodies against casein	Trial, Cohort	3
Ι	Casein intake	Measures of cardiovascular disease	Trial	1
J	Milk consumption	Cardiovascular disease	Cohort	5
K	Casein intake / Antibodies against casein	Autistic syndrome	Various	7
L	Protein uptake / Antibodies against casein	Multiple sclerosis	Case Control	1
М	Dairy consumption	Parkinson's disease	Cohort	3

## A – casein intake and heart disease

McLachlan, C. N. S. and A. J. Clarke (2002). "Heart Disease, Diabetes, Gut Immune Suppression and Epidemiology Studies." Journal of Nutritional & Environmental Medicine 12: 197.

Laugesen, M. and R. Elliott (2003). "The influence of consumption of A1 beta-casein on heart disease and Type 1 diabetes--the authors reply." N Z Med J 116(1170): U367.

## **B** – casein intake and IDDM

**Hill, J. P., R. A. Crawford, et al. (2002).** "Milk and consumer health: a review of the evidence for a relationship between the consumption of beta-casein A1 with heart disease and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." Proceedings of the New Zealand Society of Animal Production 62: 111-114.



**Birgisdottir, B. E., J. P. Hill, et al. (2006).** "Lower consumption of cow milk protein A1 beta-casein at 2 years of age, rather than consumption among 11- to 14-year-old adolescents, may explain the lower incidence of type 1 diabetes in Iceland than in Scandinavia." Ann Nutr Metab 50(3): 177-83.

Laugesen, M. and R. Elliott (2003). "The influence of consumption of A1 beta-casein on heart disease and Type 1 diabetes--the authors reply." N Z Med J 116(1170): U367.

**Birgisdottir, B. E., J. P. Hill, et al. (2002).** "Variation in consumption of cow milk proteins and lower incidence of Type 1 diabetes in Iceland vs the other 4 Nordic countries." Diabetes Nutr Metab 15(4): 240-5.

Elliott, R. B., D. P. Harris, et al. (1999). "Type I (insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus and cow milk: casein variant consumption." Diabetologia 42(3): 292-296.

#### **C** – nutrition and IDDM

**Muntoni, S. (2006).** "Epidemiological association between some dietary habits and the increasing incidence of type 1 diabetes worldwide." Annals of Nutrition and Metabolism 50(1): 11-19.

Fava, D., R. D. G. Leslie, et al. (1994). "Relation between dairy product consumption and incidence of IDDM in childhood in Italy." Diabetes Care 17: 1488-1490.

## D – infant diet and IDDM

Akerblom, H. K., E. Savilahti, et al. (1996). "Cow's milk protein and insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." Scandinavian Journal of Nutrition 40(3): 98-103.

**Dosch, H. M. (1993)**. "The possible link between insulin-dependent (juvenile) diabetesmellitus and dietary cow milk." Clinical Biochemistry 26(4): 307-308.

**Gerstein, H. (1994).** "Cow's milk exposure and type 1 diabetes mellitus." Diabetes Care(17): 13-19.

**Sipetic, S., H. Vlajinac, et al. (2005)**. "Early infant diet and risk of type 1 diabetes mellitus in Belgrade children." Nutrition 21(4): 474-479.

Strotmeyer, E. S., Z. Yang, et al. (2004). "Infant diet and type 1 diabetes in China." Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice 65(3): 283-292.

**Thorsdottir, I., B. E. Birgisdottir, et al. (2000)**. "Different beta-casein fractions in Icelandic versus Scandinavian cow's milk may influence diabetogenicity of cow's milk in infancy and explain low incidence of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in Iceland." Pediatrics 106(4): 719-724.

Virtanen, S. M., Läärä, E. et al: Cow's Milk Consumption, HLA-DQB1 Genotype, and Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes 49 (2000), 912-917.

Virtanen, S. M., T. Saukkonen, et al. (1994). "Diet, cows milk protein antibodies and the risk of iddm in finnish children." Diabetologia 37(4): 381-387.

# E – dairy intake and diabetes type 2

**Choi, H. K., W. C. Willett, et al. (2005).** "Dairy consumption and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus in men - A prospective study." Archives of Internal Medicine 165(9): 997-1003.

#### F – immune response to casein and IDDM

**Banchuin, N., W. Boonyasrisawat, et al. (2002).** "Cell-mediated immune responses to GAD and beta-casein in type 1 diabetes mellitus in Thailand." Diabetes Research And Clinical Practice 55(3): 237-245.

Monetini, L., M. G. Cavallo, et al. (2002). "Antibodies to bovine beta-casein in diabetes and other autoimmune diseases." Hormone And Metabolic Research 34(8): 455-459.

**Padberg, S., P. M. Schumm-Draeger, et al. (1999).** "Significance of A1 and A2 antibodies against beta-casein in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift 124(50): 1518-1521.

Sarugeri, E., N. Dozio, et al. (1999). "Cellular and humoral immunity against cow's milk proteins in type 1 diabetes." Journal Of Autoimmunity 13(3): 365-373.

Ellis, T. M., E. Ottendorfer, et al. (1998). "Cellular immune responses to beta casein: elevated in but not specific for individuals with Type I diabetes mellitus." Diabetologia 41(6): 731-735.

**Cavallo, M. G., D. Fava, et al. (1996).** "Cell-mediated immune response to beta casein in recent-onset insulin-dependent diabetes: implications for disease pathogenesis." Lancet (British edition) 348(9032): 926-928.

Cavallo, M., L. Monetini, et al. (1996). "Diabetes and cows' milk." Lancet (British edition) 348(9042): 1655.

Elliott, R. B., H. Wasmuth, et al. (1996). "Diabetes and cows' milk." Lancet (British edition) 348(9042): 1657.

**Saukkonen, T., E. Savilahti, et al. (1996).** "Increased frequency of IgM antibodies to cow's milk proteins in Hungarian children with newly diagnosed insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus." European Journal of Pediatrics 155(10): 885-889.

Luopajärvi, K., E. Savilahti, et al. (2007). "Enhanced levels of cow's milk antibodies in infancy in children who develop type 1 diabetes later in life." Acta Diabetologica 44: S30-S30.

## **G – BCM7 and skin response**

Kurek, M., M. Czerwionka-Szaflarska, et al. (1995). "Pseudoallergic skin reactions to opiate sequences of bovine casein in healthy children." Rocz Akad Med Bialymst 40(3): 480-5.

## H - infant diet and antibodies against casein

Erkkola, M., C. K. Kronberg-Kippilä, et al. (2005). "Maternal consumption of dairy products during pregnancy and lactation, and the development of cow's milk antibodies in the offspring." Acta Paediatrica 94(6): 696-704.



Monetini, L., M. G. Cavallo, et al. (2001). "Bovine beta-casein antibodies in breast- and bottle-fed infants: their relevance in Type 1 diabetes." Diabetes-Metabolism Research And Reviews 17(1): 51-54.

Virtanen, S. M., E. Hyppönen, et al. (1998). "Cow's milk consumption, disease-associated autoantibodies and Type 1 diabetes mellitus: A follow-up study in siblings of diabetic children." Diabetic Medicine 15(9): 730-738.

#### I – casein intake and CVD markers

**Chin-Dusting, J., J. Shennan, et al. (2006).** "Effect of dietary supplementation with betacasein A1 or A2 on markers of disease development in individuals at high risk of cardiovascular disease." British Journal Of Nutrition 95(1): 136-144.

#### J – milk consumption and CVD

**Elwood, P. C. (2005).** "Milk and cardiovascular disease: a review of the epidemiological evidence." Australian Journal of Dairy Technology 60(1): 58-60.

**Elwood, P. C., J. E. Pickering, et al. (2004).** "Milk drinking, ischaemic heart disease and ischaemic stroke II. Evidence from cohort studies." European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 58(5): 718-724.

**Elwood, P. C., J. J. Strain, et al. (2005).** "Milk consumption, stroke, and heart attack risk: evidence from the Caerphilly cohort of older men." Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 59(6): 502-505.

**Elwood, P. C., J. E. Pickering, et al. (2004).** "Milk drinking, ischaemic heart disease and ischaemic stroke I. Evidence from the Caerphilly cohort." European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 58(5): 711-717.

Ness, A. R., G. D. Smith, et al. (2001). "Milk, coronary heart disease and mortality." Journal Of Epidemiology And Community Health 55(6): 379-382.

#### K – casein intake/antibodies against casein and autism

Christison, G. W. and K. Ivany (2006). "Elimination diets in autism spectrum disorders: Any wheat amidst the chaff?" Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics 27(2): S162-S171.

Knivsberg, A. M., K. L. Reichelt, et al. (2001). "Reports on dietary intervention in autistic disorders." Nutritional Neuroscience 4(1): 25-37.

**Reichelt, K. L. and A. M. Knivsberg (2003).** "Can the pathophysiology of autism be explained by the nature of the discovered urine peptides?" Nutritional Neuroscience 6: 19-28.

**Elder, J. H., M. Shankar, et al. (2006).** "The gluten-free, casein-free diet in autism: results of a preliminary double blind clinical trial." J Autism Dev Disord 36(3): 413-20.

Knivsberg, A. M., K. L. Reichelt, et al. (2002). "A randomised, controlled study of dietary intervention in autistic syndromes." Nutritional Neuroscience 5(4): 251-61.

**Reichelt, K. L. and J. Landmark (1995).** "Specific IgA antibody increases in schizophrenia." Biological Psychiatry 37(6): 410-413.

Knivsberg, A. M. and K. L. Reichelt (2004). "Autistic syndromes and diet: A single blind study." Focus on Autism Research: 213-245.

## L – protein intake/related antibodies and multiple sclerosis

**Reichelt, K. L. and D. Jensen (2004).** "IgA antibodies against gliadin and gluten in multiple sclerosis." Acta Neurologica Scandinavica 110(4): 239-241.

## **M** – dairy intake and Parkinson's syndrome

Chen, H., E. O'Reilly, et al. (2007). "Consumption of dairy products and risk of Parkinson's disease." Am J Epidemiol 165(9): 998-1006.

**Park, M., G. W. Ross, et al. (2005).** "Consumption of milk and calcium in midlife and the future risk of Parkinson disease." Neurology 64(6): 1047-1051.

Chen, H., S. M. Zhang, et al. (2002). "Diet and Parkinson's disease: a potential role of dairy products in men." Ann Neurol 52(6): 793-801.



#### **GLOSSARY/ABBREVIATIONS**

BCM7 (BCMn)	β-casomorphin-7 (β-casomorphin-n)
BCMIR	β-casomorphin immunoreactive material
BCMs	β-casomorphins
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CEP	Cell envelope proteinases
CN	Casein
ConA	Concavalin A
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
ESI	Electro spray ionisation
GI	Gastrointestinal
HDL	High density lipoprotein
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
HPLC	High performance liquid chromatography
i.c.v.	Intra-cerebro-ventricular injection
i.p.	Intra-peritoneal injection
ICA	Islet Cell Autoantigen
IDDM	Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
IUPHAR	International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology
LAB	Lactic acid bacteria
LAP	Leucine amino peptidase
LC	Liquid chromatography
LDL	Low density lipoprotein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MALDI	Matrix assisted laser desorption ionisation
MS	Mass spectrometry (also as detection/identification tool connected with LC)
РерХ	X-prolyldipeptidyl aminopeptidase
РНА	Phytohemagglutinin
SCC	Somatic cell count
SGID	Simulated gastro intestinal digestion
TOF	Time of flight
UF	Ultra filtration
UHT	Ultra high temperature / short time heat treatment
UV	Ultra violet